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This Annual Report on Form 10-K includes "forwaodking statements” within the meaning of the Pev&éecurities Litigation Reform
Act of 1995. These forwalooking statements relate to expectations conogrniatters that are not historical facts, and aemngrally
identified by words such as "believe", "expecthtieipate”, "estimate”, "intend", "strategy"”, "may'will likely" and similar words or phrases.
A forwardlooking statement is neither a prediction nor aantee of future events or circumstances, andagtwal results could differ
materially and adversely from those expressed infarward-looking statement. These forward-lookstatements are all based on currently
available market, operating, financial and compeétinformation and assumptions and are subjeeftious risks and uncertainties that are
difficult to predict. Important information regana factors that could cause actual results to diffaterially from such expectations is
disclosed in this Report, including, without lintitan, information under the captionRisk Factors". These risks and uncertainties include, bu
are not limited to risks associated with the lauacid commercial success of our products, prograntstachnologies; the success of product
partnerships; continuing development, qualificataomd volume production of EXPRESSvault™, NVvaulijherClou® and VLP Planar-X
RDIMM; the timing and magnitude of the continuedrdase in sales to our key customer; our abilitjetcerage our NVvault™ technology i
more diverse customer base; our need to raise xdit capital and our ability to obtain financinghe rapidly-changing nature of technology;
risks associated with intellectual property, indlugl patent infringement litigation against us adlves the costs and unpredictability of
litigation over infringement of our intellectual gperty and the possibility of our patents beingxeemined by the USPTO; volatility in the
pricing of DRAM ICs and NAND; changes in and unaieitty of customer acceptance of, and demand fareristing products and produc
under development, including uncertainty of andfelays in product orders and product qualificatipdslays in our and our customers'
product releases and development; introductionsest¥ products by competitors; changes in-user demand for technology solutions; our
ability to attract and retain skilled personnel; roneliance on suppliers of critical components amhdors in the supply chain; fluctuations in
the market price of critical components; evolvindustry standards; and the political and regulaterywironment in the People's Republic of
China ("PRC"). Given these risks, uncertainties atiter important factors, you should not place undeliance on these forward-looking
statements. These forward-looking statements reptesur estimates and assumptions only as of tteerdade. Except as required by law, we
do not undertake any obligation to revise or updatg forward-looking statements for any reason.

PART |
ltem 1. Business
Overview

We design, manufacture and sell a widestyof high performance, logitased memory subsystems for the global datacetéeage an
high-performance computing markets. Our memory ysthss consist of combinations of dynamic randooess memory integrated circuits
("DRAM ICs" or "DRAM"), NAND flash memory ("NAND"),application-specific integrated circuits ("ASICsiNd other components
assembled on printed circuit boards ("PCBs"). Wmarily market and sell our products to leadingyoral equipment manufacturer ("OEM")
customers. Our solutions are targeted at applicatichere memory plays a key role in meeting systerformance requirements. We leverage
a portfolio of proprietary technologbies and degigghniques, including combining discrete semicamaiutechnologies such as DRAM and
NAND flash to function as one, efficient planar id@s and alternative packaging techniques to delivemory subsystems with persister
high density, small form factor, high signal intiggrattractive thermal characteristics, reduced/@oconsumption and low cost per bit. Our
NVvault™ product is the first to offer both DRAM @iNAND in a standard form factor memory subsystsm gersistent di-in line memory
module ("DIMM") in mission critical applications.

We were incorporated in Delaware in Jun@02&nd commenced operations in September 2000pidwipal executive offices are located
at 175 Technology Drive, Suite 150, Irvine, Califier 92618
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and our telephone number at that address is (BB0825. Our website address is http://www.netlish. The information contained on our
website is not incorporated by reference into, does not form any part of, this Annual Report omitrd0-K. We have included our website
address as a factual reference and do not intéadéd an active link to our website.

Intellectual Property and Licensing

Our high performance memory subsystemslaveloped in part using our proprietary intelletraperty, and we believe that the strel
of our intellectual property rights will be impontiato the success of our business. We utilize pated trade secret protection, confidentiality
agreements with customers and partners, discl@dénvention assignment agreements with emplogedsonsultants and other contractual
provisions to protect our intellectual property arher proprietary information. We plan to licersgecific, custom designs to our customers,
charging royalties at a fixed amount per produc percentage of sales. More generally, we intendigorously defend and monetize our
intellectual property through licensing arrangersearid, where necessary, enforcement actions aglags® entities using our patented
solutions in their products. Royalties resultingnfrthese patent monetization efforts can be stredtin a variety of ways, including but not
limited to one-time paid up licenses or on-goingalty arrangements. We expect to generate a pasfionr revenues with these types of
licensing arrangements.

As of December 28, 2013, we had 40 U.Smiatissued and 31 U.S. and foreign patent apjgiteapending. Assuming that they are
properly maintained, our patents will expire atioas dates between 2022 and 2029. Our issued patpdtpatent applications relate to the us
of custom logic in high performance memory subsystePCB design, layout and packaging techniquesn@ged to actively pursue the filing
of additional patent applications related to oehtelogy advancements. While we believe that otemiand other intellectual property rights
are important to our success, our technical exgeesetnd ability to introduce new products in a tiymreknner also will continue to be important
factors in developing and maintaining our compegiposition. Accordingly, we believe that our besig is not materially dependent upon any
one claim in any of our existing patents or pengiatent applications.

Litigation & Patent Reexamination

We own numerous patents and continue targaland strengthen our patent portfolios whictecalfferent aspects of our technology
innovations with various claim scopes. We plandoeyate revenue by selling or licensing our teabmgland intend to vigorously enforce our
patent rights against infringers. We dedicate sutiitl resources in protecting our intellectualgany, including efforts to defend our patents
against challenges made by way of reexaminatioogaings at the USPTO. These activities are liteeyontinue for the foreseeable future,
without any guarantee that any ongoing or fututemtgprotection and litigation activities will baccessful. We also are subject to litigation
claims that we have infringed on the intellectuaperty of others, against which we intend to ddfeigorously.

Our Products
HyperCloud ®

Our HyperCloud® technology incorporates patented rank multiplication technology that irs®es memory capacity and our patented
load reduction technology that increases memorygwatth. We expect that these patented technologiibsnake possible improved levels of
performance for memory intensive datacenter apjidica and workloads, including enterprise virtualian, cloud computing infrastructure,
business intelligence real-time data analytics,t@gt performance computing.
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Vault

We were the first to develop and market mgnsubsystems that incorporate both DRAM and NANR single NVvault™ persistent
DIMM solution for backup of volatile data to nalatile NAND. NVvault™ is desirable for missionitizal backups during power interrupti
in Redundant Array of Independent Disks ("RAID"damain memory for Cloud, Big Data, on-line bankargd other real time applications.
NVvault™ is incorporated in our EXPRESSvault PGhution for both acceleration and backup in storagglications

Our NVvault™ product line consists primguif battery-free and battery-powered flash baak@the memory subsystem targeting RAID
storage, application acceleration and missioncalfiiata integrityapplications. NVvault™ battergdrprovides server and storage OEMs a
solution for enhanced datacenter fault recoverg Nvault™ products have historically been soldnaiily to Dell, for incorporation in its
PERC 7 server products. Following Intel's launcitoRomley platform in the first quarter of 2012 have experienced a steady decline in
NVvault™ sales to Dell. Sales of NVvault™ produttDell totaled $5.5 million and $15.7 million fdre years ended December 28, 2013
December 29, 2012, respectively. We expect mintheatand for Dell DDR2 NVvault™ in 2014.

In order to leverage our NVvault™ techngldagto a more diverse customer base, we contingeitsue additional qualifications of next
generation DDR3 NVvault™ with other customers. \Wedduced EXPRESSvault™ in March 2011, and areectisr qualified with multiple
customers and continue to pursue qualificationh wiw customers. However, our efforts may not tesidignificant revenues from the sale
NVvault™ products

Specialty Memory Modules and Flash-Based Products

The remainder of our revenue is primarnityni OEM sales of specialty memory modules and flzested products, the majority of which
are utilized in data center and industrial appiaat. When developing custom modules for an equitrpeoduct launch, we engage with our
OEM customers from the earliest stages of new grodeefinition, providing us unique insight into th&ull range of system architecture and
performance requirements. This close collabordtasalso allowed us to develop a significant lefelystems expertise. We leverage a
portfolio of proprietary technologies and desigchtgiques, including efficient planar design, altgive packaging techniques and custom
semiconductor logic, to deliver memory subsysteritl high speed, capacity and signal integrity, $fmaim factor, attractive thermal
characteristics and low cost per bit. Revenues fsamspecialty modules and flash-based productsusgct to fluctuation as a result of the
life cycles of the products into which our modudes incorporated. Our ability to continue to progluevenues from specialty memory module:
and flash-based products is dependent on ounataliqualify our products on new platforms as carggatforms reach the end of their
lifecycles, and on the state of the global economy.

Technology

We have a portfolio of proprietary techrgés and design techniques and have assembledjareerning team with expertise in
semiconductors, printed circuit boards, memory gsiiesn and system design. Our technology competenutude:

IC Design Expertise. We have designed special algorithms that campéemented in stand-alone integrated circuitstagrated into
other functional blocks in ASICs. We utilize thedgorithms in the HyperCloud ® chipset to incorgeraank multiplication and load reduction
functionality. We also incorporate these algoritimeur NVvault TM product line of RDIMMS.

NVvault™. We were the first to develop and market mensofysystems that incorporate both DRAM and NANDHlasa single
NVvault™ persistent DIMM solution for backup of aile DRAM data to nc-volatile NAND. NVvault™ combines the best attribatof
DRAM; speed,
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durability and reliability with high densities, l@wvpower and lowest costs provided by NAND to pdevapplication acceleration and mission
critical backup during power interruption for cloudrastructure, virtualization, analytics and dstae applications. NVvault™ is incorporated
in our EXPRESSvault PCle solution for both acceleraand backup in storage applications.

Proprietary PCB Designs. We utilize advanced, proprietary techniquesgtimize electronic signal strength and integriijhvm a PCB.
These techniques include the use of 8- or 10-lbgards, matching conductive trace lengths, a mi@thnumber of conductive connectors, or
vias, and precise load balancing to, among othiegsh help reduce noise and crosstalk between efjaaces. In addition, our proprietary
designs for the precise placement of intra-sulistramnponents allow us to assemble memory subsystémsignificantly smaller physical
size, enabling OEMs to develop products with sméddietprints for their customers.

Very Low Profile Designs. We were the first company to create memorystbms in a form factor of less than one inch iiglie We
believe our proprietary board design technologyaigticularly useful in the blade server market, vehefficient use of motherboard space is
critical. Our technology has allowed us to decrahsesystem board space required for memory, apdoive thermal performance and
operating speeds, by enabling our customers taltesmative methods of component layout.

Planar-X Designs. Our patented Planar-X circuit design providedittonal board space for a large number of DRAMhponents. This
enables us to produce higher capacity RDIMM modwdash as our 32GB two-virtual rank HyperCloudR®IMM, at a lower cost by allowin
us to use standard, currently available 4GB DRASht®logy.

Thermal Management DesignsWe design our memory subsystems to ensuretiofidreat dissipation. We use thermal cameras to
obtain thermal profiles of the memory subsystenirduthe design phase, allowing us to rearrange ooimis to enhance thermal
characteristics and, if necessary, replace compstleat do not meet specifications. We use thesinalilation and modeling software to create
comprehensive heat transfer models of our memdrgyaiems, which enables our engineers to quickhglde accurate solutions for potential
thermal issues. We also develop and use propribeay spreaders to enhance the thermal managehsatteristics of our memory
subsystems.

Customers

During the year we primarily marketed anttiour products to leading OEMSs in the servenagje and communications markets.
Consistent with the concentrated nature of the Qiabtomer base in our target markets, a small nuoifidarge customers have historically
accounted for a significant portion of our net saldet sales to our two largest customers, DelllBiWi, represented approximately 45% and
15% of our net sales in 2013, respectively. Dell BBM represented approximately 60% and 18% ofrmirsales in 2012, respectively. Net
sales to some of our OEM customers include memamguies that are qualified by us directly with thEND customer and sold to electronic
manufacturing services providers ("EMSs"), for irpmration into products manufactured exclusivelytfiee OEM customer or, in some
instances, to facilitate credit and logistics. Thast sales to EMSs have historically fluctuatetiopleto period as a portion of the total net sales
to the OEM customers. Net sales to Hon Hai Preeibidustry Co. Ltd., an EMS operating under thdéraame of Foxconn that purchases
memory modules from us for incorporation into pradumanufactured exclusively for Dell, represergpdroximately 74% and 87% of net
sales to Dell for 2013 and 2012, respectively. $ddes to Kingston Technology, an EMS manufactuwwetBM, represented approximately 2!
and 62% of net sales to IBM for 2013 and 2012,eetpely. For further information regarding ouresato our OEM customer base, please
refer to Note 12 of Notes to Consolidated FinanStatements included in Part IV, Item 15 of thip&.
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The composition of major customers andrttespective contributions to our net sales haviedand will likely continue to vary from
period to period as our OEMs progress throughitbesycle of the products they produce and selt. &@mple, we have experienced a
significant decline in sales of our NVvault™ sale®ell following its launch of servers incorporagiintel's Romley platform. We expect that
after product in the supply chain is consumed,ssafeNVvault™ products for incorporation into PERGervers will be minimal. This
reduction in sales is expected to continue to lasignificant impact on our revenue and gross profi

Our sales are made primarily pursuantdaddrd purchase orders that may be rescheduleslaiively short notice. Customers are
generally allowed limited rights of return for up30 days, except for sales of excess inventasibgh contain no right-of-return privileges.
Estimated returns are provided for at the timeatd $ased on historical experience or specifictiieation of an event necessitating a reserve
While these returns have historically been withim expectations and the provisions establishedzam@ot guarantee that we will continue to
experience similar return rates in the future. Amgnificant increase in product failure rates amelriesulting product returns could have a
material adverse effect on our operating result$hfe period or periods in which such returns maliee.

We offer warranties on our memory subsystgenerally ranging from one to three years, depgneh the product and negotiated terms
of purchase agreements with our customers. Suctamtas require us to repair or replace defectireelpct returned to us during such warre
period at no cost to the customer. Our estimatewdoranty related costs are recorded at the tihsale based on historical and estimated
future product return rates and expected repaielacement costs. While such costs have histbribakn within our expectations and the
provisions established, unexpected changes irréaihtes could have a material adverse impact pregairing additional warranty reserves,
and adversely affecting our gross profit and groasgins.

Sales and Marketing

We market and sell our products througiirectisales force and a network of independensgalgresentatives. Our sales activities focus
primarily on developing strong relationships at tiehnical, marketing and executive managementdevighin market-leading OEMs.

We utilize well-trained, highly technicalggram management teams to successfully drive medupt development and quickly respond
to our customers' needs and expectations. Our gmogranagement teams provide quick response tintkacms a single point-of-contact for
routine issues during the sales process. Additipriley address the long-term business and teolggajoals of our customers. We employ a
team approach to business development wherebyates team and independent representatives ideqtiglify and prioritize customer
prospects through offices in a number of locatiwosldwide.

For additional information regarding out sales from external customers by geographic aeéer, to Note 13 of Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements, included in Part IV, Itemoifhis Report.

Manufacturing

We manufacture substantially all of ourdarcts at our facilities in Suzhou in the Peopleépblic of China (the "PRC"). Our advanced
engineering and design capabilities, combined within-house manufacturing processes, allow us to assesublmemory subsystems relia
and in high volume. Our advanced, customized matwrfimg facilities are capable of surface mouneassly, subsystem testing, system-level
burn-in testing, programming, marking, labeling gradkaging. At each stage of the production cynt#uding product prototyping,
qualification sample production and high-volume ofacturing and delivery, we focus on providing customers with rapid response and
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short manufacturing turn-around times. Manufactyggcle times for our products are typically oneelwer less, and in some cases as few as
two days, from receipt of order.

We acquire components and materials sué&t&§Ss, DRAM ICs and NAND directly from integratettcuit manufacturers and assemble
them into finished subsystems. We believe thatajrmir key strengths is the efficient procuremert management of components for our
subsystems, which benefits our customers in tha fafrlower costs and increased product availabiitee have a limited number of suppliers,
including SK hynix Semiconductor America and Sangs8emiconductor, Inc., each of which have comprisede than 10% of our total
purchases in both of 2013 and 2012. For furthermétion regarding our supplier concentrationgnéd Note 12 of Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements, included in Part IV, Itemoifhis Report. We have developed strong suppéitionships with these and other key
DRAM IC and NAND manufacturers, which we believeeas us direct and ready access to the critical oo@pts that we need for our
production activities. We typically qualify our ghacts with our customers using multiple manufaggiod DRAM ICs and NAND. The
flexibility to choose from several DRAM IC and NANroviders allows us to minimize product cost arakimize product availability. Our
HyperCloud® RDIMM contains an ASIC chipset compan&ie intend to procure these ASICs from multipleegrated circuit vendors.

We schedule production based on purchatgr aommitments and anticipated orders. We releagenaterials to the manufacturing floor
by means of an on-line shop floor control systetnictv allows for internal quality analysis, directass to inventory information and
production floor material tracking. We have a fldgi manufacturing workforce which allows us to mgemanforecasted demand. In additior
order to mitigate inventory risks, we have the ¢tdlg to sell excess quantities of certain compariaventories of DRAM ICs and NAND to
distributors and other users of memory integrateziiits. However, the ASIC and DRAM components uisedur HyperCloud® product have
limited alternative uses. As such, we may not He &bsell excess quantities of the componentgjlghwee fail to obtain qualification with
major OEMs.

Our quality assurance engineers work withsuppliers to ensure that the raw materials weive meet our high quality standards. These
engineers also perform onsite supplier factorytauatid use our internal test and inspection systemerify that purchased components and
materials meet our specifications. Our suppliediguprogram and incoming material quality contpsbgram are important aspects of our
overall manufacturing process.

We perform ongoing reliability testing oaranemory subsystems and share the results ofebi@tg with our customers. We believe that
this improves the system design process and allomtse elimination of potential problems at thelieat possible stage. In addition, we have
implemented procedures which require that all afroemory subsystems undergo functional and systemin testing prior to delivery to the
customer. We complement our test capabilities aithanced imaging technology to inspect the qualfityur assemblies.

We are certified in ISO 9001:2008 Qualitadhgement Systems and 1ISO 14001:2004 Environmidatahgement Standards.
Competition

Our products are primarily targeted for sleever, high performance computing and commuminatmarkets. These markets are intensely
competitive, as numerous companies vie for busioppsrtunities at a limited number of large OEMs Y&lce competition from DRAM
suppliers, including SK hynix, Samsung and Micronrhany of our products, including HyperCloud®. Quimary competitors for the rest of
our product lines are mainly memory module provddarch as STEC, SMART Modular Technologies, Ingigatech, and Viking Interworks,
a division of Sanmina-SCI Corporation. We also fpogential direct or indirect competition from leguppliers
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such as Inphi, IDT, Montage and Texas Instrumekgsive enter new markets and pursue additional egpdins for our products, we may face
competition from a larger number of competitorg fir@duce solutions utilizing similar or competitgghnologies.

Certain of our competitors have substagtgieater financial, technical, marketing, distiion and other resources, broader product line:
lower cost structures, greater brand recognitiahlanger standing relationships with customers suppliers. Some of our competitors may
also have a greater ability to influence industandards than we do, as well as more extensivaiadetfolios.

Some of our customers and suppliers mag ppaoprietary products or technologies that arepmditive with our products, or could
develop internal solutions or enter into strateglationships with, or acquire, existing high-déynshemory module providers. Any of these
actions could reduce our customers' demand fopmgducts. Some of our significant suppliers of mgmnotegrated circuits may be able to
manufacture competitive products at lower costiebgraging internal efficiencies, or could choasegduce our supply of memory integrated
circuits, adversely affecting our ability to manctizre our memory subsystems on a timely basis,afla

Our ability to compete in our current targerkets and in future markets will depend in éapgrt on our ability to successfully develop,
introduce and sell new and enhanced products onedytand cost-effective basis, and to responchmging market requirements. We believe
that the principal competitive factors in the st of high performance memory subsystems by pistectustomers are:

. understanding of OEM system and business remainés;
. timeliness of new value-add product introductions;

. design characteristics and performance;

. quality and reliability;

. track record of volume delivery;

. credibility with the customer;

. fulfillment capability and flexibility; and

. price.

We believe that we compete favorably wébpect to these factors. However, our current atudd competitors could develop competing
products that could cause a decline in sales srdbsarket acceptance of our products.

Research and Development

The market for high performance memory gatesns is constantly changing and therefore coatiswlevelopment of new technology,
processes and product innovation is mandatory subeessful as a leading supplier. We believettteatontinued and timely development of
new products and improvement of existing produstscatical to maintaining our competitive positiddur team of engineers focuses on
developing custom semiconductor logic devices, idyimemory, DRAM and NAND flash products with inndiv@ packaging solutions,
improved electrical signal integrity and thermahdcteristics that enhances reliability over the df the system and achieves higher speeds
and lowers power consumption. Also, our enginaasrporate various new techniques and methodoldgidssting as well as new processes
for manufacturing our products.
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Our engineering staff closely engages withcustomers and their engineering teams at stafjes in their system development. This
collaboration allows our engineers to understaedctistomer's system architecture, power budgetatipg environment such as air flow and
operating temperature and any mechanical consdrantr engineers use this information to providelgince and solutions to implement
optimum memory subsystems to our customers. An itapbaspect of our research and development é&footunderstand the challenges
faced by our customers and provide cost effectdhations that satisfy their requirements by utiligiour industry knowledge, proprietary
technologies and technical expertise.

We use advanced design tools in developwfendir products that allow us to model behavioa aignal trace on our memory modules as
well as airflow and thermal profiles of all compot®in the system. These design tools enable iraaldimulation for signal integrity and
behavioral modeling of our designs using the Irutput Buffer Information Specification ("IBIS") @iur suppliers' components. These
simulation tools help us reduce or eliminate etattr signal reflections, clock skews, signal jitserd noise which can reduce system
performance and reliability. Also, our engineers tilgeermal simulation tools to identify potentiaétimal problems arising from inadequate
airflow necessary to cool the components in théesysThese efforts allow our engineers to develfaipraum thermal solutions for our
customer base.

We believe that to remain competitive westraontinue to focus on developing advanced mernsmiynologies. We have invested
significant resources in the design of custom sendactor logic devices. These logic devices aregirastted into our next-generation memory
subsystems in order to improve their performanoe eéxample, our HyperCloud® logic devices enable@RAM-based subsystems to
achieve higher speeds and address greater menpaygiteat a lower price point than currently aviaiéaproducts in the market. Logic devices
in our NVvault™ hybrid memory product enable DRANIdaflash memory to be efficiently combined for fheposes of accelerating system
performance and providing mission critical back Tipe development of these semiconductor devicearamnportant part of our overall effort
to maintain a strong competitive position in outistry based on advanced memory technologies.

Our customers typically do not separateimpensate us for design and engineering work iragbia developing application-specific
products for them. Our total expenditures for resteand development were approximately $6.7 mildod $12.8 million for 2013 and 2012,
respectively.

Intellectual Property and Licensing

Our high performance memory subsystemsl@veloped in part using our proprietary intelletpraperty, and we believe that the strer
of our intellectual property rights will be impontato the success of our business. We utilize patet trade secret protection, confidentiality
agreements with customers and partners, discl@dénvention assignment agreements with emplogedsonsultants and other contractual
provisions to protect our intellectual property atlker proprietary information. We plan to licersgecific, custom designs to our customers,
charging royalties at a fixed amount per produd percentage of sales. More generally, we intendigorously defend and monetize our
intellectual property through licensing arrangermeid, where necessary, enforcement actions aglags® entities using our patented
solutions in their products. Royalties resultingnfrthese patent monetization efforts can be stredtin a variety of ways, including but not
limited to one-time paid up licenses or on-goingalty arrangements. We expect to generate a pasfionr revenues with these types of
licensing arrangements.

As of December 28, 2013, we had 40 U.Smatissued and 31 U.S. and foreign patent apitapending. Assuming that they are
properly maintained, our patents will expire atioas dates between 2022 and 2029. Our issued patpdtpatent applications relate to the us
of custom logic in high performance memory subsystePCB design, layout and packaging techniques. We
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intend to actively pursue the filing of additionmgtent applications related to our technology adearents. While we believe that our patent
and other intellectual property rights are impartanour success, our technical expertise andtalbdiintroduce new products in a timely
manner also will continue to be important factorgiéveloping and maintaining our competitive positiAccordingly, we believe that our
business is not materially dependent upon any e én any of our existing patents or pending papplications.

Employees

At December 28, 2013, we had approximat@ employees (including 73 regular employees dnBmporary employees).
Approximately 23 of the regular employees were tedan the U.S., and approximately 50 were loc@ed the PRC. We had 54 employees ir
operations, 10 employees in research and develapfemployees in sales and marketing, and 6 ereplbgngaged in other administrative
functions. We are not party to any collective bariyg agreements with any of our employees. We maxer experienced a work stoppage,
and we believe our employee relations are good.

General Information

We maintain a websitewatvw.netlist.confthis uniform resource locator, or URL, is an imeettextual reference only and is not intended
to incorporate our website into this Form 10-K). ¥e reports with the Securities and Exchange Cdssion ("SEC"), and make available,
free of charge, on or through our website, our ahmeports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on FAOyQ, current reports on Form 8-K, proxy
and information statements and amendments to tlepeets filed or furnished pursuant to Section 18¢al5(d) of the Securities Exchange |
of 1934, as amended (the "Exchange Act"), as searasonably practicable after we electronicaleyiich material with, or furnish it to, the
SEC. Our website also contains copies of our catpagovernance policy, code of business conducetnids, insider trading policy and
whistleblower policy, as well as copies of the ¢ber for our audit committee, compensation commisied nominating and corporate
governance committee.

Item 1A. Risk Factors

You should consider each of the following fact@svell as the other information in this Report irmkiating our business and our
prospects. The risks described below are not tiy @mes we face. Additional risks we are not prédgeaware of or that we currently belie
are immaterial may also impair our business openasi. If any of the events described below weretam our financial condition, our ability
to access capital resources, our results of operatiand/or our future growth prospects could beemally and adversely affected and the
market price of our common stock could declineadsessing these risks, you should also refer tottier information contained or
incorporated by reference in this Report, includowg consolidated financial statements and relatetes.

Risks related to our busines

We expect a number of factors to cause our opergtiasults to fluctuate on a quarterly and annual &ig, which may make it difficult to
predict our future performance

Our operating results have varied signiftain the past and will continue to fluctuaterfr@uarter-to-quarter or year-to-year in the future
due to a variety of factors, many of which are myour control. Factors relating to our business thay contribute to these quarterly and
annual
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fluctuations include the following factors, as wadl other factors described elsewhere in this guanteport:

. general economic conditions, including the positibif a prolonged period of limited economic grovit the U.S. and Europe;
disruptions to the credit and financial marketthie U.S., Europe and elsewhere;

. our inability to develop new or enhanced produlett aichieve customer or market acceptance in dytimanner, including our
HyperCloud ® memory module, NVvault family of prars and our flash-based memory products;

. our failure to maintain the qualification of guroducts with our current customers or to quatifiyrent and future products with
our current or prospective customers in a timelyinea or at all;

. the timing of actual or anticipated introductiorissompeting products or technologies by us or aumgetitors, customers or
suppliers;

. the loss of, or a significant reduction in salesat&ey customer;

. the cyclical nature of the industry in which we ote;

. a reduction in the demand for our high performameenory subsystems or the systems into which theynaorporated;

. our customers' failure to pay us on a timelyifas

. costs, inefficiencies and supply risks associatid @utsourcing portions of the design and the rfecture of integrated circuit

. our ability to absorb manufacturing overhead if mwenues decline or vary from our projections;

. delays in fulfilling orders for our products orailtire to fulfill orders;

. our ability to procure an adequate supply of kepponents, particularly DRAM ICs and NAND;

. dependence on large suppliers who are also competind whose manufacturing priorities may not suipgur production
schedules;

. changes in the prices of our products or incibet of the materials that we use to build our potsl including fluctuations in the

market price of DRAM ICs and NAND;

. our ability to effectively operate our manufaatg facility in the PRC;

. manufacturing inefficiencies associated with ttegtsip of new manufacturing operations, new proglacid initiation of volume
production;

. our failure to produce products that meet the tpadiquirements of our customers;

. disputes regarding intellectual property rights #alpossibility of our patents being reexaminedigyUSPTO;

. the costs and management attention diversion agedawvith litigation;

. the loss of any of our key personnel;

. changes in regulatory policies or accountinggigles;

. our ability to adequately manage or financerimégrowth or growth through acquisitions;
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. the effect of our investments and financing arramgrets on our liquidity; and

. the other factors described in this "Risk Facteegtion and elsewhere in this quarterly report.

Due to the various factors mentioned abewe, others, the results of any prior quarterlgranual periods should not be relied upon as ar
indication of our future operating performanceotre or more future periods, our results of openatimay fall below the expectations of
securities analysts and investors. In that evaetmarket price of our common stock would likelgldee. In addition, the market price of our
common stock may fluctuate or decline regardlessuoperating performance.

We have historically incurred losses and may cowminto incur losses.

Since the inception of our business in 2088 have only experienced one fiscal year (2008) profitable results. In order to regain
profitability, or to achieve and sustain positivask flows from operations in the future, we musthfer reduce operating expenses and/or
increase our revenues and gross margins. Althoughave in the past engaged in a series of costtiedwactions, and believe that we could
reduce our current level of expenses through elition or reduction of strategic initiatives, sustpense reductions alone may not make us
profitable or allow us to sustain profitabilityitfis achieved. Our ability to achieve profitahjlivill depend on increased revenue growth from,
among other things, increased demand for our mesdrgystems and related product offerings, asaseatlur ability to expand into new and
emerging markets. We may not be successful in gicijehe necessary revenue growth or the expeoteense reductions. Moreover, we may
be unable to sustain past or expected future erpreiictions in subsequent periods. We may noewelprofitability or sustain such
profitability, if achieved, on a quarterly or anhbasis in the future.

Any failure to achieve profitability coutdsult in increased capital requirements and pressu our liquidity position. We believe our
future capital requirements will depend on manydes; including our levels of net sales, the timamgl extent of expenditures to support sales
marketing, research and development activitieseipansion of manufacturing capacity both domelyieamd internationally and the contint
market acceptance of our products. Our capitalirements could result in our having to, or otheeatboosing to, seek additional funding
through public or private equity offerings or débancings. Such funding may not be available smgacceptable to us, or at all, either of
which could result in our inability to meet certaihour financial obligations and other related coitments.

Our future capital needs are uncertain and we maged to raise additional funds, which may not be é&hle on acceptable terms or at all.

We believe our existing cash balances,dvarrg availability under our bank credit facilityitv Silicon Valley Bank ("SVB"), borrowing
availability under our loan agreement with DBD Qtétinding, LLC, an affiliate of Fortress Investmi@&roup, LLC (the "DBD"), and the ca
expected to be generated from operations, willuficgent to meet our anticipated cash needs foeast the next 12 months. However, we 1
need significant additional capital, which we maglsto raise through, among other things, public@ivate equity offerings and debt
financings. Our future capital requirements wilpdad on many factors, including our levels of r@¢s, the timing and extent of expenditures
to support research and development activitiespateht infringement litigation, the expansion ofnufacturing capacity both domestically «
internationally and the continued market acceptarficrir products. Additional funds may not be aalié on terms acceptable to us, or at all.
Furthermore, if we issue equity or convertible dedaturities to raise additional funds, our exisstarkholders may experience dilution, anc
new equity or debt securities may have rights,gyeefces, and privileges senior to those of outiagistockholders. If we incur additional
debt, it may increase our leverage relative togaunings or to our equity capitalization.
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If adequate working capital is not avaitatdhen needed, we may be required to significantigdify our business model and operations tc
reduce spending to a sustainable level. It coulbeais to be unable to execute our business plam atvantage of future opportunities, or
respond to competitive pressures or customer rexugnts. It may also cause us to delay, scale haelintinate some or all of our research anc
development programs, or to reduce or cease oppsati

We have incurred a material amount of indebtednésgund our operations, the terms of which requirdisat we pledge substantially all of
our assets as security and that we agree to sharéain patent monetization revenues that may accimehe future. Our level of
indebtedness and the terms of such indebtednessidcadversely affect our operations and liquidity.

We have incurred debt secured by all ofamsets under our credit facilities and term logitis DBD and SVB. Our credit facility with
DBD is secured by a first-priority security inter@sour intellectual property assets (other thartain patents and related assets relating to the
NVvault™ product line) and a second priority setyumterest in substantially all of our other ass@ur credit facility with SVB is secured
a first priority security interest in all of oursets other than our intellectual property assetahich SVB has a second priority security intel
The credit facility with DBD contains customary repentations, warranties and indemnification piows, as well as affirmative and negative
covenants that, among other things restrict ouityalo:

. incur additional indebtedness or guarantees;

. incur liens;

. make investments, loans and acquisitions;

. consolidate or merge

. sell or exclusively license assets, includingit stock of subsidiaries;
. alter our business;

. engage in transactions with affiliates; and

. pay dividends or make distributions.

The credit facilities also include eventslefault, including, among other things, paymeefiadits, breaches of representations, warrantie
or covenants, certain bankruptcy events, and centaiterial adverse changes. If we were to defandeueither credit facility and were unable
to obtain a waiver for such a default, interestlmobligations would accrue at an increased hatéhe case of a default, the lenders could
accelerate our obligations under the credit agre¢srend exercise their rights to foreclose on tbeaurity interests, which would cause
substantial harm to our business and prospects.

Incurrence and maintenance of this debldcbave material consequences, such as:

. requiring us to dedicate a portion of our cash ffoemn operations and other capital resources to skatvice, thereby reducing
our ability to fund working capital, capital expétudes, and other cash requirements;

. increasing our vulnerability to adverse economid exdlustry conditions;

. limiting our flexibility in planning for, or reaatig to, changes and opportunities in, our businedsradustry, which may place
at a competitive disadvantage; and

. limiting our ability to incur additional debt actceptable terms, if at all.

Concurrently with the execution of the drédalcility with DBD, we entered into a Patent Mdization Side Letter Agreement which
provides, among other things, that an affiliat®&D may
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be entitled to share in certain monetization reesrthat we may derive in the future related topaient portfolio (excluding certain patents
relating to the NVvault™ product line). Monetizaticevenues subject to this arrangement includentegrecognized during the seven year
term of the Letter Agreement from net amounts dlstyaid to us or our subsidiaries in connectiothwany assertion of, agreement not to
assert, or license of, our patent portfolio. Moraion revenues subject to the arrangement aldodeche value attributable to our patent
portfolio in any sale of the Company during theeseyear term, subject to a maximum amount. Theet éigreement also requires that we use
commercially reasonable efforts to pursue oppotiesmio monetize our patent portfolio during thertef the Letter Agreement, provided that
we are under no obligation to pursue any such dppities that we do not deem to be in our bestéstein our reasonable business judgment.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, there can be noasse that we will be successful in these eff@ts] we may expend resources in pursu
monetization revenues that may not result in amebeto us. Moreover, the revenue sharing oblayatvill reduce the benefit we receive from
any monetization transactions, which could advgraffect our operating results and would reduceatiheunts payable to our stockholders in
the event of a sale transaction.

Our revenues and results of operations have beebstantially dependent on NVvault™ and we may be bleto replace revenue lost from
the rapid decline in NVvault™ sales.

For the fiscal years ended December 283 201 December 29, 2012, our NVvault™ non-vold&ileIMM used in cache-protection and
data logging applications, including our NVvault™ttery-free, the flash-based cache system, acaddimt@pproximately 39% and 51% of
total net sales, respectively. Following Intelsriah of its Romley platform in the first quarter2f12, we have experienced a rapid decline in
NVvault™ sales to Dell, and we recognized $5.5iomllin NVvault™ sales to Dell in the fiscal yearded December 28, 2013, as compare
$15.7 million in the fiscal year ended DecemberZ®,2. We expect that after product in the suppBirtis consumed, sales of NVvault™
products for incorporation into PERC 7 servers tdliminimal. In order to leverage our NVvault™ teclogy and diversify our customer ba
we continue to pursue additional qualification$\dvault™ with other OEMs. We also introduced EXPR&&ult™ in March 2011, and we
continue to pursue qualification of next generaiidR3 NVvault™ with customers. Our future operatiegults will depend on our ability to
commercialize these NVvault™ product extensionsyasas other new products such as HyperCloud®athdr high-density and high-
performance solutions. We may not be successfumarketing any new or enhanced products. If we atesmccessful in generating sales of
other products, the decrease or cessation of saNgvault™ products to Dell will significantly recte our annual revenues and negatively
affect our results of operations.

We are subject to risks relating to our focus onvédoping our HyperCloud ® product and lack of markdiversification.

We have historically derived a substarg@tion of our net sales from sales of our highfgremance memory subsystems for use in the
server market. We expect these memory subsysteomitmue to account for a significant portion of met sales in the near term. Continued
market acceptance of these products for use ireseiw critical to our success.

In an attempt to set our products aparhftbose of our competitors, we have invested afsignt portion of our research and
development budget into the design of ASIC deviteduding the HyperCloud ® memory subsystem, idtred in November 2009. This
design and the products it is incorporated intosatgect to increased risks as compared to our ptioglucts. For example:

. we may be unable to achieve customer or madet@ance of the HyperCloud ® memory subsystembmraew products, or
achieve such acceptance in a timely manner;
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. the HyperCloud ® memory subsystem or other newyxctsdmay contain currently undiscovered flaws,abeection of which
would result in increased costs and time to market;

. we are dependent on a limited number of supplarddth the DRAM ICs and the ASIC devices thatessential to the
functionality of the HyperCloud @emory subsystem, and could experience supply dhisinption as a result of business is:
that are specific to our suppliers or the indussya whole; and

. we are required to demonstrate the quality andlsiiiy of the HyperCloud ® memory subsystem oresthew products to our
customers, and are required to qualify these neduymts with our customers, both of which have negliand will continue to
require a significant investment of time and researprior to the receipt of any revenue from sudtamers.

We have experienced a longer qualificatipcie than anticipated with our HyperCloud® memsupsystems, and as a result, we have n
generated significant HyperCloud® product revertoegate relative to our investment in the prodié entered into collaborative agreement:
with both IBM and HP pursuant to which these OEMaliied the 16GB and 32GB versions of HyperCloud®use with their products. In
February 2012 and May 2012, we achieved memonyifopadion of our 16GB HyperCloud® product at IBM@&HIP, respectively. In
September 2012 and July 2013, we achieved memaijfigation of our 32GB HyperCloud® product at IBahd HP, respectively. While we
and each of the OEMs committed financial and otbsources toward the collaboration, the effortsamtatken with each of these collaborative
agreements have not resulted in significant prothargins for us to date relative to our investmemeveloping and marketing these products
and there is no assurance that we will achievecserit revenues or margins from our HyperCloud®dorets under these arrangements.

Additionally, if the demand for serverset@rates or if the demand for our products torfa@iporated in servers declines, our operating
results would be adversely affected, and we woalébbced to diversify our product portfolio and darget markets. We may not be able to
achieve this diversification, and our inabilitydo so may adversely affect our business.

We may lose our competitive position if we are uketo timely and cost-effectively develop new ohanced products that meet our
customers' requirements and achieve market acceptan

Our industry is characterized by intensapetition, rapid technological change, evolvingustly standards and rapid product
obsolescence. Evolving industry standards and t#obital change or new, competitive technologiedadoender our existing products
obsolete. Accordingly, our ability to compete i luture will depend in large part on our abilityilentify and develop new or enhanced
products on a timely and cost-effective basis,tangspond to changing customer requirements.dardo develop and introduce new or
enhanced products, we need to:

. identify and adjust to the changing requirementswfcurrent and potential customers;
. identify and adapt to emerging technological treadld evolving industry standards in our markets;
. design and introduce cost-effective, innovative padormance-enhancing features that differentiateproducts from those of

our competitors;

. develop relationships with potential supplief€@mponents required for these new or enhancediipts;
. qualify these products for use in our customen®iucts; and
. develop and maintain effective marketing strateg
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Our product development efforts are coatlg inherently risky. It is difficult to foreseeages or developments in technology or
anticipate the adoption of new standards. Moreawace these things are identified, if at all, wd néed to hire the appropriate technical
personnel or retain third party designers, devéiepproduct, identify and eliminate design flawsg ananufacture the product in production
quantities either in-house or through third-pargnufacturers. As a result, we may not be able ¢toessfully develop new or enhanced
products or we may experience delays in the dewsdop and introduction of new or enhanced produéays in product development and
introduction could result in the loss of, or delaygenerating, net sales and the loss of marlkeestas well as damage to our reputation. Ever
if we develop new or enhanced products, they mayne®t our customers' requirements or gain madaeg@ance.

Our customers require that our products undergoenpthy and expensive qualification process withauy assurance of net sales.

Our prospective customers generally magigificant commitment of resources to test andugata our memory subsystems prior to
purchasing our products and integrating them ingédrtsystems. This extensive qualification progesslves rigorous reliability testing and
evaluation of our products, which may continuesiarmonths or longer and is often subject to delaysddition to qualification of specific
products, some of our customers may also requite uadergo a technology qualification if our protildesigns incorporate innovative
technologies that the customer has not previoustpentered. Such technology qualifications oftéw tsubstantially longer than product
qualifications and can take over a year to compl@telification by a prospective customer doesemsiure any sales to that prospective
customer. Even after successful qualification aaldssof our products to a customer, changes ipamducts, our manufacturing facilities, our
production processes or our component suppliersra@yire a new qualification process, which mayitéa additional delays.

In addition, because the qualification msxis both product-specific and platform-specdiar, existing customers sometimes require us
requalify our products, or to qualify our new prath) for use in new platforms or applications. Example, as our OEM customers transition
from prior generation DDR2 DRAM architectures taremt generation DDR3 DRAM architectures, we mwestigh and qualify new products
for use by those customers. In the past, the psoafedesign and qualification has taken up to siaths to complete, during which time our
sales to those customers declined significantlyer®dur products are qualified, it can take severahths before the customer begins
production and we begin to generate net sales $wach customer.

Likewise, when our memory component vendigsontinue production of components, it may beessary for us to design and qualify
new products for our customers. Such customersragire of us or we may decide to purchase an estinquantity of discontinued memory
components necessary to ensure a steady supplystihg products until products with new componerdn be qualified. Purchases of this
nature may affect our liquidity. Additionally, oestimation of quantities required during the tréosimay be incorrect, which could adversely
impact our results of operations through lost rexseeopportunities or charges related to excess bhsolete inventory.

We must devote substantial resources, dietudesign, engineering, sales, marketing and gemant efforts, to qualify our products w
prospective customers in anticipation of salesni@ant delays in the qualification process, sastthose experienced with our HyperCloud ®
product, could result in an inability to keep ughwiapid technology change or new, competitive netbgies. If we delay or do not succeed in
qualifying a product with an existing or prospeetisustomer, we will not be able to sell that pradadhat customer, which may result in our
holding excess and obsolete inventory and harnoperating results and business.
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Sales to a limited number of customers represesignificant portion of our net sales and the los§ or a significant reduction in sales tc
any one of these customers could materially harnt business.

Sales to certain of our OEM customers Haswrically represented a substantial majoritpof net sales. Approximately 45% and 15%
and 60% and 18% of our net sales in the fiscalsyeaded December 28, 2013 and December 29, 2@l atively, were to two of our
customers. The composition of major customers hail tespective contributions to our net sales hawr&d and will likely continue to vary
from period to period as our OEMs progress thrathghlife cycle of the products they produce antl ¥é& do not have long-term agreements
with our OEM customers, or with any other custondgry one of these customers could decide at ang tordiscontinue, decrease or delay
their purchase of our products. In addition, theqw that these customers pay for our productsdathénge at any time. The loss of any of our
OEM customers, or a significant reduction in sateany of them, could significantly reduce our sates and adversely affect our operating
results.

Our ability to maintain or increase our sales to our key customers depends on a variggctdrs, many of which are beyond our
control. These factors include our customers' ool sales of servers and other computing systesthénicorporate our memory subsystems
and our customers' continued incorporation of gadpcts into their systems. Because of these draf factors, net sales to these customers
may not continue and the amount of such net saégsnot reach or exceed historical levels in anyriiperiod. Because these customers
account for a substantial portion of our net sdtes failure of any one of these customers to pag imely basis would negatively impact our
cash flow. In addition, while we may not be contuadly obligated to accept returned products, wg determine that it is in our best interes
accept returns in order to maintain good relatioite our customers. As we describe in more detadwhere in this Report, we have
experienced a significant decline in sales of NUw&uo our key customer, Dell. This reduction idesahas had, and is expected to continue t
have, a significant impact on our revenues andsgoosfit.

A limited number of relatively large potential cushers dominate the markets for our produc

Our target markets are characterized liypideld number of large companies. Consolidationnie or more of our target markets may
further increase this industry concentration. Assult, we anticipate that sales of our productsasntinue to be concentrated among a limitec
number of large customers in the foreseeable futfieebelieve that our financial results will depeéndignificant part on our success in
establishing and maintaining relationships withd affecting substantial sales to, these potentisiamers. Even if we establish and
successfully maintain these relationships, oumfiie results will be largely dependent on thesg@mers' sales and business results.

If a standardized memory solution which addresske temands of our customers is developed, our at#ssand market share may declir

Many of our memory subsystems are spedficesigned for our OEM customers' high perforneagstems. In a drive to reduce costs
and assure supply of their memory module demandD&M customers may endeavor to design JEDEC stdialRAM modules into their
new products. Although we also manufacture JEDE@utas, this trend could reduce the demand for alrer priced customized memory
solutions which in turn would have a negative impgacour financial results. In addition, customaéeploying custom memory solutions today
may in the future choose to adopt a JEDEC standardithe adoption of a JEDEC standard module idsiéa previously custom module
might allow new competitors to participate in arehaf our customers' memory module business tleatiqusly belonged to us.

If our OEM customers were to adopt JEDEAhdard modules, our future business may be lintiiedentifying the next generation of
high performance memory demands of OEM customers
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and developing solutions that addresses such desmaindil fully implemented, this next generationpsbducts may constitute a much smaller
market, which may reduce our net sales and maklages

We may not be able to maintain our competitive piosi because of the intense competition in our tatgd markets.

We participate in a highly competitive metrkand we expect competition to intensify. Manyof competitors have longer operating
histories, significantly greater resources and nesaegnition, a larger base of customers and leaggarding relationships with customers and
suppliers than we have. As a result, some of tbesgetitors are able to devote greater resourcié®tdevelopment, promotion and sale of
products and are better positioned than we aneflicence customer acceptance of their products oveproducts. These competitors also ma
be able to respond better to new or emerging tdogies or standards and may be able to deliverymtsdvith comparable or superior
performance at a lower price. For these reasonsnayenot be able to compete successfully agaiesetcompetitors. We also expect to face
competition from new and emerging companies that emder our existing or future markets. These pa@koompetitors may have similar or
alternative products which may be less costly ovjgle additional features.

In addition to the competition we face fr&iRAM and logic suppliers such as SK hynix, Samsiigron, Inphi and IDT, some of our
OEM customers have their own internal design grabpsmay develop solutions that compete with olinese design groups have some
advantages over us, including direct access to tegpective companies' technical information @uthmology roadmaps. Our OEM customers
also have substantially greater resources, finhaoiotherwise, than we do, and may have lowetrstosctures than ours. As a result, they
may be able to design and manufacture competitiwdycts more efficiently or inexpensively. If anfytbese OEM customers are successful ir
competing against us, our sales could declinepmrgins could be negatively impacted and we coaage market share, any or all of which
could harm our business and results of operatieungher, some of our significant suppliers are alsmpetitors, many of whom have the ab
to manufacture competitive products at lower casta result of their higher levels of integration.

We expect our competitors to continue tpriove the performance of their current productsuce their prices and introduce new or
enhanced technologies that may offer greater pagoce and improved pricing. If we are unable tocimar exceed the improvements mad
our competitors, our market position would deterierand our net sales would decline. In additiom,competitors may develop future
generations and enhancements of competitive predioat may render our technologies obsolete ormpetitive.

If we fail to protect our proprietary rights, ourustomers or our competitors might gain access to proprietary designs, processes a
technologies, which could adversely affect our oating results.

We rely on a combination of patent protattitrade secret laws and restrictions on discéosuprotect our intellectual property rights. '
have submitted a number of patent applicationsrdagg our proprietary processes and technologsg.ribt certain when or if any of the claims
in the remaining applications will be allowed. AsDrecember 28, 2013, we had 40 U.S. patents iss/edntend to continue filing patent
applications with respect to most of the new preesesind technologies that we develop. Howevernpptetection may not be available for
some of these processes or technologies.

It is possible that our efforts to proteat intellectual property rights may not:

. prevent challenges to, or the invalidation or aimeention of, our existing intellectual propertyhtg;

. prevent our competitors from independently develgimilar products, duplicating our products osigaing around any
patents that may be issued to us;
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. prevent disputes with third parties regarding owhgr of our intellectual property rights;

. prevent disclosure of our trade secrets and know-ochird parties or into the public domain;

. result in valid patents, including internationatgras, from any of our pending or future applicasioor
. otherwise adequately protect our intellectual prypeghts.

Others may attempt to reverse engineery coptherwise obtain and use our proprietary tetiigies without our consent. Monitoring the
unauthorized use of our technologies is difficie cannot be certain that the steps we have takeprevent the unauthorized use of our
technologies. This is particularly true in foreigountries, such as the PRC, where we have establsimanufacturing facility and where the
laws may not protect our proprietary rights to shene extent as applicable U.S. laws.

If some or all of the claims in our patapplications are not allowed, or if any of our Iigetual property protections are limited in scope
by the USPTO or by a court or circumvented by athee could face increased competition with regarur products. Increased competition
could significantly harm our business and our ofyegaresults.

We are involved in and expect to continue to bedlwed in costly legal and administrative proceedaip defend against claims that we
infringe the intellectual property rights of othersr to enforce or protect our intellectual propertights.

As is common to the semiconductor indusiny ,have experienced substantial litigation regaygiatent and other intellectual property
rights. Lawsuits claiming that we are infringindnets' intellectual property rights have been angl mahe future be brought against us, anc
are currently defending against claims of invajidit the USPTO. See Note 9 of Notes to Consolid&iedncial Statements, included in the
Report, for a more detailed description of our lemgatingencies.

The process of obtaining and protectin@mistis inherently uncertain. In addition to théepaissuance process established by law and t
procedures of the USPTO, we must comply with JERHE®inistrative procedures in protecting our intlial property within its industry
standard setting process. These procedures evedrdime, are subject to variability in their amgalfion, and may be inconsistent with each
other. Failure to comply with JEDEC's administratjwocedures could jeopardize our ability to cléuat our patents have been infringed.

By making use of new technologies and émjenew markets there is an increased likelihoad tithers might allege that our products
infringe on their intellectual property rights. igiation is inherently uncertain, and an adverseaue in existing or any future litigation could
subject us to significant liability for damagesimvalidate our proprietary rights. An adverse outeocalso could force us to take specific
actions, including causing us to:

. cease manufacturing and/or selling productsisarg certain processes, that are claimed to biegifig a third party's
intellectual property;

. pay damages (which in some instances may be times fictual damages), including royalties on pasitare sales;

. seek a license from the third party intellectuaarty owner to use their technology in our produathich license may not be
available on reasonable terms, or at all; or

. redesign those products that are claimed tobmging a third party's intellectual property.

If any adverse ruling in any such mattesuws, any resulting limitations in our ability taanket our products, or delays and costs
associated with redesigning our products or paysefiicense fees
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to third parties, or any failure by us to developicense a substitute technology on commerciagsonable terms could have a material
adverse effect on our business, financial condiiod results of operations.

There is a limited pool of experienced tdéchl personnel that we can draw upon to meet pinghneeds. As a result, a number of our
existing employees have worked for our existingatential competitors at some point during thereeas, and we anticipate that a number of
our future employees will have similar work hiseari In the past, some of these competitors haumetbthat our employees misappropriated
their trade secrets or violated non-competitionam-solicitation agreements. Some of our competitaay threaten or bring legal action
involving similar claims against us or our existieigployees or make such claims in the future tegureus from hiring qualified candidates.
Lawsuits of this type may be brought, even if thereo merit to the claim, simply as a strateggain our financial resources and divert
management's attention away from our business.

We also may find it necessary to litigagaiast others, including our competitors, custonaed former employees, to enforce our
intellectual property, contractual and commerdgihts including, in particular, our trade secresswell as to challenge the validity and scope
of the proprietary rights of others. We could beemubject to counterclaims or countersuits agaisists a result of this litigation. Moreover,
any legal disputes with customers could cause tioerease buying or using our products or delay fhwichase of our products and could
substantially damage our relationship with them.

Any litigation, regardless of its outcomeuld be time consuming and costly to resolve, disar management's time and attention and
negatively impact our results of operations. Wencamassure you that current or future infringen@aitms by third parties or claims for
indemnification by customers or end users of oodpcts resulting from infringement claims will g asserted in the future or that such
assertions, if proven to be true, will not matdyialdversely affect our business, financial comditor results of operations.

Our operating results may be adversely impactedvayldwide economic and political uncertainties amspecific conditions in the markets \
address, including the cyclical nature of and valay in the memory market and semiconductor induogt

Adverse changes in domestic and global @mdnand political conditions have made it extreyraifficult for our customers, our vendors
and us to accurately forecast and plan future legsiactivities, and they have caused and couldneento cause U.S. and foreign businesses
slow spending on our products and services, whichldvfurther delay and lengthen sales cycles. titach, sales of our products are
dependent upon demand in the computing, networkisgymunications, printer, storage and industrialkeis. These markets have been
cyclical and are characterized by wide fluctuationgroduct supply and demand. These markets hgwerienced significant downturns, often
connected with, or in anticipation of, maturing guet cycles, reductions in technology spendingdetlines in general economic conditions.
These downturns have been characterized by dingdiphoduct demand, production overcapacity, higknitory levels and the erosion of
average selling prices.

We may experience substantial period-taepeituctuations in future operating results dudactors affecting the computing, networking,
communications, printers, storage and industriaketa. A decline or significant shortfall in demaindany one of these markets could have a
material adverse effect on the demand for our ptsd\s a result, our sales will likely decline ithgrthese periods. In addition, because many
of our costs and operating expenses are relatfised, if we are unable to control our expensegjadeely in response to reduced sales, our
gross margins, operating income and cash flow wbaldegatively impacted.

During challenging economic times our costos may face issues gaining timely access tocgefti credit, which could impair their
ability to make timely payments to us. If that waveoccur,
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we may be required to increase our allowance fobtfal accounts and our days sales outstandingdvoeiinegatively impacted. Furthermore,
our vendors may face similar issues gaining acesgedit, which may limit their ability to suppbomponents or provide trade credit to us.
cannot predict the timing, strength or duratiorany economic slowdown or subsequent economic regpwearldwide, or in the memory
market and related semiconductor industry. If tth@nemy or markets in which we operate do not camtito improve or if conditions worsen,
our business, financial condition and results afraions will likely be materially and adverselyezted. Additionally, the combination of our
lengthy sales cycle coupled with challenging macooemic conditions could compound the negative hpa the results of our operations.

Our lack of a significant backlog of unfilled ordes, and the difficulty inherent in forecasting custoer demand, makes it difficult to forecast
our short-term production requirements to meet thdédmand, and any failure to optimally calibrate oproduction capacity and inventory
levels to meet customer demand could adverselycafierr revenues, gross margins and earnings.

We make significant decisions regardinglévels of business that we will seek and accaptjyrction schedules, component procuremer
commitments, personnel needs and other resouro@eatgnts, based on our estimates of customerragants. We do not have long-term
purchase agreements with our customers. Instead¢ustomers often place purchase orders no morettfaweeks in advance of their desirec
delivery date, and these purchase orders gendrally no cancellation or rescheduling penalty piomi The short-term nature of
commitments by many of our customers, the factdnattustomers may cancel or defer purchase ofdeesy reason, and the possibility of
unexpected changes in demand for our customerdupi®each reduce our ability to accurately eserigture customer requirements for our
products. This fact, combined with the quick turotand times that apply to each order, makes itadiff to forecast our production needs and
allocate production capacity efficiently. We attdrtgpforecast the demand for the DRAM ICs, NANDdarther components needed to
manufacture our products. Lead times for componeantg significantly and depend on various factstgh as the specific supplier and the
demand and supply for a component at a given time.

Our production expense and component pseclevels are based in part on our forecasts ofwstomers' future product requirements
to a large extent are fixed in the short term. Assallt, we likely will be unable to adjust sperglon a timely basis to compensate for any
unexpected shortfall in those orders. If we ovéreste customer demand, we may have excess rawiald@eentory of DRAM ICs and
NAND. If there is a subsequent decline in the @icEDRAM ICs or NAND, the value of our inventonyjllWall. As a result, we may need
write-down the value of our DRAM IC or NAND invemig which may result in a significant decreasetin gross margin and financial
condition. Also, to the extent that we manufactur@ducts in anticipation of future demand that doetsmaterialize, or in the event a customel
cancels or reduces outstanding orders, we couldreqce an unanticipated increase in our finishmmtlg inventory. In the past, we have ha
write-down inventory due to obsolescence, excesastifies and declines in market value below outsdsny significant shortfall of customer
orders in relation to our expectations could hurt@perating results, cash flows and financial dtorl

Also, any rapid increases in productiorures by our customers could strain our resouroésraduce our margins. If we underestimate
customer demand, we may not have sufficient invgrdd DRAM ICs and NAND on hand to manufacture egloproduct to meet that dema
We also may not have sufficient manufacturing capat any given time to meet our customers' deradadrapid increases in production.
These shortages of inventory and capacity will leadelays in the delivery of our products, andoeald forego sales opportunities, lose
market share and damage our customer relationships.
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Declines in our average sales prices, driven byatité prices for DRAM ICs and NAND, among other faars, may result in declines in ot
revenues and gross profit.

Our industry is competitive and historigdilas been characterized by declines in averags pake, based in part on the market price of
DRAM ICs and NAND, which have historically constitd a substantial portion of the total cost of m@&mory subsystems. Our average sales
prices may decline due to several factors, inclgdivercapacity in the worldwide supply of DRAM aN&ND memory components as a result
of worldwide economic conditions, increased manuifiacg efficiencies, implementation of new manutaittg processes and expansion of
manufacturing capacity by component suppliers.

Once our prices with a customer are netgatjave are generally unable to revise pricing Wittt customer until our next regularly
scheduled price adjustment. Consequently, we gresexi to the risks associated with the volatilityhe price of DRAM ICs and NAND
during that period. If the market prices for DRARIS and NAND increase, we generally cannot paspribe increases on to our customers fo
products purchased under an existing purchase.okdex result, our cost of sales could increasecamdross margins could decrease.
Alternatively, if there are declines in the pridddiRAM ICs and NAND, we may need to reduce ourisglprices for subsequent purchase
orders, which may result in a decline in our expdatet sales.

In addition, since a large percentage ofsales are to a small number of customers thatrarearily distributors and large OEMSs, these
customers have exerted, and we expect they witirnos to exert, pressure on us to make price ceimmes If not offset by increases in volu
of sales or the sales of newly-developed produdts igher margins, decreases in average salesgwould likely have a material adverse
effect on our business and operating results.

Our production expense and component pseclevels are based in part on our forecasts ofwstomers' future product requirements
to a large extent are fixed in the short term. Assallt, we likely will be unable to adjust sperglon a timely basis to compensate for any
unexpected shortfall in those orders. If we ovéreste customer demand, we may have excess rawiald@eentory of DRAM ICs and
NAND. If there is a subsequent decline in the @icEDRAM ICs or NAND, the value of our inventonyjllfall. As a result, we may need
write-down the value of our DRAM IC or NAND invemig which may result in a significant decreasetin gross margin and financial
condition. Also, to the extent that we manufactur@ducts in anticipation of future demand that doetsmaterialize, or in the event a customel
cancels or reduces outstanding orders, we couldree an unanticipated increase in our finishmmtlg inventory. In the past, we have ha
write-down inventory due to obsolescence, exceastifies and declines in market value below outscasny significant shortfall of customer
orders in relation to our expectations could hurt@perating results, cash flows and financial dtorl

Also, any rapid increases in productioruresl by our customers could strain our resouroésraduce our margins. If we underestimate
customer demand, we may not have sufficient invgrdd DRAM ICs and NAND on hand to manufacture egloproduct to meet that dema
We also may not have sufficient manufacturing capat any given time to meet our customers' deradadrapid increases in production.
These shortages of inventory and capacity will ieadelays in the delivery of our products, andowald forego sales opportunities, lose
market share and damage our customer relationships.
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We use a small number of custom ASIC, DRAM IC andND suppliers and are subject to risks of disruptiin the supply of custom ASIC
DRAM ICs and NAND.

Our ability to fulfill customer orders orqauce qualification samples is dependent on acserfit supply of DRAM ICs and NAND, which
are essential components of our memory subsystétasare also dependent on a sufficient supply diocnASIC devices to produce our
HyperCloud ® memory modules. There are a relatigetyall number of suppliers of DRAM ICs and NANDgdame purchase from only a
subset of these suppliers. We have no long-term MRANAND supply contracts. Additionally, we coufaice obstacles in moving production
of our ASIC components away from our current desigd production partners. Our dependence on a siaber of suppliers and the lack of
any guaranteed sources of ASIC components, DRAMNAIND supply expose us to several risks, includimg inability to obtain an adequate
supply of these important components, price in@gadelivery delays and poor quality.

Historical declines in customer demand amdrevenues caused us to reduce our purchaseRAKOCs and NAND. Such fluctuations
could occur in the future. Should we not maintaiffisient purchase levels with some suppliers, ahility to obtain supplies of raw materials
may be impaired due to the practice of some supplceallocate their products to customers withtiggest regular demand.

From time to time, shortages in DRAM ICsI&AND have required some suppliers to limit thppy of their DRAM ICs and NAND.
As a result, we may be unable to obtain the DRAM ¢€ NAND necessary to fill customers' orders for products in a timely manner. If we
are unable to obtain a sufficient supply of DRAMsI@ NAND to meet our customers' requirements gleestomers may reduce future orders
for our products or not purchase our productslandiich would cause our net sales to decline axthhour operating results. In addition, our
reputation could be harmed, we may not be ableftace any lost business with new customers, anthayelose market share to our
competitors.

Our customers qualify the ASIC componebRRAM ICs and NAND of our suppliers for use in theyrstems. If one of our suppliers
should experience quality control problems, it rbaydisqualified by one or more of our customerss Would disrupt our supplies of ASIC
components, DRAM ICs and NAND and reduce the nurnobsuppliers available to us, and may require Weatualify a new supplier. If our
suppliers are unable to produce qualification sasph a timely basis or at all, we could experiatalays in the qualification process, which
could have a significant impact on our ability &l $hat product.

If the supply of other component materials usedn@nufacture our products is interrupted, or if ounventory becomes obsolete, our rest
of operations and financial condition could be adeely affected.

We use consumables and other componetading PCBs, to manufacture our memory subsyst¥essometimes procure PCBs and
other components from single or limited sourcemk® advantage of volume pricing discounts. Maktshartages or transportation problems
could interrupt the manufacture of our productsifitime to time in the future. These delays in mantufring could adversely affect our results
of operations.

Frequent technology changes and the inttimlu of next-generation products also may resuthe obsolescence of other items of
inventory, such as our custom-built PCBs, whichld@aduce our gross margin and adversely affecbperating performance and financial
condition. We may not be able to sell some proddetsloped for one customer to another customeausecour products are often designed t
address specific customer requirements, and ewea #re able to sell these products to anotheomest, our margin on such products may be
reduced.
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A prolonged disruption of our manufacturing facilit could have a material adverse effect on our bwesn, financial condition and results «
operations.

We maintain a manufacturing facility in tRRC for producing most of our products, whichabaus to utilize our materials and proces
protect our intellectual property and develop #ehhology for manufacturing. A prolonged disrupt@rmaterial malfunction of, interruption
in or the loss of operations at our manufacturanglity, or the failure to maintain a sufficienblar force at such facility, would limit our
capacity to meet customer demand and delay newuptavelopment until a replacement facility andipment, if necessary, were found. -
replacement of the manufacturing facility couldgan extended amount of time before manufactunpggations could restart. The potential
delays and costs resulting from these steps caud b material adverse effect on our businessydimhcondition and results of operations.

If we are unable to manufacture our products effetly, our operating results could suffe

We must continuously review and improve manufacturing processes in an effort to maintatis&ctory manufacturing yields and
product performance, to lower our costs and toretise remain competitive. As we manufacture momaglex products, the risk of
encountering delays or difficulties increases. $taet-up costs associated with implementing newufsanturing technologies, methods and
processes, including the purchase of new equipraadtany resulting manufacturing delays and iniefficies, could negatively impact our
results of operations.

If we need to add manufacturing capacityeapansion of our existing manufacturing facibtyestablishment of a new facility could be
subject to factory audits by our customers. Anyageglor unexpected costs resulting from this auditgss could adversely affect our net sales
and results of operations. In addition, we canmotdrtain that we will be able to increase our nfeturing capacity on a timely basis or meet
the standards of any applicable factory audits.

We depend on third-parties to design and manufaetwustom components for some of our products.

Significant customized components, SUCASBKTS, that are used in some of our products sadhyperCloud® are designed and
manufactured by third parties. The ability and wg@hess of such third parties to perform in accocgawith their agreements with us is largely
outside of our control. If one or more of our desay manufacturing partners fails to perform itfigdtions in a timely manner or at satisfaci
quality levels, our ability to bring products to rket or deliver products to our customers, as aglbur reputation, could suffer. In the event of
any such failures, we may have no readily availalikrnative source of supply for such products;esiin our experience, the lead time nee
to establish a relationship with a new design angvanufacturing partner is at least 12 months,thadkstimated time for our OEM customers
to re-qualify our product with components from avneendor ranges from four to nine months. We caasstire you that we can redesign, or
cause to have redesigned, our customized compottebésmanufactured by a new manufacturer in alyim@nner, nor can we assure you-
we will not infringe on the intellectual property @ur current design or manufacture partner whemegesign the custom components, or ci
such components to be redesigned by a new mantgacfumanufacturing disruption experienced by manufacturing partners, the failure of
our manufacturing partners to dedicate adequatairess to the production of our products, the fai@rinstability of our manufacturing or
design partners, or any other failure of our desigmanufacturing partners to perform accordinth&r agreements with us, would have a
material adverse effect on our business, finargabition and results of operations.

We have many other risks due to our depeeelen third-party manufacturers, including: redlcentrol over delivery schedules, quality,
manufacturing yields and cost; the potential latkaequate capacity during periods of excess demianited warranties on products supplied
to us; and potential misappropriation of our irgelual property. We are dependent on our manuiagtpartners to
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manufacture products with acceptable quality andufecturing yields, to deliver those products tmuosa timely basis and to allocate a por

of their manufacturing capacity sufficient to meat needs. Although our products are designed ubmgrocess design rules of the particular
manufacturers, we cannot assure you that our metuufiag partners will be able to achieve or maim@iceptable yields or deliver sufficient
guantities of components on a timely basis or ed@®eptable cost. Additionally, we cannot assurethat our manufacturing partners will
continue to devote adequate resources to produgeroducts or continue to advance the process nésnnologies on which the qualification
and manufacturing of our products are based.

If our products do not meet the quality standardsaur customers, we may be forced to stop shipmerfifgsroducts until the quality issue
are resolved.

Our customers require our products to gt quality standards. Should our products neetisuch standards, our customers may
discontinue purchases from us until we are abtegolve the quality issues that are causing ustoneet the standards. Such "quality holds"
could have a significant adverse impact on ourmaes and operating results.

If our products are defective or are used in defeetsystems, we may be subject to warranty, prodecalls or product liability claims

If our products are defectively manufactijreontain defective components or are used inctigéeor malfunctioning systems, we could
subject to warranty and product liability claimsigroduct recalls, safety alerts or advisory natié&hile we have product liability insurance
coverage, it may not be adequate to satisfy clamade against us. We also may be unable to obtsimance in the future at satisfactory rates
or in adequate amounts. Warranty and product itgtmlaims or product recalls, regardless of thdfimate outcome, could have an adverse
effect on our business, financial condition ancdutefion, and on our ability to attract and retaistomers. In addition, we may determine th
is in our best interest to accept product retunnsricumstances where we are not contractuallygabdd to do so in order to maintain good
relations with our customers. Accepting produaime$ may negatively impact our operating results.

If we fail to protect our proprietary rights, ourustomers or our competitors might gain access tao ptoprietary designs, processes a
technologies, which could adversely affect our oating results.

We rely on a combination of patent protttitrade secret laws and restrictions on discetuprotect our intellectual property rights. '
have submitted a number of patent applicationsrdégg our proprietary processes and technologg.rbt certain when or if any of the claims
in the remaining applications will be allowed. Alsliecember 28, 2013, we had 40 U.S. patents is8Mledntend to continue filing patent
applications with respect to most of the new preessand technologies that we develop. Howevernpptetection may not be available for
some of these processes or technologies.

It is possible that our efforts to proteat intellectual property rights may not:

. prevent challenges to, or the invalidation or aimeention of, our existing intellectual propertyhtg;

. prevent our competitors from independently develgmimilar products, duplicating our products osigaing around any
patents that may be issued to us;

. prevent disputes with third parties regarding owhgr of our intellectual property rights;
. prevent disclosure of our trade secrets and know-ochird parties or into the public domain;
. result in valid patents, including internatiopaltents, from any of our pending or future appidaes; or
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. otherwise adequately protect our intellectual priypeghts.

Others may attempt to reverse engineery ocoptherwise obtain and use our proprietary tetdgies without our consent. Monitoring the
unauthorized use of our technologies is difficie cannot be certain that the steps we have takeprevent the unauthorized use of our
technologies. This is particularly true in foreigountries, such as the PRC, where we have establsimanufacturing facility and where the
laws may not protect our proprietary rights to saene extent as applicable U.S. laws.

If some or all of the claims in our patapplications are not allowed, or if any of our Ifgetual property protections are limited in scope
by the USPTO or by a court or circumvented by athee could face increased competition with regaraur products. Increased competition
could significantly harm our business and our ofyegaresults.

We are involved in and expect to continue to bediwed in costly legal and administrative proceedingp defend against claims that we
infringe the intellectual property rights of othersr to enforce or protect our intellectual propertights.

As is common to the semiconductor industry ,have experienced substantial litigation regaygiatent and other intellectual property
rights. Lawsuits claiming that we are infringindnets' intellectual property rights have been angl imahe future be brought against us, anc
are currently defending against claims of invajidiit the USPTO. See Note 9 of Notes to the Conat#idl Financial Statements, for a more
detailed description of our legal contingenciesfa®ecember 28, 2013.

The process of obtaining and protectin@mistis inherently uncertain. In addition to théepaissuance process established by law and t
procedures of the USPTO, we must comply with Jalattron Device Engineering Council JEDEC") administrative procedures in
protecting our intellectual property within its imtry standard setting process. These proceduobgeesver time, are subject to variability in
their application, and may be inconsistent withheather. Failure to comply with JEDEC's administtafprocedures could jeopardize our
ability to claim that our patents have been infedg

By making use of new technologies and émgemew markets there is an increased likelihoed thhers might allege that our products
infringe on their intellectual property rights. igation is inherently uncertain, and an adverseaut in existing or any future litigation could
subject us to significant liability for damagesimvalidate our proprietary rights. An adverse outeocalso could force us to take specific
actions, including causing us to:

. cease manufacturing and/or selling productsisarg certain processes, that are claimed to biegifig a third party's
intellectual property;

. pay damages (which in some instances may be times tictual damages), including royalties on pagitare sales;

. seek a license from the third party intellectualpgmrty owner to use their technology in our produeathich license may not be
available on reasonable terms, or at all; or

. redesign those products that are claimed tobmging a third party's intellectual property.

If any adverse ruling in any such mattesurs, any resulting limitations in our ability tcanket our products, or delays and costs
associated with redesigning our products or paysehlicense fees to third parties, or any failbyeus to develop or license a substitute
technology on commercially reasonable terms coalceha material adverse effect on our businessydinbcondition and results of operations.
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There is a limited pool of experienced tachl personnel that we can draw upon to meet oinghneeds. As a result, a number of our
existing employees have worked for our existingatential competitors at some point during thereeas, and we anticipate that a number of
our future employees will have similar work his&si In the past, some of these competitors havaaththat our employees misappropriated
their trade secrets or violated non-competitionam-solicitation agreements. Some of our competihoay threaten or bring legal action
involving similar claims against us or our existieigployees or make such claims in the future tegureus from hiring qualified candidates.
Lawsuits of this type may be brought, even if thiereo merit to the claim, simply as a strategyrain our financial resources and divert
management's attention away from our business.

We also may find it necessary to litigagaiast others, including our competitors, custonaed former employees, to enforce our
intellectual property, contractual and commerdigits including, in particular, our trade secretswell as to challenge the validity and scope
of the proprietary rights of others. We could beemubject to counterclaims or countersuits agaisists a result of this litigation. Moreover,
any legal disputes with customers could cause tioerease buying or using our products or delay fh@ichase of our products and could
substantially damage our relationship with them.

Any litigation, regardless of its outcomeuld be time consuming and costly to resolve, disar management's time and attention and
negatively impact our results of operations. Wencarmssure you that current or future infringena@aiims by third parties or claims for
indemnification by customers or end users of oodpcts resulting from infringement claims will rmg asserted in the future or that such
assertions, if proven to be true, will not matdyialdversely affect our business, financial comditor results of operations.

We may become involved in non-patent related litiga and administrative proceedings that may matdly adversely affect us.

From time to time, we may become involvedarious legal proceedings relating to matterglgtal to the ordinary course of our
business, including commercial, product liabilgynployment, class action, whistleblower and othiggation and claims, and governmental
other regulatory investigations and proceedingshSuatters can be time-consuming, divert managésatiention and resources and cause L
to incur significant expenses. Furthermore, becttigation is inherently unpredictable, the resulf any of these actions could have a mat
adverse effect on our business, results of op&mtio financial condition.

If we are required to obtain licenses to use thjpdrty intellectual property and we fail to do sajrobusiness could be harme

Although some of the components used infioat products contain the intellectual properfythird parties, we believe that our suppliers
bear the sole responsibility to obtain any righitd kcenses to such third party intellectual propehile we have no knowledge that any third
party licensor disputes our belief, we cannot asgou that disputes will not arise in the futurbeToperation of our business and our ability to
compete successfully depends significantly on omtinued operation without claims of infringementdemands resulting from such claims,
including demands for payments of money in the fofpfor example, ongoing licensing fees.

We are also developing products to enter markets. Similar to our current products, we raag components in these new products tha
contain the intellectual property of third parti#ghile we plan to exercise precautions to avoidnging on the intellectual property rights of
third parties, we cannot assure you that disputkset arise.
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If it is determined that we are requireadhtain inbound licenses and we fail to obtainns®s, or if such licenses are not available on
economically feasible terms, our business, opegatisults and financial condition could be sigrmifily harmed.

The flash memory market is constantly evolving acmimpetitive, and we may not have rights to manutaetand sell certain types of
products utilizing emerging flash formats, or we me required to pay a royalty to sell productsliathg these formats

The flash-based storage market is congtantiergoing rapid technological change and evglundustry standards. Many consumer
devices, such as digital cameras, PDAs and smargshare transitioning to emerging flash memoryntas, such as the Memory Stick, and
Picture Card formats, which we do not currently ofanture and do not have rights to manufacturéngMgh we do not currently serve the
consumer flash market, it is possible that cer@iiiMs may choose to adopt these higher-volume, lmest formats. This could result in a
decline in demand, on a relative basis, for otliedpcts that we manufacture such as CompactFl&slanl embedded USB drives. If we
decide to manufacture flash memory products utigizmerging formats such as those mentioned, wd&ilequired to secure licenses to give
us the right to manufacture such products that ndyoe available at reasonable rates or at allelfire not able to supply flash card formats a
competitive prices or if we were to have produdrsges, our net sales could be adversely impaatddur customers would likely cancel
orders or seek other suppliers to replace us.

Our indemnification obligations for the infringemenby our products of the intellectual property rigghof others could require us to pay
substantial damage:

As is common in the industry, we currerithwe in effect a number of agreements in which aweelagreed to defend, indemnify and hold
harmless our customers and suppliers from damagksasts which may arise from the infringement by groducts of third-party patents,
trademarks or other proprietary rights. The scdpgioh indemnity varies, but may, in some instapcesude indemnification for damages anc
expenses, including attorneys' fees. Our insurdoes not cover intellectual property infringemditte term of these indemnification
agreements is generally perpetual any time aftecaion of the agreement. The maximum potentialuarhof future payments we could be
required to make under these indemnification agesgsis unlimited. We may periodically have to msphto claims and litigate these types of
indemnification obligations. Although our suppliensy bear responsibility for the intellectual pragenherent in the components they sell to
us, they may lack the financial ability to standhinel such indemnities. Additionally, it may be dpdb enforce any indemnifications that they
have granted to us. Accordingly, any indemnificatidaims by customers could require us to incunificant legal fees and could potentially
result in the payment of substantial damages, dbttrhich could result in a material adverse effatiour business and results of operations.

We depend on a few key employees, and if we loseséivices of any of those employees or are unéblere additional personnel, our
business could be harmed.

To date, we have been highly dependenherxperience, relationships and technical knovdexfgcertain key employees. We believe
that our future success will be dependent on ollityatn retain the services of these key employekevelop their successors, reduce our
reliance on them, and properly manage the transitfaheir roles should departures occur. The tifighese key employees could delay the
development and introduction of, and negativelyactmur ability to sell, our products and otherwhisem our business. We do not have
employment agreements with any of these key empwgther than Chun K. Hong, our President, Chiefchtive Officer and Chairman of the
Board. We maintain "Key Man" life insurance on CHurHong; however, we do not carry "Key Man" lifesurance on any of our other key
employees.
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Our future success also depends on outyatuilattract, retain and motivate highly skilledgineering, manufacturing, and other technica
and sales personnel. Competition for experiencesbpeel is intense. We may not be successful iaaibg new engineers or other technical
personnel, or in retaining or motivating our exigtpersonnel. If we are unable to hire and retagireeers with the skills necessary to keep
pace with the evolving technologies in our markets, ability to continue to provide our current guats and to develop new or enhanced
products will be negatively impacted, which woulttim our business. In addition, the shortage of e&peed engineers, and other factors, ma
lead to increased recruiting, relocation and corapgon costs for such engineers, which may excaeéxpectations and resources. These
increased costs may make hiring new engineersdiffior may increase our operating expenses.

Historically, a significant portion of owrkforce has consisted of contract personnel. West considerable time and expense in trai
these contract employees. We may experience higbwvar rates in our contract employee workforceictvimay require us to expend
additional resources in the future. If we convery af these contract employees into permanent eyapky we may have to pay finder's fees to
the contract agency.

We rely on third-party manufacturers' representatis and the failure of these manufacturers' represatives to perform as expected could
reduce our future sales.

We sell some of our products to customemisugh manufacturers' representatives. We are enalgredict the extent to which our
manufacturers' representatives will be successfolarketing and selling our products. Moreover, ynafnour manufacturers' representatives
also market and sell other, potentially competingdpcts. Our representatives may terminate th&tiomships with us at any time. Our future
performance will also depend, in part, on our aptlb attract additional manufacturers' represérgatthat will be able to market and support
our products effectively, especially in marketsvimich we have not previously distributed our pradutf we cannot retain our current
manufacturers' representatives or recruit additioneeplacement manufacturers' representativassaes and operating results will be harn

The operation of our manufacturing facility in théRC could expose us to significant risks.

Since 2009, substantially all of our wowéle manufacturing production has been performamlamanufacturing facility in the PRC.
Language and cultural differences, as well as #wgrpphic distance from our headquarters in In@adifornia, further compound the
difficulties of running a manufacturing operationthe PRC. Our management has limited experiencesiting or overseeing foreign
operations, and this facility may divert substdrdimounts of their time. We may not be able to r@imcontrol over product quality, delivery
schedules, manufacturing yields and costs. Furtbexnthe costs related to having excess capacity imathe past and may in the future
continue to have an adverse impact on our grosginsaand operating results.

We manage a local workforce that may suhjedo regulatory uncertainties. Changes in therldaws of the PRC could increase the cost
of employing the local workforce. The increasedustdialization of the PRC, as well as general eatin@nd political conditions in the PRC,
could also increase the price of local labor. Any@ombination of these factors could negativelpact the cost savings we currently enjoy
from having our manufacturing facility in the PRC.

Economic, political and other risks associated wititernational sales and operations could adversaffect our net sales

Part of our growth strategy involves mak#ades to foreign corporations and delivering aodpcts to facilities located in foreign
countries. To facilitate this process and to meetlong-term projected demand for our productshasge set up a manufacturing facility in the
PRC. Selling and

28




Table of Contents

manufacturing in foreign countries subjects usddittonal risks not present with our domestic ofieres. We are operating in business and
regulatory environments in which we have limited\pous experience. We will need to continue to owere language and cultural barriers to
effectively conduct our operations in these envinents. In addition, the economies of the PRC ahdratountries have been highly volatile in
the past, resulting in significant fluctuationdaesal currencies and other instabilities. Theseainifities affect a number of our customers and
suppliers in addition to our foreign operations andtinue to exist or may occur again in the future

In the future, some of our net sales magdiominated in Chinese Renminbi ("RMB"). The Chingovernment controls the procedures
by which RMB is converted into other currencies] aonversion of RMB generally requires governmemsent. As a result, RMB may not be
freely convertible into other currencies at allésgn|f the Chinese government institutes changearirency conversion procedures, or imposes
restrictions on currency conversion, those actioag negatively impact our operations and could cedwr operating results. In addition,
fluctuations in the exchange rate between RMB ar@l Wollars may adversely affect our expenses esuts of operations as well as the valu
of our assets and liabilities. These fluctuatiorzs/ralso adversely affect the comparability of oeniqd-toperiod results. If we decide to decl
dividends and repatriate funds from our Chineseaifmns, we will be required to comply with the pedures and regulations of applicable
Chinese law. Any changes to these procedures guthtens, or our failure to comply with those pedares and regulations, could prevent us
from making dividends and repatriating funds froan €hinese operations, which could adversely affectfinancial condition. If we are able
to make dividends and repatriate funds from oun€$e operations, these dividends would be sulyjddtS. corporate income tax.

International turmoil and the threat ofufii terrorist attacks, both domestically and ireéiomally, have contributed to an uncertain
political and economic climate, both in the U.Sd gtobally, and have negatively impacted the woitthaeconomy. The occurrence of one or
more of these instabilities could adversely affaat foreign operations and some of our customessippliers, each of which could adversely
affect our net sales. In addition, our failure teahapplicable regulatory requirements or overcoutigiral barriers could result in production
delays and increased turn-around times, which wadicrsely affect our business.

Our international sales are subject tootis&s, including regulatory risks, tariffs andhet trade barriers, timing and availability of expo
licenses, political and economic instability, difflties in accounts receivable collections, diffil@s in managing distributors, lack of a
significant local sales presence, difficulties btaining governmental approvals, compliance withide variety of complex foreign laws and
treaties and potentially adverse tax consequehtesldition, the U.S. or foreign countries may igrpkent quotas, duties, taxes or other charge
or restrictions upon the importation or exportatadrour products, leading to a reduction in sales jprofitability in that country.

Our operations could be disrupted by power outagestural disasters or other factors.

Due to the geographic concentration ofrmanufacturing operations and the operations ofredf our suppliers, a disruption resulting
from equipment failure, power failures, quality tahissues, human error, government interventionatural disasters, including earthquakes
and floods like those that have struck Japan aradartd, respectively, could interrupt or interferith our manufacturing operations and
consequently harm our business, financial condiot results of operations. Such disruptions wealdgse significant delays in shipments of
our products and adversely affect our operatingltgs
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Our failure to comply with environmental laws anagulations could subject us to significant fines @fiabilities or cause us to incur
significant costs

We are subject to various and frequenthngfing U.S. federal, state and local and foreigregumental laws and regulations relating to
the protection of the environment, including thgseerning the discharge of pollutants into theasid water, the management and disposal of
hazardous substances and wastes, the cleanuptafiinated sites and the maintenance of a safe Vemdpln particular, some of our
manufacturing processes may require us to handlelispose of hazardous materials from time to tiroe.example, in the past our
manufacturing operations have used lead-basedrsoltiee assembly of our products. Today, we uad-feee soldering technologies in our
manufacturing processes, as this is required fodymts entering the European Union. We could isalnstantial costs, including clean-up
costs, civil or criminal fines or sanctions anddhparty claims for property damage or personairinjas a result of violations of, or
noncompliance with, environmental laws and regafeti These laws and regulations also could reguite incur significant costs to remain in
compliance.

Our internal controls over financial reporting manot be effective, which could have a significant@adverse effect on our business.

Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act df28nd the related rules and regulations of the, SEl@h we collectively refer to as
Section 404, require us to evaluate our internatrods over financial reporting to allow managemtenteport on those internal controls as of
the end of each year. Effective internal controésraecessary for us to produce reliable finaneipbrts and are important in our effort to
prevent financial fraud. In the course of our Sat#d04 evaluations, we may identify conditions tinaty result in significant deficiencies or
material weaknesses and we may conclude that eaimamts, modifications or changes to our internatrods are necessary or desirable.
Implementing any such matters would divert therditbe of our management, could involve significaasts, and may negatively impact our
results of operations.

We note that there are inherent limitationghe effectiveness of internal controls, as tteaynot prevent collusion, management override
or failure of human judgment. If we fail to maimain effective system of internal controls or ifragement or our independent registered
public accounting firm were to discover materiakkmesses in our internal controls, we may be unabpeoduce reliable financial reports or
prevent fraud, and it could harm our financial dtind and results of operations, result in a losseestor confidence and negatively impact
our stock price.

If we do not effectively manage future growth, otgsources, systems and controls may be strained@amdresults of operations may suffe

Any future growth may strain our resourgaanagement information and telecommunication systand operational and financial
controls. To manage future growth effectively, tdihg any expansion of volume in our manufactufamility in the PRC, we must be able to
improve and expand our systems and controls. Wermaale able to do this in a timely or cost-effeetmanner, and our current systems and
controls may not be adequate to support our futpezations. In addition, our officers have reldinManited experience in managing a rapidly
growing business. As a result, they may not be tbprovide the guidance necessary to manage fgtoseth or maintain future market
position. Any failure to manage our growth or imper expand our existing systems and controlanexpected difficulties in doing so, cot
harm our business.
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If we acquire other businesses or technologieshe future, these acquisitions could disrupt our baess and harm our operating resul
and financial condition.

We will evaluate opportunities to acquitesinesses or technologies that might complementwuent product offerings or enhance our
technical capabilities. We have no experience quaing other businesses or technologies. Acqoisgtientail a number of risks that could
adversely affect our business and operating resottuding, but not limited to:

. difficulties in integrating the operations, tedfogies or products of the acquired companies;

. the diversion of management's time and atterftimm the normal daily operations of the business;

. insufficient increases in net sales to offset@éased expenses associated with acquisitionsjairad companies;

. difficulties in retaining business relationshipgh suppliers and customers of the acquired congsa

. the overestimation of potential synergies or ay&laealizing those synergies;

. entering markets in which we have no or limitedexignce and in which competitors have stronger etgssitions; and
. the potential loss of key employees of the acqui@dpanies.

Future acquisitions also could cause usdor debt or be subject to contingent liabilitissaddition, acquisitions could cause us to issue
equity securities that could dilute the ownerstepcpntages of our existing stockholders. Furthegmaequisitions may result in material
charges or adverse tax consequences, substargiakcigion, deferred compensation charges, in-pooesearch and development charges, t
amortization of amounts related to deferred stoageld compensation expense and identifiable purdhatangible assets or impairment of
goodwill, any or all of which could negatively afteour results of operations.

Our principal stockholders have significant votingower and may take actions that may not be in tlestointerest of our other stockholders.

As of February 28, 2014, approximately %4.4f our outstanding common stock was held byiafék, including 14.6% held by Chun K.
Hong, our chief executive officer and chairman of board of directors. As a result, Mr. Hong hasability to exert substantial influence over
all matters requiring approval by our stockholdarsluding the election and removal of directorsl any proposed merger, consolidation or
sale of all or substantially all of our assets atiter corporate transactions. This concentratioroatrol could be disadvantageous to other
stockholders with interests different from thosevsf Hong.

Anti-takeover provisions under our charter documentsdaDelaware law could delay or prevent a change ohtrol and could also limit the
market price of our stock.

Our certificate of incorporation and bylagentain provisions that could delay or prevenhange of control of our company or change
our board of directors that our stockholders miginisider favorable. In addition, these provisioogld limit the price that investors would be
willing to pay in the future for shares of our cowmstock. The following are examples of provisiagch are included in our certificate of
incorporation and bylaws, each as amended:

. our board of directors is authorized, without psteckholder approval, to designate and issue pegfestock, commonly
referred to as "blank check" preferred stock, widints senior to those of our common stock;
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. stockholder action by written consent is prohibited

. nominations for election to our board of directansl the submission of matters to be acted upomdokisolders at a meeting ¢
subject to advance notice requirements; and

. our board of directors is expressly authorizechbike, alter or repeal our bylaws.

In addition, we are governed by the prarisiof Section 203 of the Delaware General Corpdratv, which may prohibit certain busine
combinations with stockholders owning 15% or mdrewr outstanding voting stock. These and othevisions in our certificate of
incorporation and bylaws, and of Delaware law, daubke it more difficult for stockholders or pot@h&icquirers to obtain control of our
board of directors or initiate actions that areagga by the then-current board of directors, indgdlelaying or impeding a merger, tender
offer, or proxy contest or other change of contrahsaction involving our company. Any delay oryenetion of a change of control transaction
or changes in our board of directors could pretfsmiconsummation of a transaction in which ourldtotders could receive a substantial
premium over the then-current market price forrtebares.

The price of and volume in trading of our commonosk has and may continue to fluctuate significantly

Our common stock has been publicly tradedesNovember 2006. The price of our common stouktae trading volume of our shares
volatile and have in the past fluctuated signiftbanThere can be no assurance as to the prioghiah our common stock will trade in the
future or that an active trading market in our casnrstock will be sustained in the future. The magkee at which our common stock trades
may be influenced by many factors, including butlimited to, the following:

. our operating and financial performance and peots, including our ability to achieve and sustainfitability in the future;
. investor perception of us and the industry in whighoperate;

. the availability and level of research coveragara market making in our common stock;

. changes in earnings estimates or buy/sell recomatiems by analysts;

. sales of our newly issued common stock or otheuritezs associated with our $40 million effectiveelf registration, or the

perception that such sales may occur;
. general financial and other market conditioms] a

. changing and recently volatile domestic andrima&onal economic conditions.

In addition, shares of our common stock i@dpublic stock markets in general have expeeiénand may continue to experience,
extreme price and trading volume volatility. Thélsetuations may adversely affect the market pateur common stock and a stockholder's
ability to sell their shares into the market at desired time or at the desired price.

In 2007, following a drop in the marketqgeriof our common stock, securities litigation waiated against us. Given the historic volati
of our industry, we may become engaged in this tfgeigation in the future. Securities litigatios expensive and time-consuming.
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Item 2. Properties

Our corporate headquarters is located magmately 8,203 square feet of space in Irvinalif@rnia, under a lease that expires in Octt
2016. We also currently lease approximately 42 stifare feet of space for our manufacturing facititthe PRC. This lease expires in March
2017.

We believe that our current facilities adequate for our current and expected operatiarthdéonext twelve months and that additional
space can be obtained if needed.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

The information set forth in the sectionithed Litigation and Patent Reexaminations undete\d of Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements, included in Part IV, Item 15 of thip&® is incorporated herein by reference.

PART Il
ltem 5. Market for Registrant's Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases &quity Securities

Our common stock began trading on The NASDBlobal Market under the trading symbol "NLST"avember 30, 2006, and was not
publicly traded prior to that date. The followirapte sets forth the high and low sale prices farammmon stock on the NASDAQ Global
Market for the periods indicated:

High Low

Year Ended December 28, 201

Fourth Quarte $ 1.0t $ 0.5:

Third Quartel 1.2C 0.7t

Second Quarte 1.2¢ 0.51

First Quarte 0.87 0.61
Year Ended December 29, 2012

Fourth Quarte $ 132 $ 0.6F

Third Quartel 2.3z 1.2C

Second Quarte 3.5 2.0¢

First Quarte 4,24 2.41

As of February 28, 2014 there were apprexéty 34 holders of record of our common shares.
Dividend Policy

We have never declared or paid cash dididem our capital stock. Our current credit fagiptohibits the payment of cash dividends.
Accordingly, we do not anticipate declaring or paytcash dividends on our capital stock in the feeable future. Any payments of cash
dividends will be at the discretion of our boarddafctors, and will depend upon our results ofrapens, earnings, capital requirements, lega
and contractual restrictions, and other factorsraégkrelevant by our board of directors.

Securities Authorized for Issuance under Equity Comensation Plans

Our board of directors and stockholderwipngsly approved our Amended and Restated 2000t ndentive Plan and our Amended and
Restated 2006 Equity Incentive Plan. Except asdigt the table below, as of December 28, 2013jeveot have any equity based plans,
including individual
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compensation arrangements that have not been aaphyvour stockholders. The following table progide&formation as of December 28,
2013 with respect to our equity compensation plans:

Number of securities
remaining available for

Number of securities Weighted-average future issuance under
to be issued upon exercise exercise price of equity compensation plans
of outstanding options, outstanding options, (excluding securities
Plan Category warrants and rights warrants and rights reflected in column (a))

@ (b) (c)

Equity compensation plan

approved by security

holders 5,495,221 $ 3.2¢ 753,01((1)
Equity compensation plan

not approved by securit

holders — — —
Total 5,495,221 $ 3.2¢ 753,01(

Q) Subject to certain adjustments, on DecembgeP@83, we currently are able to issue a maximu,@&d5,566 shares of
common stock pursuant to awards granted under maniled and Restated 2006 Equity Incentive Plart Mmaaimum
number will automatically increase on the first ddiyeach calendar year by the lesser of (i) 5.0%@fumber of shares
of common stock that are issued and outstanding the first day of the calendar year, and (ii))aD D00 shares of
common stock, subject to adjustment for certaipo@te actions.

See Note 10 of Notes to Consolidated Financiak8tants, included in Part IV, Item 15 of this Repfint additional
information on equity compensation pla

Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis &inancial Condition and Results of Operations

The following discussion and analysis of our fiahcondition and results of operations should kad in conjunction with our audited
consolidated financial statements and the relate@s included elsewhere in this Form 10-K.

This report contains forward-looking statementsameting future events and our future performanceesehforward-looking statements
involve risks and uncertainties that could causeiakresults to differ materially from those expetbr projected. These risks and uncertair
include, but are not limited to risks associatethvihe launch and commercial success of our pragymbgrams and technologies; the succes
of product partnerships; continuing developmenglidication and volume production of EXPRESSvaulNVyault™, HyperCloud® and VLP
Planar-X RDIMM; the timing and magnitude of the contingedtrease in sales to one of our key customerability to leverage our
NVvault™ technology into a more diverse customeebaur need to raise additional capital and ouili§pto obtain financing whei
necessary; the rapidly-changing nature of techngjatsks associated with intellectual property, liing patent infringement litigation
against us as well as the costs and unpredictghilitlitigation over infringement of our intelleaiuproperty and the possibility of our patents
being reexamined by the USPTO; volatility in thizipg of DRAM ICs and NAND; changes in and uncetiabf customer acceptance of, and
demand for, our existing products and products umgwelopment, including uncertainty of and/or gslén product orders and product
qualifications; delays in our and our customersguct releases and development; introductions of peducts by competitors; changes in
end-user demand for technology solutions; our gbib attract and retain skilled personnel; ouriegice on suppliers of critical components
and vendors in the supply chain; fluctuations ia tharket price of critical components; evolvinguetty standards; and the political and
regulatory environment in the PRC. Other risks andertainties are described under the heading "Ragtors" in Part |, Iltem IA of this
Annual Report on Form -K. Except as required by law, we undertake nogattion to revise or update publicly any forward-imgy
statements for any reason.
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Overview

We design, manufacture and sell a widestyiof high-performance, logisased memory subsystems for the global dataceteage an
high-performance computing markets. Our memory y&tbss consist of combinations of dynamic randooess memory integrated circuits
("DRAM ICs" or "DRAM"), NAND flash memory ("NAND"),application specific integrated circuits ("ASICsid other components
assembled on printed circuit boards ("PCBs"). Wmarily market and sell our products to leadinggoral equipment manufacturer ("OEM")
customers. Our solutions are targeted at applicatichere memory plays a key role in meeting systerformance requirements. We leverage
a portfolio of proprietary technologies and dedigchniques, including combining discrete semicotmiutechnologies such as DRAM and
NAND flash to function as one, efficient planar id@san alternative packaging techniques to delimemory subsystems with persistence, t
density, small form factor, high signal integrisittractive thermal characteristics, reduced powesamption and low cost per bit.

In November 2009, we introduced HyperCloud®R3 memory technology. HyperCloud® utilizes anl@®hipset that incorporates
Netlist patented rank multiplication technologytthrcreases memory capacity and load reductiomtdolyy that increases memory bandwir
We expect that these patented technologies willenpaissible improved levels of performance for mgniiiensive datacenter applications .
workloads, including enterprise virtualization, wtbcomputing infrastructure, business intelligeread-time data analytics, and high
performance computing. In November 2011, we intoedithe world's first 32GB two-virtual rank RDIMMdorporating HyperCloud®
technology. The new memory modules enable up t&B58f DRAM memory in two-processor servers.

Also in November 2011, we announced collathee agreements with each of Hewlett-Packard Gom"HP") and International
Business Machines ("IBM"), pursuant to which th€&eMs have cooperated with us in efforts to quatfyperCloud® memory products for
use with their respective products. In February2a&id May 2012, we achieved memory qualificatiofgperCloud® at IBM and HP,
respectively. While we and each of the OEMs conediftnancial and other resources toward the cotktiom, the efforts undertaken under
these collaborative agreements have not resultsigjiificant revenues and product margins for ugdie relative to our investment in
developing and marketing this product.

Our NVvault™ product was the first to offesth DRAM and NAND in a standard form factor megsnsubsystem as a persistent dual in
line memory module ("DIMM") in mission critical apppations. The NVvault™ product line historicallpmrsisted of battery-free and battery-
powered cache memory subsystem targeting RAID géoagplications. NVvault™ battery-free providesyseand storage OEMSs a solution
for enhanced datacenter fault recovery. The NVvdysroducts have historically been sold primarilybtell, most recently for incorporation in
its PERC 7 server products. Following Intel's lduntits Romley platform in the first quarter of2) we have experienced a rapid decline in
NVvault™ sales to Dell. Sales of NVvault™ produttiDell totaled $5.5 million and $15.7 million ftre years ended December 28, 2013
December 29, 2012, respectively. We expect thatdugales of NVvault™ products for incorporatiotoiPERC 7 servers will be minimal.
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Beginning in 2014, NVvault will be utilizéd DDR3 and DDR4 main memory sockets for applamaperformance and data integrity. In
order to leverage our NVvault™ technology into arendiverse customer base, we continue to pursuéiaud qualifications of NVvault™
with other customers. We also introduced EXPRESEWYain March 2011, and continue to pursue qualtfimas of next generation DDR3
NVvault™ with customers. However, our efforts mapt result in significant revenues from the sal®¥fvault™ products

The remainder of our revenues arose priynitam OEM sales of specialty memory modules dadH-based products, the majority of
which were utilized in data center and industriglacations. When developing custom modules foegnipment product launch, we engage
with our OEM customers from the earliest stagesent product definition, providing us unique insightb their full range of system
architecture and performance requirements. Thiseabmllaboration has also allowed us to develagraficant level of systems expertise. We
leverage a portfolio of proprietary technologied a@esign techniques, including efficient planarigiesalternative packaging techniques and
custom semiconductor logic, to deliver memory ssbays with high speed, capacity and signal intggsihall form factor, attractive thermal
characteristics and low cost per bit. Revenues fsamspecialty modules and flash-based productsusgct to fluctuation as a result of the
life cycles of the products into which our modudes incorporated. Our ability to continue to progluevenues from specialty memory module:
and flash-based products is dependent on ounatuliqualify our products on new platforms as carggatforms reach the end of their
lifecycles, and on the state of the global economy.

Consistent with the concentrated naturdn@fOEM customer base in our target markets, al smaiber of large customers have
historically accounted for a significant portionaxfr net sales. Two customers represented appréedyrdb% and 15% of our net sales in 2012
and 60% and 18% of our net sales in 2012, respygtiv

Key Business Metrics

The following describes certain line item®ur consolidated statements of comprehensivetlta are important to management's
assessment of our financial performance:

Net Sales. Net sales consist primarily of sales of ouhhpgrformance memory subsystems, net of a provisioastimated returns unc
our right of return policies, which generally rangeto 30 days. We generally do not have long-teaies agreements with our customers.
Although OEM customers typically provide us withndoinding forecasts of future product demand ovectjpgoeriods of time, they genera
place orders with us approximately two weeks inaabe of scheduled delivery. Selling prices arecify negotiated monthly, based on
competitive market conditions and the current patBRAM ICs and NAND. Purchase orders generallyehao cancellation or rescheduling
penalty provisions. We often ship our productsuo @stomers' international manufacturing sitesoAbur sales to date, however, are
denominated in U.S. dollars. We also sell excesgpoment inventory of DRAM ICs and NAND to distrilous and other users of memory ICs.
Component inventory sales are a relatively smaligrgage of net sales as a result of our effortbviersify both our customer and product line
bases. This diversification effort has also allowedo use components in a wider range of memdrgyaiems. We expect that component
inventory sales will continue to represent a midipation of our net sales in future periods.

Cost of Sales. Our cost of sales includes the cost of marlabor and other manufacturing costs, depreciatial amortization of
equipment, inventory valuation provisions, stoclkdmhcompensation, and occupancy costs and otbeatdt fixed costs. The DRAM ICs and
NAND incorporated into our products constitute gn#ficant portion of our cost of sales, and thus aast of sales will fluctuate based on
current price of DRAM ICs and NAND. We attempt t@sp through such DRAM IC and NAND flash memory d¢hsttuations to our
customers by frequently
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renegotiating pricing prior to the placement ofithpirchase orders. However, the sales prices oframory subsystems can also fluctuate du
to competitive situations unrelated to the priaridPRAM ICs and NAND, which affects gross margiiiie gross margin on our sales of
excess component DRAM IC and NAND inventory is mimklier than the gross margin on our sales of ounorg subsystems. As a result,
fluctuations in DRAM IC and NAND inventory sales apercentage of our overall sales could impacbwarall gross margin. We assess the
valuation of our inventories on a quarterly basid eecord a provision to cost of sales as necessasduce inventories to the lower of cost or
net realizable value.

Research and DevelopmentResearch and development expense consistsripyimiaemployee and independent contractor
compensation and related costs, stock-based comgmsnon-recurring engineering fees, computeegidesign software licenses, reference
design development costs, patent filing and prairdegal fees, depreciation or rental of evaluagguipment, and occupancy and other
allocated overhead costs. Also included in reseanchdevelopment expense are the costs of madedabverhead related to the production of
engineering samples of new products under developorgroducts used solely in the research andldpreent process. Our customers
typically do not separately compensate us for deaigl engineering work involved in developing aggtiion-specific products for them. All
research and development costs are expensed aethdm order to conserve capital resources intlaf the significant year over year revenue
decline, we have materially reduced our researdhdanelopment expenditures by reducing headcouhpesfessional and outside service
costs. However, we anticipate that research andldpment expenditures will increase in future pesias we seek to expand new product
opportunities, increase our activities relatedé¢armnd emerging markets and continue to develojtiaial proprietary technologies.

Selling, General and Administrative.Selling, general and administrative expensesisbprimarily of employee salaries and related
costs, stock-based compensation, independentreglesentative commissions, professional servaresnotional and other selling and
marketing expenses, and occupancy and other akbcaterhead costs. A significant portion of oulisgleffort is directed at building
relationships with OEMs and other customers andimgrthrough the product approval and qualificatprzacess with them. Therefore, the ¢
of material and overhead related to products matwfad for qualification is included in selling exgses. In order to conserve capital resot
in light of the year over year revenue decline haee reduced our selling, general and adminiseaipenditures by eliminating headcount
and other related expenses.

Recent Developments
Public Offering of Common Stock

On February 11, 2014, we completed a regadtfirm commitment underwritten public offerirthd "Offering") of shares of our common
stock, par value $0.001 per share ("Common Stotk'the Offering, we issued and sold to Craig-HallG@apital Group LLC (the
"Underwriter") 8,680,775 shares of Common Stoclspant to an underwriting agreement (the "Undemgithgreement"), dated as of
February 6, 2014, by and between the Company antitiderwriter, at a price of $1.2115 per sharduihing 1,132,275 shares resulting from
the Underwriter's exercise in full of its optiongarchase additional shares of Common Stock toromwer-allotments. The price per share to
the public in the offering was $1.30 per share. iiéeproceeds from the Offering were approxima$dl.2 million, after deducting
underwriting discounts and commissions and estithatering expenses.

Exercise of Warrant

On February 3, 2014, the holder of a wdrigsued in December 2012 purchased 750,000 sbif&mmmon Stock upon exercise of the
warrant at a purchase price of $0.89 per sharaltirgg in proceeds to us of $667,500.
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Critical Accounting Policies

The preparation of our consolidated finahstatements in conformity with accounting prineggenerally accepted in the U.S. require
to make estimates and assumptions that affecefherted amounts of assets and liabilities and @isekes of contingent assets and liabilities at
the date of the consolidated financial statememdisthe reported amounts of net sales and expensieg dhe reporting period. By their nature,
these estimates and assumptions are subject ivarent degree of uncertainty. We base our estiwateur historical experience, knowledge
of current conditions and our beliefs of what coodttur in the future considering available inforioat We review our estimates on an on-
going basis. Actual results may differ from thestneates, which may result in material adversectsfen our operating results and financial
position. We believe the following critical accoingt policies involve our more significant assumpti@and estimates used in the preparation
our consolidated financial statements:

Revenue Recognition.We recognize revenues in accordance with tharf€ial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") Accanmt
Standards Codification ("ASC") Topic 605. Accordingve recognize revenues when there is persuasidence that an arrangement exists,
product delivery and acceptance have occurredsates price is fixed or determinable, and collettalof the resulting receivable is
reasonably assured.

We generally use customer purchase ordet®acontracts as evidence of an arrangementv&gloccurs when goods are shipped for
customers with FOB Shipping Point terms and upaeip for customers with FOB Destination termsyhich time title and risk of loss
transfer to the customer. Shipping documents agd tesverify delivery and customer acceptance. ¥éess whether the sales price is fixed or
determinable based on the payment terms assogidgtethe transaction and whether the sales prisaligect to refund. Customers are
generally allowed limited rights of return for up30 days, except for sales of excess componeahtaories, which contain no right-of-return
privileges. Estimated returns are provided fohattime of sale based on historical experienceecific identification of an event necessitat
a reserve. We offer a standard product warrangutacustomers and have no other post-shipmentathdigs. We assess collectibility based on
the creditworthiness of the customer as determiryecredit checks and evaluations, as well as tis®ower's payment history.

All amounts billed to customers relatediipping and handling are classified as net salbe all costs incurred by us for shipping and
handling are classified as cost of sales.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments. Our financial instruments consist principalfycash and cash equivalents, investments in
marketable securities, accounts receivable, acequayable, accrued expenses and debt instrumdrgdail value of our cash equivalents and
investments in marketable securities is determbesid on quoted prices in active markets for idehéissets or Level 1 inputs. We recognize
transfers between Levels 1 through 3 of the fauevdierarchy at the beginning of the reportingqukrWe believe that the carrying values of
all other financial instruments approximate theirrent fair values due to their nature and respecaturations.

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts. We perform credit evaluations of our customimsincial condition and limit the amount of credit
extended to our customers as deemed necessaggererally require no collateral. We evaluate thectibility of accounts receivable based
on a combination of factors. In cases where weasare of circumstances that may impair a specifgtamer’s ability to meet its financial
obligations subsequent to the original sale, wénedord an allowance against amounts due, anellgaeduce the net recognized receivab
the amount that we reasonably believe will be ctdld. For all other customers, we record allowaf@edoubtful accounts based primarily on
the length of time the receivables are past duedas the terms of the originating transaction,dineent business environment and our
historical experience. Uncollectible accounts are
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charged against the allowance for doubtful accowhisn all cost effective commercial means of coibechave been exhausted. Generally,
credit losses have been within our expectationslaagrovisions established. However, we cannotaguiae that we will continue to
experience credit loss rates similar to those we lexperienced in the past.

Our accounts receivable are highly conegett among a small number of customers, and disigmi change in the liquidity or financial
position of one of these customers could have madtdverse effect on the collectability of oacaunts receivable, our liquidity and our
future operating results.

Inventories. We value our inventories at the lower of theiatcost to purchase or manufacture the inverdgothe net realizable value
of the inventory. Cost is determined on an averag basis which approximates actual cost on tifirdirst-out basis and includes raw
materials, labor and manufacturing overhead. Ahdmdance sheet date, we evaluate ending inveqtagtities on hand and record a provi:
for excess quantities and obsolescence. Among tabtars, we consider historical demand and fotecademand in relation to the inventory
on hand, competitiveness of product offerings, readonditions and product life cycles when detemgrobsolescence and net realizable
value. In addition, we consider changes in the etarklue of DRAM ICs and NAND in determining thet nealizable value of our raw matel
inventory. Once established, any write downs aresiciered permanent adjustments to the cost basisrafxcess or obsolete inventories.

A significant decrease in demand for owdpicts could result in an increase in the amouekoéss inventory quantities on hand. In
addition, our estimates of future product demang prave to be inaccurate, in which case we may haderstated or overstated the provisior
required for excess and obsolete inventory. Irfuhére, if our inventories are determined to bergakied, we would be required to recognize
additional expense in our cost of sales at the tfreach determination. Likewise, if our inventarigre determined to be undervalued, we may
have over-reported our costs of sales in previeu®g@s and would be required to recognize additignass profit at the time such inventories
are sold. In addition, should the market value BfAM ICs or NAND decrease significantly, we may leguired to lower our selling prices to
reflect the lower current cost of our raw materidfisuch price decreases reduce the net realizalble of our inventories to less than our cost,
we would be required to recognize additional expensur cost of sales in the same period. Althowghmake every reasonable effort to
ensure the accuracy of our forecasts of futureyzbdemand, any significant unanticipated changeimand, technological developments or
the market value of DRAM ICs or NAND could have aterial effect on the value of our inventories andreported operating results.

Deferred Financing Costs, Debt Discount &etachable Debt-Related Warrants.Costs incurred to issue debt are deferred reidded
in debt issuance costs in the accompanying coraelidhalance sheet. We amortize debt issuancemastshe expected term of the related
debt using the effective interest method. Debtalists related to the relative fair value of anynaats issued in conjunction with the debt are
recorded as a reduction to the debt balance andtadoover the expected term of the debt to intengsense using the effective interest
method.

Impairment of Long-Lived AssetsWe evaluate the recoverability of the carrywadue of long-lived assets held and used in our
operations for impairment on at least an annuaklmsvhenever events or changes in circumstameisate that their carrying value may not
be recoverable. When such factors and circumstaedists we compare the projected undiscounted éutet cash flows associated with the
related asset or group of assets over their estimageful lives against their respective carryimgpant. These projected future cash flows may
vary significantly over time as a result of incredg€ompetition, changes in technology, fluctuatimndemand, consolidation of our customers
and reductions in average selling prices. If theyiiag value is determined not to be recoverabbenffuture operating cash flows, the asset is
deemed impaired and an impairment loss is

39




Table of Contents

recognized to the extent the carrying value excéweelestimated fair value of the asset. The fdulevaf the asset or asset group is based on
market value when available, or when unavailahtediscounted expected cash flows.

Warranty Reserve. We offer product warranties generally rangiranf one to three years, depending on the produthegotiated tern
of purchase agreements with our customers. Suctantas require us to repair or replace defectireelpct returned to us during the warranty
period at no cost to the customer. Warranties areffiered on sales of excess inventory. Our esémfor warranty-related costs are recorded
at the time of sale based on historical and estichtture product return rates and expected repaiplacement costs. While such costs have
historically been consistent between periods andimbur expectations and the provisions establisheexpected changes in failure rates
could have a material adverse impact on us, reguadditional warranty reserves, and adverselyctfig our gross profit and gross margins.

Stock-Based CompensationWe account for equity issuances to non-empkyraccordance with ASC Topic 505. All transacsiam
which goods or services are the consideration vedeior the issuance of equity instruments are aciea for based on the fair value of the
consideration received or the fair value of theigguastrument issued, whichever is more reliablgasurable. The measurement date used to
determine the fair value of the equity instrumesstied is the earlier of the date on which the thady performance is complete or the date or
which it is probable that performance will occur.

In accordance with ASC Topic 718, emplogiad director stock-based compensation expensenizeagduring the period is based on the
value of the portion of stock-based payment awtrdsis ultimately expected to vest during the @eriGiven that stock-based compensation
expense recognized in the consolidated stateméntsmprehensive loss is based on awards ultimabghgcted to vest, it has been reduced fo
estimated forfeitures. ASC Topic 718 requires fitufes to be estimated at the time of grant angeel if necessary, in subsequent periods if
actual forfeitures differ from those estimates. @stimated average forfeiture rates are basedstoritial forfeiture experience and estimated
future forfeitures.

The fair value of common stock option aveatm employees and directors is calculated usiaddthck-Scholes option pricing model. The
Black-Scholes model requires subjective assumptiegarding future stock price volatility and expattime to exercise, along with
assumptions about the risk-free interest rate apdaed dividends, all of which affect the estindafia@r values of our common stock option
awards. The expected term of options granted @utated as the average of the weighted vestinggemd the contractual expiration date of
the option. This calculation is based on the safbdr method permitted by the SEC in instances avtie vesting and exercise terms of opt
granted meet certain conditions and where limitstblical exercise data is available. The expeut#dtility is based on the historical volatili
of our common stock. The risk-free rate selecteeatae any particular grant is based on the U.8a3ury rate that corresponds to the expecte
term of the grant effective as of the date of theng The expected dividends assumption is baseniphistory and our expectations regarding
dividend payouts. We evaluate the assumptions tasealue our common stock option awards on a qugr@sis. If factors change and we
employ different assumptions, stock- based compemsaxpense may differ significantly from what Wave recorded in prior periods.
Compensation expense for common stock option awsittisgraded vesting schedules is recognized draight-line basis over the requisite
service period for the last separately vestingipormf the award, provided that the accumulated @ognized as of any date at least equa
value of the vested portion of the award.
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We recognize the fair value of restricteatk awards issued to employees and outside dieatstock-based compensation expense on
straight-line basis over the vesting period for st separately vesting portion of the awards:. ¥alue is determined as the difference betwee
the closing price of our common stock on the gdaté and the purchase price of the restricted steeld, if any, reduced by expected
forfeitures.

If there are any modifications or cancélas of the underlying vested or unvested stocleth@svards, we may be required to accelerate,
increase or cancel any remaining unearned stoakebe@mpensation expense, or record additional esepfem vested stock-based awards.
Future stock-based compensation expense and udestowk- based compensation may increase to tleatek@at we grant additional common
stock options or other stock-based awards.

Income Taxes. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recogmhto reflect the estimated future tax effectBibire deductible or taxable
amounts attributable to events that have been nimed on a cumulative basis in the condensed ciafadedt financial statements, calculated at
enacted tax rates for expected periods of reabzaWe regularly review our deferred tax assetsdooverability and establish a valuation
allowance, when determined necessary, based @ribattaxable income, projected future taxableme, and the expected timing of the
reversals of existing temporary differences. Beeaus have operated at a loss for an extended pefitie, we did not recognize deferred
assets related to losses incurred in 2013 or 261Be future, if we realize a deferred tax askat turrently carries a valuation allowance, we
may record an income tax benefit or a reductioimt¢ome tax expense in the period of such realiratio

ASC Topic 740 prescribes a recognitionghodd and measurement requirement for the finastéé&ment recognition of a tax position
that has been taken or is expected to be takertanraturn and also provides guidance on de-ratiognclassification, interest and penalties,
accounting in interim periods, disclosure, andgiton. Under ASC Topic 740 we may only recognizeantinue to recognize tax positions
that meet a "more likely than not" threshold.

The application of tax laws and regulatiansubject to legal and factual interpretatiomigonent and uncertainty. Tax laws and regulal
themselves are subject to change as a result afjekan fiscal policy, changes in legislation, évelution of regulations and court rulings.
Therefore, the actual liability for U.S. or foreitaxes may be materially different from our estiesatvhich could result in the need to record
additional tax liabilities or potentially reverseepiously recorded tax liabilities.
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Results of Operations

The following table sets forth our consatied statements of comprehensive loss as a pegecoftaet sales for the years indicated:

Year Ended
December 28 December 29
2013 2012
Net sales 10C% 10C%
Cost of sale: 87 75
Gross profi 13 25
Operating expense
Research and developme 29 35
Selling, general and administrati 27 27
Total operating expens 56 62
Operating los! (43) (37)
Other expense, ne
Interest expense, n 4 (1)
Other income (expense), r — —
Total other expense, n 4 (1)
Loss before income tax bene (47 (38)
Provision (benefit) for income tax — —
Net loss (4N% (38)%

Year Ended December 28, 2013 Compared to the Yewteld December 29, 2012 Net Sales, Cost of SalesGrods Profit.

The following table presents net salest obsales and gross profit for the years endecebder 28, 2013 and December 29, 2012 (in
thousands, except percentages):

Year Ended
December 28 December 29 %
2013 2012 Change Change
Net sales $ 23,04¢ $ 36,87 $ (13,82 (379%
Cost of sale: 19,94! 27,47¢ (7,53]) (27%
Gross profi $ 3,108 $ 9,39¢ $ (6,299 (67)%
Gross margir 13.5% 25.5% (12.00%

Net Sales. The decrease in net sales for 2013 as compatke®012 resulted primarily from decreases of agpnately (i) $4.7 million
in sales of NVvault™ non-volatile cache systembéil, (ii) $5.6 million of PERC sales to Dell, {ii$2.1 million of specialty sales primarily
used in industrial applications as customers slogreduction as a result of the product nearingetin of its life (iv) $1.0 million in sales of
HyperCloud® and (v) $1.8 million of VLP sales. Thatecreases were partially offset by an increagd df million in sales of flash products
and an increase of $0.3 million of NVvault™ and RE8ales to customers other than Dell.

Approximately 61% and 83% of our NVvault®&es were made to Dell in 2013 and 2012, respdgtiFellowing Intel's launch of its
Romley platform in the first quarter of 2012, weperienced a rapid decline in DDR2 NVvault™ saleB#il. We expect that after product in
the supply chain is
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consumed, sales of NVvault™ products for incorgorainto PERC 7 servers will be minimal. This retiloi in sales is expected to continue
have a significant impact on our revenue and goostt. We expect an increasing percentage of euemue to come from sales of DDR2
NVvault, of DDR3 NVvault ExpressVault and Flashatanore diverse customer ba

Gross Profit and Gross Margin. The decrease in gross profits for 2013 as coedp 2012 is primarily the result of our absarptof
fixed overhead costs over a lower revenue baselaages in our product mix as PERC and NVvault™sstd Dell continue towards end of
life.

Research and Development.

The following table presents research anttbpment expenses for the years ended Decemp2028 and December 29, 2012 (in
thousands, except percentages):

Year Ended
December 28 December 29 %
2013 2012 Change Change

Research and developm¢  $ 6,68 $ 12,84t $ (6,162 (48)%

The decrease in research and developmesheg for 2013 as compared to 2012 resulted ptyriesim decreases of (i) $3.8 million in
internal engineering headcount costs and relatechead and travel expenses (ii) $1.3 million inarmiat expenses related to product builds
testing (iii) $0.9 million in non-recurring engindeg charges for supply partners engaged in newymodevelopment activities and
(iv) $0.2 million in professional and outside sess.

Selling, General and Administrative.

The following table presents selling, geth@and administrative expenses for the years eBaéegmber 28, 2013 and December 29, 2012
(in thousands, except percentages):

Year Ended
December 28 December 29 %
2013 2012 Change Change
Selling, general and
administrative $ 6,267 $ 10,07t $ (3,80¢) (38)%

Selling, general and administrative expsrirreased by approximately $3.8 million in 2048@mpared to 2012. These decreases wer
primarily due to reductions of (i) $2.7 million readcount costs, commissions and related overhrehttavel expenses, (i) $0.6 million in
advertising and product evaluation expenses and@i5 million in outside consultants and salggesentatives.

Other Expense, Net.

The following table presents other expensefor the years ended December 28, 2013 andniee?9, 2012 (in thousands, except
percentages):

Year Ended
December 28 December 29 %
2013 2012 Change Change

Interest expense, n $ (932 $ (339) $ (599 17€%
Realized loss on sale of marketable securitie:

reclassified from other comprehensive | — (56) 56 (100)%
Other income (expense), r 20 (78) 98 (12€)%
Total other expense, n $ 912) $ 472 $ (440 93%
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The change in interest expense for 201®awared to 2012 is primarily due to (i) increasgdrest charges payable to Silicon Valley
Bank as a result of the bank forbearance agreemeqtstiated in the second quarter of 2013, (iiln@rease in interest expense related to our
new term loan with Silicon Valley Bank, and (i@ amortization of debt discount and debt issuanses associated with the loan we receivec
on July 18, 2013 pursuant to our new term debt WED.

The change in other income (expense),foe013, as compared to 2012 was primarily thelted a realized loss in 2012 of $85,000
from the sale of an auction rate security that puashased in 2008 and a loss on disposal of an asdenger in use for $52,000 in 2012. Tt
were no similar events in 2013.

Income Tax Provision (Benefit).

The following table presents the provisfbanefit) for income taxes for the years ended bdw 28, 2013 and December 29, 2012 (in
thousands, except percentages):

Year Ended
December 28 December 29 %
2013 2012 Change Change
$ 9 $ (12 $ 21 (175%

The federal statutory rate was 35% for 2848 2012. In both 2013 and 2012, we continuedaduige a full valuation allowance against
our net deferred tax assets, which consist primafihet operating loss carry-forwards. In 2013 a0d2, our effective tax rate differed from
the 35% statutory rate primarily due to the valmatillowance on newly generated loss carry-forwefds further discussion see Note 8 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements included in Rartem 15 of this Report.

We reduced our unrecognized tax benefitagproximately $22,000 during 2012, as a resudt lafpse in a federal statute of limitations,
resulting in an income tax benefit.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

We have historically financed our operagignimarily through issuances of equity and debtisges and cash generated from operations
We have also funded our operations with a revolimg of credit and term loans under our bank d¢radiility and capitalized lease obligatio

Working Capital, Cash and Cash Equivalents, and Matable Securities.

The following table presents working capitash and cash equivalents and investments ikatedole securities (in thousands):

December 28 December 29

2013 2012
Working capital $ 10,64 $ 11,11¢
Cash and cash equivalents $ 6,701 $ 7,75t
Investments in marketable securit — $ 41F
$ 6,701 $ 8,17(

(1)  Included in working capite

Our working capital decreased in 2013 prilmas a result of reductions of (i) inventory &8s by approximately $4.8 million (ii) cash and
cash equivalents and restricted cash of $0.4 mibiad
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(iii) prepaid expenses of $0.1 million from the atimation of market development funds. These desrgavere partially offset by an increas
accounts receivable of approximately $1.5 milliowl ¢he reduction in the current portion of longnietebt of $3.5 million primarily due to re-
classification of term debt from current to longnteas a result of our loan agreement with DBD dradpayment in full of our term loan with
SVB.

As a result of the completion of the Offigridescribed above, and the receipt of net procafeaisproximately $10.2 million, our working
capital as of the date of this Annual Report isariatly higher than it was as of December 28, 2013.

Cash Provided and Used in the Years Ended Decenf8e2013 and December 29, 2012.

The following table summarizes our caskwvfidor the periods indicated:

Year Ended
December 28 December 29
2013 2012

Net cash provided by (used in)

Operating activitie! $ (4,020 $ (6,959

Investing activities 33C (1,65%)

Financing activitie: 2,63 5,83¢
Net decrease in cash and cash equiva $ (1,059 $ (2,780)

Operating Activities. Net cash used in operating activities for tearyended December 28, 2013 was primarily thetre§(l) a net loss
of approximately $10.8 million offset by (ii) apptimately $3.1 million in net cash provided by chasgn operating assets and liabilities,
primarily accounts receivable, restricted cashpants payable, accrued payroll and related ligdbdiand inventory and (iii) approximately
$3.7 million in net non-cash operating expensesnimaomprised of depreciation and amortizationpatimation of debt discount and debt
issuance costs and stock- based compensation.

Net cash used in operating activities fer year ended December 29, 2012 was primarilyaseltrof (i) a net loss of approximately
$14.0 million offset by (ii) approximately $3.0 fimdn in net cash provided by changes in operatsggts and liabilities, primarily accounts
receivable, accounts payable, accrued payroll aladed liabilities and inventory. Cash used to faetllosses is reduced by approximately
$4.0 million in net non-cash operating expensesnimaomprised of depreciation and amortization atatk-based compensation.

Accounts receivable increased by approxetgef1.5 million at December 28, 2013 compared \Bidtember 29, 2012, primarily as a
result of an increase in our net sales of $1.8anilin the fourth quarter of 2013 as compared wWithfourth quarter of 2012.

Inventories decreased by approximately $4lBon, primarily as we utilized inventory on hémo support our sales.

Investing Activities. Net cash provided by investing activities foe year ended December 28, 2013 was primarilyabeltrof our sale
of an auction rate security resulting in proceefd®004 million. Net cash used in investing actiedtifor the year ended December 29, 2012 wa
the result of our purchase of $1.7 million in prapend equipment.
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Financing Activities. Net cash provided by financing activities foe tyear ended December 28, 2013 was primarilyebeltrof (i) net
proceeds from a term loan with DBD of $2.5 milliaiescribed below under the caption Capital Resguaod (i) $1.2 million in net proceeds
from the sale of 1,098,902 shares of our commotkdtorough a registered public offering, describetbw under the caption Capital
Resources, offset by repayment of bank debt, ddpdaes and other notes payable of $1.0 millicet. dsh provided by financing activities for
the year ended December 29, 2012 was primarilyebelt of net proceeds of (i) $3.9 million from thele of 1,312,669 shares of our common
stock through our sales agreement with Ascend{an$1.3 million from the sale of 1,685,394 shaodur common stock through a registerec
public offering, (iii) $1.3 million from the consdiation of and additional credit extended underfwamk term loans, and (iv) $0.6 million from
the exercise of equity awards under our stock agtlans. These amounts were offset by repaymepari debt, capital leases and other note
payable of $4.5 million.

Capital Resources.
Silicon Valley Bank Credit Agreement

On October 31, 2009, we entered into aitegpteement with Silicon Valley Bank, which wassheecently amended on July 18, 2013 (a
amended, the "SVB Credit Agreement”). Currentlg, 8B Credit Agreement provides that we can bompvio the lesser of (i) 80% of
eligible accounts receivable, or (ii) $5.0 million.

In May 2012, Silicon Valley Bank consoliddtour outstanding term loans and extended addltmmedit, resulting in a combined balance
of $3.5 million (the "Consolidated Term Loan"). T@ensolidated Term Loan was payable in 36 instailsef $97,222, beginning December
2012, with interest at a rate of prime plus 2.508erest was payable monthly from the date of fagdhrough final payoff of the loan. On
July 18, 2013, as part of our amendment of the Ev#lit Agreement and following our receipt of additl loan financing obtained through
DBD Credit Funding, LLC, as further described belthre term loan and outstanding interest was pafdli. In accordance with the terms of
the financing obtained through DBD Credit FundibgC, the Company recorded all amounts due as leng-tebt in the accompanying
consolidated balance sheet as of December 28, 2013.

Prior to the May 2012 amendment, the SVBd@rAgreement contained an overall sublimit of $1@illion to collateralize our continge
obligations under letters of credit and other fitiahservices. Amounts outstanding under the ovvedilimit reduced the amount available
pursuant to the SVB Credit Agreement. As a redulhe May 2012 amendment, letters of credit an@ofimancial services were no longer
subject to borrowing base sublimits and did notioedthe amount that could be borrowed under thelvimg line of credit. The July 18, 2013
amendment requires letters of credit to be sechyemhsh. At December 28, 2013, letters of credihémnamount of $1.1 million were
outstanding.

Following its most recent amendment on lily2013, the SVB Credit Agreement permits thet ieancing and security interests
contemplated under our Loan Agreement with DBD ¢dbsd below) and releases certain patents antbdedsssets from the collateral subject
to SVB's security interest under the SVB Creditéement. Additionally, pursuant to the SVB Creditrégment, advances under the revolving
line now accrue interest at a rate equal to SVRIstmecently announced "prime rate" plus 2.75%. $¥8 Credit Agreement also relaxed our
tangible net worth covenant and waived certain &svehdefault in connection therewith. Certain ngjpg requirements under the SVB Credit
Agreement were modified while certain reserves wapect to the borrowing base and the availahfityevolving loans were removed. Under
the terms of the SVB Credit Agreement, we may drwvelving advances in an aggregate outstandingipahamount of up to the
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lesser of $5 million and the available borrowingdasubject to reserve amounts. Our borrowing bader the SVB Credit Agreement is 80%
of eligible accounts receivable, subject to certaljustments.

We made no borrowings under the Silicori&aBank line of credit in the year ended Decenf#tgr2013. Outstanding borrowings under
the line of credit did not exceed $3.2 million aydime during the year ended December 29, 201Rekember 28, 2013 and December 29,
2012 we had borrowing availability of approximat& million and $1.5 million, respectively.

Loan Agreement with DBD Credit Funding, LLC

Concurrent with our amendment of the SVBdirAgreement, on July 18, 2013 we entered ift@aa and security agreement (the "Loan
Agreement") with DBD Credit Funding, LLC, a Delawdimited liability company ("DBD"), an affiliatefd-ortress Investment Group LLC,
providing for up to $10 million in term loans ang to $5 million in revolving loans. The term loaar® available in an initial $6 million tranc
(the "Initial Term Loan") with a second tranchetlie amount of $4 million becoming available upohiagement of certain performance
milestones relating to intellectual property mattéhe "IP Monetization Milestones” and such sedoadche loan, "IP Milestone Term Loan").
The $5 million in revolving loans are availableD®D's discretion and subject to customary condgiprecedent. The $6 million Initial Term
Loan was fully drawn at closing on July 18, 201&deeds from the Initial Term Loan were used irt parepay our existing consolidated term
loan with Silicon Valley Bank. The remainder of Bfunds are available to fund our ongoing workiagital needs.

The loans bear interest at a stated fimtel of 11.0% per annum. During the first eightel8) (nonths following the closing date, the
payments on the term loans are interest-only ash cate of 7.0% per annum and a payment-in-kifehiael cash interest rate of 4.0%, which
payment-in-kind interest is capitalized semi-antlyy&leginning with December 31, 2013. Following #ighteen (18) month interest-only
period, the term loans are amortized with 65% efghincipal amount due in equal monthly installnsemter the following eighteen
(18) months with a balloon payment equal to 35%hefremaining principal amount of the term loadss@ccrued interest, being payable on
July 18, 2016 (the "Maturity Date").

Patent Monetization Side Letter Agreement

Concurrently with the execution of the Lodgreement, the Company and an affiliate of DBDeesd into a Patent Monetization Side
Letter Agreement (the "Letter Agreement"). The eetigreement provides, among other things, that Dy be entitled to share in certain
monetization revenues that we may derive in theréutelated to its patent portfolio (the "Patenttfétio"). The Patent Portfolio does not
include certain patents relating to the NVvault™darct line. Monetization revenues subject to thiarsgement include revenues recognized
during the seven year term of the Letter Agreerfremh amounts (whether characterized as settlemamnhpnts, license fees, royalties,
damages, or otherwise) actually paid to us or absigliaries in connection with any assertion ofeagient not to assert, or license of, the
Patent Portfolio (in whole or in part) either (A)¢onsideration of the grant of a license or coménat sue, or other immunity with respect to
the Patent Portfolio, or (B) as a damages award rggpect to such assertion of the Patent Portfielss (i) actual legal fees and expenses
(including fees payable on a contingency basis)aatdal court costs paid or payable by us or obsisiiaries in connection with any such
assertion and/or grant of a license or covenantmstie, or other immunity with respect to the RaRortfolio, provided that such legal fees
expenses shall be capped at forty percent (40%)aif gross, aggregate amounts paid to us, (iigatlonable and actual legal fees, filing fees,
maintenance fees, annuities, and other reasonatllacual costs and expenses paid or required paibleby us or our subsidiaries after the
effective date in connection with the prosecutimajntenance, and defense of any patents or pgiphtations within the Patent Portfolio,
(iii) reasonable and actual legal fees and readeraatd actual

47




Table of Contents

other costs and expenses paid or required to loehyas or our subsidiaries in connection with émforcement of any agreement, undertaking
commitment or court order that would generate maaton revenues and the collection thereof, angdr@asonable and actual costs of
acquisition of patents and patent applicationsuiet! in the Patent Portfolio that are acquiredibijcensed to us or our subsidiaries after the
effective date. Monetization revenues also inclirdevalue attributable to the Patent Portfoliory aale of the Company during the seven yee
term, subject to a maximum amount payable to DBie Tetter Agreement also requires that the we aseeercially reasonable efforts to
pursue opportunities to monetize the Patent Pastthiring the term of the Letter Agreement, proddieat we are under no obligation to
pursue any such opportunities that we do not deele in our best interest. Notwithstanding the doirg, there can be no assurance that we
will be successful in these efforts, and we mayeexbresources in pursuit of monetization revenasrhay not result in any benefit to us.

Sales Agreement with Ascendiant Capital

On November 21, 2011, we entered into essagireement with Ascendiant as sales agent. oragace with the terms of the sales
agreement, we were able to issue and sell shams @ommon stock having an aggregate offeringepofcup to $10.0 million. During the ter
of the agreement, we received net proceeds of appately $6.2 million, including approximately $38illion raised through the sale of
approximately 1,312,669 shares during the yeare&Bdember 29, 2012 and approximately $0.2 millloough the sale of 240,373 shares
during the year ended December 28, 2013. Saldsanés of our common stock were made in a serigaiéactions from time to time pursu.
to our direction to Ascendiant in sales deemedeta "at the market" offering as defined in Rul& dhder the Securities Act of 1933. Such
sales were made pursuant to our effective $40anillihelf registration statement filed with the SEGeptember 2011. The sales agreement
with Ascendiant expired on November 21, 2013.

December 2012 Equity Financing

On December 20, 2012, we raised gross poscef $1.5 million in a registered public offeriofyour securities. The offering closed on
December 26, 2012, and we received net proceeds.8fmillion after deducting commissions and offgrcosts. The offering resulted in the
issuance of 1,685,394 shares of common stock andmta to purchase up to an aggregate of 2,275R88&s of our common stock, which
represents 135% of the number of shares issuedadddn the offering. Each warrant grants the hiottle right to purchase one share of our
common stock at an exercise price of $0.89 perestiad expires in June 2018. These warrants beceenesable 181 days following the
December 26, 2012 issuance date. On February &, 281,000 of these warrants were exercised.

July 2013 Equity Financing

On July 17, 2013, we entered into a defiaisecurities purchase agreement for the salerafrron stock and warrant for gross procee:
$1.0 million in an additional registered publicerfhg of its securities. The offering closed orydl®, 2013, and we received net proceeds of
approximately $960,000 after deducting commissamt offering costs. The offering resulted in treuance of 1,098,902 shares of our
common stock and a warrant to purchase up to areggtg of 1,098,902 shares of our common stockwviidreant is exercisable as of the date
of its issuance, has a term of seven years, ardencise price of $1.00 per share. The exercise pmd the number of warrant shares issuabl
upon exercise of warrant is subject to adjustmeitihé event of, among other things, certain traisas our common stock (including without
limitation stock splits and stock dividends), amdtain fundamental transactions (including withimitation a merger or other sale-of-
company transaction).
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February 2014 Public Offering of Common Stock

On February 11, 2014, we completed a regstfirm commitment underwritten public offerirth€ "Offering™) of shares of our common
stock, par value $0.001 per share ("Common Stotk'the Offering, we issued and sold to Craig-HallGapital Group LLC (the
"Underwriter") 8,680,775 shares of Common Stoclkspant to an underwriting agreement (the "Undemgithgreement"), dated as of
February 6, 2014, by and between the Company antitiderwriter, at a price of $1.2115 per sharduihing 1,132,275 shares resulting from
the Underwriter's exercise in full of its optiongorchase additional shares of Common Stock toramwer-allotments. The price per share to
the public in the offering was $1.30 per share. fieproceeds from the Offering were approxima$dl§.2 million, after deducting
underwriting discounts and commissions and estichatfering expenses.

We have in the past utilized equipmentiteaarrangements to finance certain capital exgares. Equipment leases continue to be a
financing alternative that we expect to pursuéhmfuture.

We believe our existing cash balances,dvarrg availability under our new bank credit fatyiliborrowing availability under the SVB
Credit Agreement and the cash expected to be geddram operations, will be sufficient to meet aumticipated cash needs for at least the
next 12 months. Should we need additional capitalmay seek to raise capital through, among otfiegs, public and private equity offerings
and debt financings. Our future capital requireraavitl depend on many factors, including our lev&isiet sales, the timing and extent of
expenditures to support research and developménitigs, the expansion of manufacturing capacitthbdomestically and internationally and
the continued market acceptance of our productditiddal funds may not be available on terms aat@ptto us, or at all. If adequate working
capital is not available when needed, we may baired, to significantly modify our business modetlaperations to reduce spending to a
sustainable level. It could cause us to be unabdxécute our business plan, take advantage akfopportunities, or respond to competitive
pressures or customer requirements. It may alsgecasito delay, scale back or eliminate some af allr research and development
programs, or to reduce or cease operations.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements.

We do not have any relationships with usodidated entities or financial partnerships, saskentities often referred to as structured
finance or special purpose entities, which wouldehlaeen established for the purpose of facilitatifidoalance sheet arrangements or other
contractually narrow or limited purposes. In aduitiwe do not have any undisclosed borrowings bt,@&nd we have not entered into any
synthetic leases. We are, therefore, not materedposed to any financing, liquidity, market orditeisk that could arise if we had engaged in
such relationships.

Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary &ia
The financial statements and supplemerdatg required by this item are included in Partlt¥m 15 of this Report.
Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements With Accotents on Accounting and Financial Disclosure
None.
Item 9A. Controls and Procedures
Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Under the supervision and with the paratign of our management, including our principa@@xtive officer and principal financial
officer, we conducted an evaluation of our disctestontrols
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and procedures, as such term is defined in Rulelb8) under the Exchange Act, as of the end op#red covered by this report. Based on
this evaluation, our principal executive officedasur principal financial officer concluded thatralisclosure controls and procedures were
effective to provide reasonable assurance thatrirdton required to be disclosed by us in repoedile or submit under the Exchange Act is
recorded, processed, summarized and reported withitime periods specified in the SEC's rulesfamtis, and is accumulated and
communicated to our management, including our praiexecutive officer and principal financial aféir, as appropriate to allow timely
decisions regarding required disclosures.

Management's Report on Internal Control Over Finangal Reporting

Our management is responsible for estahlisind maintaining adequate internal control diveancial reporting, as such term is defined
in Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(f). Under the supeovisind with the participation of our managemerdiuiding our principal executive officer
and principal financial officer, we conducted amlenation of the effectiveness of our internal cohtwver financial reporting as of
December 28, 2013 based on the criteria set fodtht@érnal Control—Integrated Frameworgsued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Basethisnevaluation, our management concluded thatrternal control over financial
reporting was effective as of December 28, 2013.

This Annual Report does not include anstdtiion report of our independent registered pudimounting firm regarding internal control
over financial reporting. Management's report watssaibject to attestation by our independent reggst public accounting firm pursuant to the
rules of the Securities and Exchange Commissiangtivanit us to provide only management's repothis Annual Report.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

There were no changes in our internal obaiver financial reporting during the fourth quarof 2013 that have materially affected, or are
reasonably likely to materially affect, our interaantrol over financial reporting.

Inherent Limitations on Internal Control

A control system, no matter how well coneeli and operated, can provide only reasonablealsailute, assurance that the objectives of
the control system are met. Further, the benefitontrols must be considered relative to theitedBecause of the inherent limitations in all
control systems, no evaluation of controls can ®absolute assurance that all control issuesrestances of fraud, if any, have been
detected. These inherent limitations include ttadities that judgments in decision making can hatyaand that breakdowns can occur bec
of simple errors. Additionally, controls can beccimvented by the individual acts of some persopsotiusion of two or more people, or by
management override of the control. The desigmgfsystem of controls is also based in part upetatceassumptions about the likelihood of
future events, and there can be no assurancerthatesign will succeed in achieving its stated gasder all potential future conditions.
Because of the inherent limitations in a cost-affeccontrol system, misstatements due to errdraard may occur and not be detected.

In addition, projections of any evaluatmfreffectiveness to future periods are subjectsksrthat controls may become inadequate be
of changes in conditions, or the degree of compéanith the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Iltem 9B. Other Information
None.

50




Table of Contents

PART IlI

Certain information required by this Pdkid omitted from this Annual Report as we expiectile our definitive Proxy Statement for our
Annual Meeting of Stockholders pursuant to Regaiafi4A of the Exchange Act not later than 120 d&yer the end of the fiscal year covered
by this Annual Report, and certain information irdgd in the Proxy Statement is incorporated hdrgireference.

Iltem 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corpmate Governance

We incorporate by reference herein theigestentitied "Election Of Directors," "Board Of@ctors; Audit Committee Financial Expert"
And "Other Information—Section 16(a) Beneficial Cavship Reporting Compliance" in our Proxy Statement

We have adopted a "Code of Business CoratutEthics" that applies to all employees, inalgddur executive officers. A copy of the
Code of Business Conduct and Ethics is posted ointernet site atvww.netlist.com In the event that we make any amendment to,amtgr
any waivers of, a provision of the Code of Busin@ssduct and Ethics that applies to the principelcetive officer, principal financial officer,
or principal accounting officer that requires dostire under applicable rules promulgated undeS#uwairrities Act or Exchange Act, we intend
to disclose such amendment or waiver and the reabene for on our Internet site.

ltem 11. Executive Compensation

The information required by this Item isanporated herein by reference to the sectionledtiExecutive Compensation” and "Directors'
Compensation" in our Proxy Statement.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain BeneficiBOwners and Management and Related Stockholder Mégrs

The information required by this Item isanporated herein by reference to the sectionledtiSecurity Ownership of Certain Beneficial
Owners and Management" and "Equity Compensatiom Rfarmation" in our Proxy Statement.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Trarections, and Director Independence

The information required by this Item isanporated herein by reference to the sectionledtiCertain Relationships and Related
Transactions" in our Proxy Statement.

Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services

The information required by this Item isanporated herein by reference to the sectionledtiAuditors, Audit Fees and Auditor
Independence" in our Proxy Statement.
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PART IV
Iltem 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules
(@)(1) Allfinancial statements filed part of this report.
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounfimg F-2
Consolidated Balance She F-3
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive F-4
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders' Ec F-5
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flc F-6
Notes to Consolidated Financial Stateme F-7

(@)(2) Exhibits

3.1

10.3#

10.2

10.%#

10.4#

10.5%#

10.6#

10.7

10.€

Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Netllst;. (incorporated by reference to
exhibit 3.1 of the registration statement on Forh & the registrant (No. 333-136735)
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commissthe {SEC") on October 23, 200

Amended and Restated Bylaws of Netlist, Inc.qiporated by reference to exhibit
number 3.1 of the registrant's Current Report omF8-K filed with the SEC on
December 20, 201:

Amended and Restated 2000 Equity Incentive Piddedist, Inc. (incorporated by
reference to exhibit 10.7 of the registration stegat on Form S-1 of the registrant
(No. 33:-136735) filed with the SEC on October 23, 20

Form of Indemnity Agreement for officers and dia's (incorporated by reference to
exhibit 10.12 of the registration statement on F&+h of the registrant (No. 333-
136735) filed with the SEC on August 18, 20

Employment Agreement, dated September 5, 20@@ele@ Netlist, Inc. and Chun K.
Hong (incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.18hefregistration statement on Form S-
1 of the registrant (No. 3-136735) filed with the SEC on September 27, 2(

Amended and Restated 2006 Equity Incentive Piddedist, Inc. (incorporated by
reference to exhibit 10.1 of the registrant's QaryrtReport on Form 10-Q filed with the
SEC on August 12, 201!

Form of Restricted Stock Award Agreement issuedyamt to the 2006 Equity Incent
Plan of Netlist, Inc. (incorporated by referencexhibit 10.2 of the Quarterly Report on
Form 1(-Q of the registrant filed with the SEC on May 1@10)

Stock Option Agreement dated as of January 202 P@tween the registrant and Gerard
Yeh (incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.9h&f tegistrant's Annual Report on

Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31,1%led with the SEC on

February 28, 201z

Loan and Security Agreement, dated as of Oct8ibeP009, between Silicon Valley
Bank and Netlist, Inc. (incorporated by refererexhibit 10.1 of the registrant's
Current Report on Forrr-K filed with the SEC on November 2, 20(

Intercompany Subordination Agreement, dated a3addber 31, 2009, between Silicon
Valley Bank, Netlist, Inc., and Netlist Technologgxas, L.P. (incorporated by refere
to exhibit 10.2 of the registrant's Current Remort~orm 8-K filed with the SEC on
November 2, 200¢
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10.€

10.1C

10.11

10.1Z

10.1:

10.1¢4

10.1¢

10.1¢

10.1%

10.1&

10.1¢*

10.2¢*

10.21

10. 2=

Guarantor Security Agreement entered into asadbker 31, 2009 between Silicon
Valley Bank and Netlist Technology Texas LP (inagied by reference to exhibit 10.3
of the registrant's Current Report on For-K filed with the SEC on November 2, 20(

Intellectual Property Security Agreement entén¢d as of October 31, 2009 by and
between Silicon Valley Bank and Netlist, Inc. (ingorated by reference to exhibit 10.4
of the registrant's Current Report on For-K filed with the SEC on November 2, 20C

Amendment to Loan Documents entered into as atMa4, 2010, by and between
Silicon Valley Bank and Netlist, Inc. (incorporated reference to exhibit 10.1 of the
registrant's Quarterly Report on Formr-Q filed with the SEC on May 17, 201

Amendment to Loan Documents entered into asmoé 30, 2010, by and between
Silicon Valley Bank and Netlist, Inc. (incorporatied reference to exhibit 10.2 of the
registrant's Quarterly Report on Forn-Q filed with the SEC on August 12, 201

Amendment to Loan Documents entered into as pfedeber 30, 2010, by and between
Silicon Valley Bank and Netlist, Inc. (incorporated reference to exhibit 10.1 of the
registrant's Quarterly Report on Forrr-Q filed with the SEC on November 17, 20:

Amendment to Loan Documents entered into as of Ma 2011, by and between
Silicon Valley Bank and Netlist, Inc. (incorporatied reference to exhibit 10.1 of the
registrant's Quarterly Report on Forn-Q filed with the SEC on May 12, 201

Amendment to Loan Documents entered into as @uati10, 2011, by and between
Silicon Valley Bank and Netlist, Inc. (incorporated reference to exhibit 10.1 of the
registrant's Quarterly Report on Forrr-Q filed with the SEC on August 15, 201

Amendment to Loan Documents entered into as of Mg 2012, by and between
Silicon Valley Bank and Netlist, Inc. (incorporatied reference to exhibit 10.1 of the
registrant's Quarterly Report on Forn-Q filed with the SEC on May 15, 201

Design and Production Agreement relating to RegidSIC (the "Production Register
Agreement”), dated July 31, 2008, by and betwedtigdnc. and Toshiba America
Electronic Components, Inc. (“Toshiba") (incorperhby reference to exhibit 10.3 of
registrant's Quarterly Report on Forn-Q/A filed with the SEC on April 1, 201:

Amendment #1 to the Production Register Agreemgaited May 22, 2009, by and
between Netlist, Inc. and Toshiba (incorporateddfgrence to exhibit 10.4 of the
registrant's Quarterly Report on Forn-Q/A filed with the SEC on April 1, 201:

Amendment #1 to the Production Register Agreemgaited January 28, 2010, by and
between Netlist, Inc. and Toshiba (incorporateddigrence to exhibit 10.5 of the
registrant's Quarterly Report on Forn-Q/A filed with the SEC on April 1, 201:

Amendment #2 to the Production Register Agreemeaited March 10, 2010, by and
between Netlist, Inc. and Toshiba (incorporateddfgrence to exhibit 10.6 of the
registrant's Quarterly Report on Forn-Q/A filed with the SEC on April 1, 201:

Design and Production Agreement relating to ID A8i@ "Production ID Agreement
dated July 31, 2008, by and between Netlist, Ind. Boshiba (incorporated by reference
to exhibit 10.7 of the registrant's Quarterly Remor Form 10-Q/A filed with the SEC

on April 1, 2011)

Amendment #1 to the Production ID Agreement, dattuary 28, 2010, by and betw

Netlist, Inc. and Toshiba (incorporated by refeeetacexhibit 10.8 of the registran
Quarterly Report on Form -Q/A filed with the SEC on April 1, 201
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10.2%

10.2#

10.2¢

10.2¢

10.27

10.2¢

10.2¢

10.3¢*

10.31

10.3Z

10.3¢

10.3¢

10.3¢

10.3¢

Amendment #2 to the Production ID Agreement, dd#arch 10, 2010, by and between
Netlist, Inc. and Toshiba (incorporated by refeeetaexhibit 10.9 of the registran
Quarterly Report on Form -Q/A filed with the SEC on April 1, 201:

ASIC Design and Production Agreement, dated Audds 2010, between Open
Silicon, Inc. and Netlist, Inc. (incorporated byamnce to exhibit 10.2 of the registrant's
Quarterly Report on Form -Q/A field with the SEC on August 24, 201

Form of Securities Purchase Agreement, datedbieee20, 2012 (incorporated by
reference to exhibit 10.1 of the registrant's QurReport on Form 8-K filed with the
SEC on December 20, 201

Form of Warrant (incorporated by reference toileixi.1 of the registrant's Current
Report on Form-K filed with the SEC on December 20, 20:

Placement Agent Agreement dated December 20, BpB2d between Netlist, Inc. and
Ascendiant Capital Markets, LLC (incorporated bference to exhibit 10.2 of the
registrant's Current Report on Fori-K filed with the SEC on December 20, 20:

Forbearance to Loan and Security Agreement, ddtedh 27, 2013, by and between
Netlist, Inc. and Silicon Valley Bank (incorporatley reference to exhibit 10.32 of t
registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K for thedisyear ended December 29, 2012
filed with the SEC on March 29, 201

Loan and Security Agreement, dated July 18, 2b&8yeen Netlist, Inc. and DBD
Credit Funding LLC (incorporated by reference thibi 10.1 of the registrant's
Quarterly Report on Form -Q filed with the SEC on November 12, 20:

Monetization Letter Agreement, dated July 18, 2Metween Netlist, Inc. and
Drawbridge Special Opportunities Fund LP (incorpedaby reference to exhibit 10.2 of
the registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Qifileth the SEC on November 12,
2013)

Intellectual Property Security Agreement, datelg 18, 2013, between Netlist, Inc. and
DBD Credit Funding LLC (incorporated by referenoe=khibit 10.3 of the registrant's
Quarterly Report on Form -Q filed with the SEC on November 12, 20:

Stock Purchase Warrant, issued by Netlist, IncJdy 18, 2013 to Drawbridge Special
Opportunities Fund LP (incorporated by referencexoibit 10.4 of the registrant's
Quarterly Report on Form -Q filed with the SEC on November 12, 20:

Subordination Agreement, dated July 18, 2013, rayridetlist, Inc., Netlist Electronics
(Suzhou) Co., Ltd., Netlist HK Limited and DBD CieBHunding LLC (incorporated by
reference to exhibit 10.5 of the registrant's QerrtReport on Form 10-Q filed with the
SEC on November 12, 201

Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated July 18 320&tween Netlist, Inc. and Silicon
Valley Bank (incorporated by reference to exhilfit6Lof the registrant's Quarterly
Report on Form 1-Q filed with the SEC on November 12, 20:

Securities Purchase Agreement, dated July 173,2@tween Netlist, Inc. and the
purchaser identified therein (incorporated by refiee to exhibit 10.1 of the registrant's
Current Report on Formr-K filed with the SEC on July 18, 201

Form of Warrant issued pursuant to the Secumiligghase Agreement dated July 17,

2013 (incorporated by reference to exhibit 4.1hef tegistrant's Current Report on
Form &K filed with the SEC on July 18, 201
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(b)

21.1

23+

24.1+

31.1+

31.z+

32+

Subsidiaries of Netlist, Inc. (incorporated bference to exhibit 21.1 of the registrant's
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year eshide=cember 31, 2011 filed with the
SEC on February 28, 201

Consent of KMJ Corbin & Company LL
Power of Attorney (included on the signature pagthis Part IV of this repor

Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuantRule 13a-14(a) or Rule 15d-14(a) of
the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, as adgpiexbant to Section 302 of the
Sarbane-Oxley Act of 200z

Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuaotRule 13a-14(a) or Rule 15d-14(a) of
the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, as adguiextant to Section 302 of the
Sarbane-Oxley Act of 2002

Certification by Chief Executive Officer and Chignancial Officer pursuant to 18
U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Se@fiérof the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002

101.INS++ XBRL Instance Documer

101.SCH+ XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Docum

101.CAL++ XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Docuntr

101.LAB++ XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Docum

101.PRIH+ XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Doeunt

101.DEH+ XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Docurn

+ Filed herewith.

++ Furnished herewith. In accordance with Rule 406Refulation S-T, the information in these exhikhsll not be
deemed to be "filed" for purposes of Section 1&hefSecurities and Exchange Act of 1934, or otteswsubject to
liability under that section, and shall not be irprated by reference into any registration stateéroeother document
filed under the Securities Act of 1933, exceptgwessly set forth by specific reference in sutihdi

# Management contract or compensatory plan or arraege

* Confidential treatment has been granted with rdgpeagortions of this exhibit pursuant to Rule 22bf the Securities a
Exchange Act of 1934 and these confidential postioave been redacted from the document filed &xlaibit to this
report. A complete copy of this agreement, inclgdime redacted terms, has been separately filé¢dtingt SEC

Exhibits

See subsection (a)(2) above.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of SectioorlB5(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, ribgistrant has duly caused this report to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, theredatp authorized.

Date: March 18, 2014
NETLIST, INC.

By: /sl CHUN K. HONG

Chun K. Hong
President, Chief Executive Officer and
Chairman of the Boar

Pursuant to the requirements of the Seeariixchange Act of 1934, this report has beenresidoelow by the following persons on behalf
of the registrant and in the capacities and ord#tes indicated:

Signature Title. Date
/s CHUN K. HONG President, Chief Executive Officer and
Chairman of the Board (Principal March 18, 201
Chun K. Hong Executive Officer,
/sl GAIL SASAKI Vice President and Chief Financial
Officer (Principal Financial Officer and March 18, 201
Gail Sasak Principal Accounting Officer

/sl CHARLES F. CARGILE

Director March 18, 201.
Charles F. Cargil
/sl THOMAS F. LAGATTA
Director March 18, 201.
Thomas F. Lagatt
/s/ CLAUDE M. LEGLISE
Director March 18, 201.
Claude M. Leglist
/s/ ALAN H. PORTNOY
Director March 18, 201.
Alan H. Portnoy
/s BLAKE A. WELCHER
Director March 18, 201.

Blake A. Welchel
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

Board of Directors and Stockholders
Netlist, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying conselitialance sheets of Netlist, Inc. and subsididifies"Company") as of December 28, 2013
and December 29, 2012, and the related consolidéé¢eiments of comprehensive loss, stockholdenityeand cash flows for the years then
ended. These consolidated financial statementharnesponsibility of the Company's management.r@sponsibility is to express an opinion
on these consolidated financial statements basediioaudits.

We conducted our audits in accordance thighstandards of the Public Company Accounting Slgat Board (United States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform thestamobtain reasonable assurance about whetheptisolidated financial statements are fre
of material misstatement. The Company is not reguio have, nor were we engaged to perform, art andis internal control over financial
reporting. Our audits included consideration ogintl control over financial reporting as a basisdesigning audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for tinppse of expressing an opinion on the effectiveioéshe Company's internal control over
financial reporting. Accordingly, we express notsopinion. An audit includes examining, on a tesdib, evidence supporting the amounts
disclosures in the consolidated financial statesiefh audit also includes assessing the accouptingiples used and significant estimates
made by management, as well as evaluating the lbeersolidated financial statement presentatioe. MWglieve that our audits provide a
reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated finanatdtements referred to above present fairly, imallerial respects, the consolidated financial
position of Netlist, Inc. and subsidiaries as otBmber 28, 2013 and December 29, 2012, and thelueted results of their operations and
their cash flows for the years then ended, in conity with accounting principles generally acceptethe United States of America.

/sl KMJ CORBIN & COMPANY LLP
Costa Mesa, California
March 18, 2014
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NETLIST, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated Balance Sheets

(in thousands, except par value)

December 28 December 29
2013 2012
ASSETS
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalel $ 6,701 $ 7,75k
Restricted cas 1,10C —
Investment in marketable securit — 41t
Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubsfttounts of $72

(2013) and $47 (201: 4,86¢ 3,43¢
Inventories 2,62( 7,38(
Prepaid expenses and other current a: 823 723

Total current asse 16,11( 19,70%

Property and equipment, r 1,14z 2,56(
Other asset 422 13C
Total asset $ 17,678 $ 22,397
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
Current Liabilities:
Accounts payabl $ 3,795 $ 3,361
Accrued payroll and related liabiliti¢ 63t 784
Accrued expenses and other current liabili 53¢ 497
Accrued engineering charg 50C 45C
Current portion of lon-term debt — 3,49:
Total current liabilities 5,46: 8,591
Long-term debt, net of current portion and debt disct 5,09¢ —
Other liabilities 10C 94
Total liabilities 10,66 8,68¢
Commitments and contingenci
Stockholders' equity
Preferred stock, $0.001 par value—10,000 sharé®anéd; no

shares issued and outstand — —
Common stock, $0.001 par valu®8;000 shares authorized; 31,

(2013) and 30,348 (2012) shares issued and ouista 31 30
Additional paic-in capital 104,46¢ 100,40:
Accumulated defici (97,487 (86,727)

Total stockholders' equit 7,01% 13,71:

Total liabilities and stockholders' equ $ 17,678 $ 22,39

See accompanying notes to consolidated financsdistents.
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NETLIST, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Loss

(in thousands, except per share amounts)

Year Ended
December 28 December 29
2013 2012
Net sales $ 23,04¢ % 36,87
Cost of sales(1 19,94: 27,47¢
Gross profi 3,10¢ 9,39¢
Operating expense
Research and development 6,68: 12,84*
Selling, general and administrative: 6,26 10,07t
Total operating expens 12,95( 22,92(
Operating los! (9,845 (13,527
Other expense, ne
Interest expense, n (932) (339
Realized loss on sale of marketable securitieassdied from othe
comprehensive los — (56)
Other income (expense), r 20 (78)
Total other expense, n (912) (472)
Loss before income tax provision (bene (10,757 (13,999
Provision (benefit) for income tax 9 (12
Net loss $ (10,766 $  (13,98)
Net loss per common shal
Basic and dilutet $ (0.35) $ (0.50)
Weighte-average common shares outstand
Basic and dilutet 30,88! 27,85!
Net loss (10,76¢) (13,98)
Other comprehensive los
Unrealized loss transferred from other comprehenkiss to
earnings — 56
Total comprehensive lo: $ (10,766 $ (13,92)
(1)  Amounts include sto-based compensation expense as follc
Cost of sale: $ 49 $ 114
Research and developme 58¢ 667
Selling, general and administrati 1,032 1,11C

See accompanying notes to consolidated finan@&sients.
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NETLIST, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders' Equity

(in thousands)

Series A
Preferred
Stock Common Stock

Accumulated
Additional Other Total
Paid-in Accumulated Comprehensive Stockholders'
Shares Amount Shares Amount Capital Deficit Loss Equity

Balance,
December 31
2011 — — 26,39($ 263 92,70¢ $ (72,740 % (56 $ 19,93¢
Stock-based
compensati — — (48) — 1,891 — — 1,891
Exercise of
stock
options — — 1,032 1 687 — — 68€
Repurchase ¢
common
stock — — (24) — (64) — — (64)
Issuance of
common
stock — — 2,99¢ 3 5,18( — — 5,18¢
Components
of
comprehen
loss:
Reversal of
unrealized
loss due to
recognition
in current
year — — — — — — 56 56
Net loss — — — — — (13,987 — (13,98)
Balance,
December 29
2012 — — 30,34¢ 30 100,40: (86,727 — 13,71:
Stock-based
compensati — — — — 1,66¢ — — 1,66¢
Exercise of
stock
options — — 11¢ — 40 — — 40
Repurchase ¢
common
stock — — (29) — (14) — — (14)
Issuance of
common
stock, ne: — —  1,33¢ 1 1,15¢ — — 1,157
Estimated
relative fair
value of
common
stock
warrants — — — — 1,21¢ — — 1,21¢
Net loss — — — — — (10,76¢) — (10,76€)
Balance,
December 28
2013 — — 31,77¢ $ 31 $104,46¢$ (97,48) % — $ 7,01:

See accompanying notes to consolidated financ#tistents.
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NETLIST, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

(in thousands)

Year Ended
December 28 December 29
2013 2012
Cash flows from operating activitie
Net loss $ (10,766 $  (13,98)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash usegerating
activities:
Depreciation and amortizatic 1,47¢ 1,98
Capitalized payment in kind intere 111 —
Amortization of debt discount and debt issuances 36€ —
Realized loss on sale of investments in marketsdxderities — 85
Realized loss on sale of equipm 26 53
Provision for bad debt 25 —
Stoclk-based compensatic 1,66¢ 1,891
Changes in operating assets and liabilit
Restricted cas (1,100 —
Accounts receivabl (1,457) 7,96¢
Inventories 4,76( (1,329
Prepaid expenses and other current a: 14C 263
Other asset 35¢ 31
Accounts payabl 42¢ (2,939
Accrued payroll and related liabilitie (149 (1,029
Accrued expenses and other current liabili 42 37
Accrued engineering charg 50 —
Net cash used in operating activit (4,02]) (6,959
Cash flows from investing activitie
Acquisition of property and equipme (119 (1,699
Proceeds from sale of equipm 34 43
Proceeds from maturities and sales of investmentsarketable
securities 41F —
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activi 33C (1,655
Cash flows from financing activitie
Borrowings on lines of cred — 3,20(
Payments on lines of cre« — (3,200
Proceeds from bank term loan, net of issuance 2,48: 1,31¢
Payments on del (1,029 (1,299
Proceeds from public offering, n 1,157 5,18:
Proceeds from exercise of equity awards, net afsagmitted for
restricted stocl 26 624
Net cash provided by financing activiti 2,63 5,83¢
Net decrease in cash and cash equiva (1,059 (2,780
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of 7,75k 10,53¢
Cash and cash equivalents at end of ' $ 6,701 $ 7,75k

See accompanying notes to consolidated financsistents.
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NETLIST, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 28, 2013
Note 1—Description of Business

Netlist, Inc. (the "Company" or "Netlistlesigns and manufactures a wide variety of higfop@ance, logic-based memory subsystems
for the global datacenter, storage and hghformance computing and communications markéts.Jompany's memory subsystems consi
combinations of dynamic random access memory iatedrcircuits ("DRAM ICs" or "DRAM"), NAND flash nmaory ("NAND"), application-
specific integrated circuits ("ASICs") and othengmnents assembled on printed circuit boards ("PCBItlist primarily markets and sells
products to leading original equipment manufact{f®EM") customers. The Company's solutions arge®d at applications where memory
plays a key role in meeting system performanceirements. The Company leverages a portfolio of pedgry technologies and design
techniques, including efficient planar design, ral&ive packaging techniques and custom semicoadiagic, to deliver memory subsystems
with high memory density, small form factor, higgrsl integrity, attractive thermal characteristieduced power consumption and low cost
per bit. Our NVvault™ product is the first to offeoth DRAM and NAND in a standard form factor megsubsystem as a persistent DIMM
in mission critical applications.

Netlist was incorporated in June 2000 anltgadquartered in Irvine, California. In 2007, @@mpany established a manufacturing facility
in the People's Republic of China (the "PRC"), aHi@ecame operational in July 2007 upon the suadegsélification of certain key
customers.

Note 2—Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Basis of Presentation

The accompanying consolidated financigkestents have been prepared in accordance with atiegprinciples generally accepted in
United States of America ("U.S.").

Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements idelthe accounts of Netlist, Inc. and its wholly edrsubsidiaries. All intercompany balances
and transactions have been eliminated in consadiulat

Fiscal Year

The Company operates under a 52/53-weeélllfiar ending on the Saturday closest to Dece3thefhe 2013 and 2012 fiscal years
ended on December 28, 2013 and December 29, 288k atively. Fiscal years 2013 and 2012 each dedsis 52 weeks.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statementsdanformity with accounting principles generally epted in the U.S. requires management to
make estimates and assumptions that affect thetegpamounts of assets and liabilities and discsiicontingent assets and liabilities at the
date of the consolidated financial statements,thadeported amounts of net sales and expenseggdhsg reporting period. By their nature,
these estimates and assumptions are subject tharent degree of uncertainty. Significant estimatade by management include, among
others, provisions for uncollectible receivabled aales returns, warranty liabilities, valuatiorirofentories, fair value of financial instruments,
recoverability of long-lived assets, stock-basedi$actions and realization of deferred tax as¥bes.Company bases its estimates on historice
experience, knowledge of current conditions and
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NETLIST, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continu ed)
December 28, 2013
Note 2—Summary of Significant Accounting PoliciesGontinued)

the Company's belief of what could occur in theifatconsidering available information. The Compeawiews its estimates on an on-going
basis. The actual results experienced by the Coynpay differ materially and adversely from its gsdies. To the extent there are material
differences between the estimates and the actsialtsefuture results of operations will be affecte

Revenue Recognition

The Company's revenues primarily consigirofiuct sales of high performance memory subsysteroriginal equipment manufacturers
("OEMSs").

The Company recognizes revenues in accoedaith the Financial Accounting Standards BoaFASB") Accounting Standards
Coadification ("ASC") Topic 605. Accordingly, the @mpany recognizes revenues when there is persuagiyence that an arrangement exists,
product delivery and acceptance have occurredsates price is fixed or determinable, and collettalof the resulting receivable is
reasonably assured.

The Company generally uses customer puechiaters and/or contracts as evidence of an amaege Delivery occurs when goods are
shipped for customers with shipping point terms apdn receipt for customers with destination teratsyhich time title and risk of loss
transfer to the customer. Shipping documents aad tesverify delivery and customer acceptance. Chmpany assesses whether the sales
price is fixed or determinable based on the payrtegnis associated with the transaction and whellegesales price is subject to refund.
Customers are generally allowed limited rightsedfirn for up to 30 days, except for sales of excesgponent inventories, which contain no
right-of-return privileges. Estimated returns arevided for at the time of sale based on historécgderience or specific identification of an
event necessitating a reserve. The Company offstamalard product warranty to our customers andchbagher posshipment obligations. Tt
Company assesses collectability based on the wexditiness of the customer as determined by cobgitks and evaluations, as well as the
customer's payment history.

All amounts billed to customers relatedhipping and handling are classified as revenub#ewll costs incurred by the Company for
shipping and handling are classified as cost @fssal

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consist of cadlslaort-term investments with original maturittdthree months or less, other than short-tern
investments in securities that lack an active marke

Restricted Cash
Restricted cash of $1.1 million, as of Daber 28, 2013, consists of cash to secure thredlsydetters of credit.
Investments in Marketable Securities

The Company accounts for its investmentaanketable securities in accordance with ASC T8gi@é. The Company determines the
appropriate classification of its investments attilme of purchase and reevaluates such desigrattiesch balance sheet date. The Company'
investments in
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NETLIST, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continu ed)
December 28, 2013
Note 2—Summary of Significant Accounting PoliciesGontinued)

marketable securities have been classified anduated for as available-for-sale based on managésnaméstment intentions relating to these
securities. Available-for-sale securities are statefair value, generally based on market quatethe extent they are available. Unrealized
gains and losses, net of applicable deferred taxesecorded as a component of other compreheimsivme (loss). Realized gains and losses
and declines in value judged to be other than tearpare determined based on the specific ideatibo method and are reported in other
income, net in the consolidated statements of cehwsive loss.

The Company generally invests its excesh @adomestic banissued certificates of deposit which carry feddegdosit insurance, mon
market funds and highly liquid debt instrumentdJoB. municipalities, corporations and the U.S. gomeent and its agencies. All highly liquid
investments with stated maturities of three mowthess from the date of purchase are classifiethals equivalents; all investments with st
maturities of greater than three months are classifs investments in marketable securities.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The Company's financial instruments corgisicipally of cash and cash equivalents, investim@ marketable securities, accounts
receivable, accounts payable, accrued expensesedmdhstruments. The fair value of our cash edeita and investments in marketable
securities is determined based on quoted pricastine markets for identical assets or Level 1 taplihe Company recognizes transfers
between Levels 1 through 3 of the fair value higngrat the beginning of the reporting period. Tieempany believes that the carrying value
all other financial instruments approximate theirrent fair values due to their nature and respedurations.

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

The Company evaluates the collectabilitpatounts receivable based on a combination adifeicin cases where the Company is aware
of circumstances that may impair a specific custtGsrability to meet its financial obligations sugaent to the original sale, the Company will
record an allowance against amounts due, and theeelnice the net recognized receivable to the attberlCompany reasonably believes will
be collected. For all other customers, the Compeangrds allowances for doubtful accounts basedariiynon the length of time the
receivables are past due based on the terms ofitfieating transaction, the current business emvirent and its historical experience.
Uncollectible accounts are charged against thevalh@e for doubtful accounts when all cost effectisemmmercial means of collection have
been exhausted. Generally, the Company's credigé$osave been within expectations and the prowsistablished. However, the Company
cannot guarantee that it will continue to expergeaedit loss rates similar to those experiencelerpast.

Concentration of Credit Risk

Financial instruments that potentially @dbjthe Company to significant concentrations eflitrrisk consist principally of cash and cash
equivalents, investments in marketable securitied,accounts receivable.
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NETLIST, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continu ed)
December 28, 2013
Note 2—Summary of Significant Accounting PoliciesGontinued)

The Company invests its cash equivalentsgrily in money market mutual funds. Cash equintdeare maintained with high quality
institutions, the composition and maturities of @rhare regularly monitored by management. The Compad $1.4 million of Federal Depc
Insurance Corporation and Securities Investor etiote Corporation insured cash and cash equivabtriiecember 28, 2013. Investments in
marketable securities are generally in hagldit quality debt instruments. Such investmergsnaade only in instruments issued or enhance
high-quality institutions. The Company has not imed any credit losses related to these investments

The Company's trade accounts receivablerararily derived from sales to OEMs in the congrundustry (see Note 12). The Company
performs credit evaluations of its customers' fmalhcondition and limits the amount of credit exded when deemed necessary, but generall
requires no collateral. Credit quality is monitofgdevaluation of credit scores and collectiondrgt The Company believes that the
concentration of credit risk in its trade receivesbis moderated by its credit evaluation procedatively short collection terms, the high level
of credit worthiness of its customers, foreign drédsurance and letters of credit issued on then@any's behalf. Reserves are maintained for
potential credit losses, and such losses histtyibalve not been significant and have been withimagement's expectations. Potential credit
losses are limited to the gross value of accowusivable.

Inventories

Inventories are valued at the lower of abtwst to purchase or manufacture the inventoth®mnet realizable value of the inventory. Cosi
is determined on an average cost basis which appabes actual cost on a first-in, first-out basid &ncludes raw materials, labor and
manufacturing overhead. At each balance sheet tti@& ompany evaluates its ending inventory quastidn hand and on order and records a
provision for excess quantities and obsolescenoemy other factors, the Company considers histodieanand and forecasted demand in
relation to the inventory on hand, competitivengfsgroduct offerings, market conditions and prodifetcycles when determining
obsolescence and net realizable value. In additienCompany considers changes in the market wdloemponents in determining the net
realizable value of its inventory. Provisions arad®a to reduce excess or obsolete inventories todastmated net realizable values. Once
established, write-downs are considered permardmstanents to the cost basis of the excess or etesmlventories.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are recorded atara$tepreciated on a straight-line basis over gstimated useful lives, which generally range
from three to seven years. Leasehold improvemeateegorded at cost and amortized on a straigbtHasis over the shorter of their estimatec
useful lives or the remaining lease term.

Deferred Financing Costs, Debt Discount &etachable Debt-Related Warrants.Costs incurred to issue debt are deferred reidded
in debt issuance costs in the accompanying coraelidbalance sheet. The Company amortizes delnisswcosts over the expected term of
the related debt using the effective interest nmtebt discounts related to the relative fair eadfi any warrants issued in conjunction with
the debt are recorded as a reduction to the dédotdmand accreted over the expected term of thietdénterest expense using the effective
interest method.
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NETLIST, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continu ed)
December 28, 2013
Note 2—Summary of Significant Accounting PoliciesGontinued)
Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

The Company evaluates the recoverabilitthefcarrying value of long-lived assets held aselduby the Company for impairment on at
least an annual basis or whenever events or chamg&sumstances indicate that their carrying eatuay not be recoverable. When such
factors and circumstances exist, the Company cagsghe projected undiscounted future net cash famsgsciated with the related asset or
group of assets over their estimated useful liggsrest their respective carrying amount. If theryiag value is determined not to be
recoverable from future operating cash flows, the&etis deemed impaired and an impairment log@gnized to the extent the carrying value
exceeds the estimated fair value of the assetfdihealue of the asset or asset group is basedarket value when available, or when
unavailable, on discounted expected cash flows.ddrapany's management believes there is no impatrafdong-lived assets as of
December 28, 2013. There can be no assurance, boweat market conditions will not change or dechfor the Company's products will
continue, which could result in future impairmehtang-lived assets.

Warranty Reserve

The Company offers product warranties galheranging from one to three years, dependingherproduct and negotiated terms of any
purchase agreements with customers. Such warraetiege the Company to repair or replace defegiregluct returned to the Company
during such warranty period at no cost to the gusto Warranties are not offered on sales of excesgponent inventory. The Company
records an estimate for warranty-related costiseatiine of sale based on its historical and esgchptoduct return rates and expected repair o
replacement costs (see Note 3). Such costs haegitddly been within management's expectationsthrdrovisions established, unexpected
changes in failure rates could have a material m@vienpact on the Company, requiring additionalrauaty reserves, and could adversely ai
the Company's gross profit and gross margins.

Stock-Based Compensation

The Company accounts for equity issuanze®h-employees in accordance with ASC Topic 50btrAnsactions in which goods or
services are the consideration received for theaisse of equity instruments are accounted for baeedtie fair value of the consideration
received or the fair value of the equity instrumisstied, whichever is more reliably measurable. Mbasurement date used to determine the
fair value of the equity instrument issued is thdier of the date on which the third-party perfamoe is complete or the date on which it is
probable that performance will occur.

In accordance with ASC Topic 718, emplogad director stock-based compensation expensenmizeohduring the period is based on the
value of the portion of stock-based payment awtrdsis ultimately expected to vest during the @eriGiven that stock-based compensation
expense recognized in the consolidated stateméntsmprehensive loss is based on awards ultimabghgcted to vest, it has been reduced fo
estimated forfeitures. ASC Topic 718 requires fitufes to be estimated at the time of grant andeel if necessary, in subsequent periods if
actual forfeitures differ from those estimates. TQwmpany's estimated average forfeiture ratesasedon historical forfeiture experience and
estimated future forfeitures.
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NETLIST, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continu ed)
December 28, 2013
Note 2—Summary of Significant Accounting PoliciesGontinued)

The fair value of common stock option aveam employees and directors is calculated usieddthck-Scholes option pricing model. The
Black-Scholes model requires subjective assumptiegarding future stock price volatility and expattime to exercise, along with
assumptions about the risk-free interest rate apdaed dividends, all of which affect the estindafia@ir values of the Company's common
stock option awards. The expected term of optioaatgd is calculated as the average of the weigresting period and the contractual
expiration date of the option. This calculatiot&sed on the safe harbor method permitted by ti@igkstances where the vesting and
exercise terms of options granted meet certainitond and where limited historical exercise datavailable. The expected volatility is based
on the historical volatility of the Company's conmeiock. The riskree rate selected to value any particular grabased on the U.S. Treas
rate that corresponds to the expected term ofiduet g@ffective as of the date of the grant. Theeetgd dividend assumption is based on the
Company's history and management's expectatiomdiegadividend payouts. The Company evaluates $iseraptions used to value their
common stock awards on a quarterly basis. If faathange and the Company employs different assangptstock-based compensation may
differ significantly from what has been recordedgiior periods. Compensation expense for commoaorkstption awards with graded vesting
schedules is recognized on a strailyie-basis over the requisite service period ferldst separately vesting portion of the awardyiged that
the accumulated cost recognized as of any daeast quals the value of the vested portion o&wterd.

The Company recognizes the fair value sfrieted stock awards issued to employees anddeutbiectors as stock-based compensation
expense on a straight-line basis over the ves@mngg for the last separately vesting portion & #twards. Fair value is determined as the
difference between the closing price of our comrmsimtk on the grant date and the purchase prideeafesstricted stock award, if any, reduced
by expected forfeitures.

If there are any modifications or cancédias of the underlying vested or unvested stocletd@svards, the Company may be required to
accelerate, increase or cancel any remaining uadatock-based compensation expense, or recorticaddiexpense for vested stock-based
awards. Future stock-based compensation expensenaadned stock- based compensation may incredke #xtent that the Company grants
additional common stock options or other stock-taseards.

Income Taxes

Deferred tax assets and liabilities ar@geézed to reflect the estimated future tax effecédculated at currently effective tax rates, of
future deductible or taxable amounts attributablewents that have been recognized on a cumuladisis in the consolidated financial
statements. A valuation allowance related to adeédrred tax asset is recorded when it is moréylitean not that some portion of the deferred
tax asset will not be realized.

ASC Topic 740 prescribes a recognitionghodd and measurement requirement for the finastéé&ment recognition of a tax position
that has been taken or is expected to be takertanraturn and also provides guidance on de-ratiognclassification, interest and penalties,
accounting in interim periods, disclosure, andgiton. Under ASC Topic 740 the Company may onbogize or continue to recognize tax
positions that meet a "more likely than not" thiddh
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NETLIST, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continu ed)
December 28, 2013
Note 2—Summary of Significant Accounting PoliciesGontinued)

The application of tax laws and regulatiesubject to legal and factual interpretatiomigent and uncertainty. Tax laws and regulat
themselves are subject to change as a result afjekan fiscal policy, changes in legislation, évelution of regulations and court rulings.
Therefore, the actual liability for U.S. or foreitaxes may be materially different from the Compsuegtimates, which could result in the neec
to record additional tax liabilities or potentialigverse previously recorded tax liabilities.

Research and Development Expenses
Research and development expendituresxgensed in the period incurred.
Collaborative Agreements

In 2011, the Company entered into two mgnt@chnology Collaboration Agreements. The firgieggnent is a HyperCloud® Technology
Collaboration Agreement (the "IBM Agreement") wititernational Business Machines ("IBM"). Under tB& Agreement, IBM and the
Company have agreed to cooperate with respecetquhlification of HyperCloud® technology for us@wiBM servers and to engage in
certain joint marketing efforts if qualification &hieved. IBM and the Company have agreed to comeswurces and funds in support of thes
activities. The IBM Agreement is hon-exclusive.

The second agreement is a Collaboratioredment (the "HP Agreement") with Hewlett-Packardnpany ("HP"). Under the HP
Agreement, HP and the Company agreed to coopandteaammit resources in furtherance of qualifyindHgperCloud® technology for use
with HP servers and to engage in certain joint retnk efforts if qualification is achieved. HP athé Company agreed to commit resources
and funds in support of these activities. The HFPegnent expires in September 2014. HP and the Quyaasreed to collaborate on the future
use of HyperCloud® load reduction and rank muitiaiion technologies for next generation server nrgrfay HP.

In total, the Company reimbursed IBM and $P2 million and $1 million, respectively, for tikest of certain qualification activities. In
addition, the Company made $0.8 million of payméatBM for joint HyperCloud® marketing activitieall of which have been amortized
based on actual unit shipments compared with etgitatal shipments over the term of the CollaborefAgreement. The Company's net sale
were determined after deduction of such custonlewahces, in accordance with ASC 605-50. Thereb&ano assurance that the efforts
undertaken under either of the IBM or HP collabioraagreements will result in revenues for the Canypthat are sufficient to cover the cost
of qualification activities, including payments neaid HP and IBM under the collaboration agreements.

Comprehensive Loss

ASC Topic 220 establishes standards foontey and displaying comprehensive income (loss) its components in the consolidated
financial statements. Accumulated other comprelverisiss includes unrealized gains or losses orstments.
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NETLIST, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continu ed)
December 28, 2013
Note 2—Summary of Significant Accounting PoliciesGontinued)
Risks and Uncertainties

The Company is subject to certain risks amckrtainties including their ability to obtairofitable operations due to the Company's his
of losses and accumulated deficits, the Compamgsmtlence on a few customers for a significanigodf revenues, risks related to
intellectual property matters, market developméraral demand for the Company's products, and tigtheof the sales cycle. Such risks coulc
have a material adverse effect on the Company'sotidated financial position, results of operationgash flows.

The Company has invested and expects tnc@nto invest a significant portion of its resgaand development budget into the design o
ASIC devices, including the HyperCloud® memory sudhsm family of products. These new designs angtbducts they are incorporated
into are subject to increased risks as compargtet€ompany's existing products. The Company mayniaéle to achieve customer or market
acceptance of the HyperCloud® memory subsystemifashproducts or other new products, or achievehsacceptance in a timely manner.
The Company has experienced a longer qualificatymte than anticipated with its HyperCloud® memsupsystems, and as of December 28
2013, the product has not generated significardmae relative to the Company's investment in tlelyoct. The Company has entered into
collaborative agreements with both HP and IBM parguo which these OEMs have cooperated with thag2my to qualify HyperCloud® for
use in their respective products. The qualifying\@Ehave engaged and continue to engage with thep@oynn joint marketing and further
product development efforts. The Company and e&tiedOEMs have committed financial and other resesitoward the collaboration. Thi
can be no assurance that the efforts undertakesugnitr to either of the collaborative agreementkredlult in any new revenues for the
Company. Further delays or any failure in placingealifying this product with HP, IBM or other moitial customers would adversely impact
the Company's consolidated results of operations.

The Company's operations in the PRC ar@stuto various political, geographical and econonisks and uncertainties inherent to
conducting business in the PRC. These includeataunot limited to, (i) potential changes in ecommoonditions in the region, (ii) managing a
local workforce that may subject the Company toeutainties or certain regulatory policies, (iii)actges in other policies of the Chinese
governmental and regulatory agencies, and (iv) gasun the laws and policies of the U.S. governmegarding the conduct of business in
foreign countries, generally, or in the PRC, intigafar. Additionally, the Chinese government coigrthe procedures by which its local
currency, the Chinese Renminbi ("RMB"), is converitgto other currencies and by which dividends rayleclared or capital distributed for
the purpose of repatriation of earnings and invests If restrictions in the conversion of RMB otthe repatriation of earnings and
investments through dividend and capital distrimutiestrictions are instituted, the Company's ap@ra and operating results may be
negatively impacted. The liabilities of the Compargubsidiaries in the PRC exceeded its assetsacember 28, 2013 and December 29,
2012.
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NETLIST, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continu ed)
December 28, 2013
Note 2—Summary of Significant Accounting PoliciesGontinued)
Foreign Currency Remeasurement

The functional currency of the Companyi®ign subsidiary is the U.S. dollar. Local currefiogncial statements are remeasured into
U.S. dollars at the exchange rate in effect ab®btalance sheet date for monetary assets anlitigstand the historical exchange rate for
nonmonetary assets and liabilities. Expenses aneasured using the average exchange rate for thoe pexcept items related to nonmonetary
assets and liabilities, which are remeasured usistgrical exchange rates. All remeasurement gaigslosses are included in determining net
loss. Transaction gains and losses were not signifin 2013 and 2012.

Net Loss Per Share

Basic net loss per share is calculateditagidg net loss by the weighted-average commomeshautstanding during the year, excluding
unvested shares issued pursuant to restricted atarels under the Company's share-based compenpétits. Diluted net loss per share is
calculated by dividing the net loss by the weigkawdrage shares and dilutive potential common shautstanding during the year. Dilutive
potential shares consist of dilutive shares issuapbn the exercise or vesting of outstanding stetions and restricted stock awards,
respectively, computed using the treasury stockatktin periods of losses, basic and diluted l@ssshare are the same, as the effect of stoc
options and unvested restricted share awards srpkasshare is anti-dilutive.

Note 3—Supplemental Financial Information
Inventories

Inventories consist of the following (irotisands):

December 28 December 29

2013 2012
Raw materials $ 1,731 $ 4,544
Work in proces: 67 70
Finished good 81€ 2,76¢€

$ 2,62( $ 7,38(

F-15




Table of Contents

NETLIST, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continu ed)
December 28, 2013
Note 3—Supplemental Financial Information (Continuel)
Property and Equipment

Property and equipment consist of the foilg (dollars in thousands):

Estimated

Useful December 28 December 29

Lives 2013 2012
Machinery and equipme 3-7yrs. $ 8,95¢ $ 9,06(
Leasehold improvemen * 1,87: 1,851
Furniture and fixture 5 yrs. 36¢ 457
Computer equipment and softw: 3-7yrs. 3,58( 3,90z
14,77 15,27:

Less accumulated depreciation and
amortization (13,639 (12,717)
$ 1,14 $ 2,56(

* Estimated useful life is generally 7 years, ortémaining lease term, whichever is shor

Included in property and equipment are tasseder capital leases with a cost of approxirga6l5 million and accumulated amortization
of approximately $0.2 million at December 29, 20I8ere were no assets under capital lease at Dexe28b2013. Amortization of assets
recorded under capital leases is included as a aoemt of depreciation and amortization expense.

Warranty Liability

The following table summarizes the activityated to the warranty liability (in thousands):

Year Ended
December 28 December 29
2013 2012

Beginning balanc $ 23t % 18¢
Estimated cost of warranty claims charged to cb

sales 122 164
Cost of actual warranty clain (10€) (11¢€)
Ending balanc 24¢ 23t
Less current portio (149) (142)
Long-term warranty obligation $ 10C $ 94

The allowance for warranty liabilities exped to be incurred within one year is includeé @®mponent of accrued expenses and other
current liabilities in the accompanying consolidhbalance sheets. The allowance for warranty ltesilexpected to be incurred after one yeat
is classified as other liabilities in the accompagyconsolidated balance sheets.
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Note 3—Supplemental Financial Information (Continuel)

Computation of Net Loss Per Share

The following table sets forth the compiatatof basic and diluted net loss per share, iriolyithe reconciliation of the numerator and
denominator used in the calculation of basic ahdelil net loss per share (in thousands, excepghsee data):

Year Ended
December 28 December 29
2013 2012
Basic and diluted net loss per share

Numerator: Net los $ (10,766 $  (13,98)
Denominator: Weighted-average common she

outstanding, basic and dilut: 30,88: 27,85:
Basic and diluted net loss per sh $ (0.35) $ (0.50)

The following table sets forth potentiallyutive common share equivalents, consisting afreb issuable upon the exercise or vesting of
outstanding stock options and restricted stock dsyaespectively, and the exercise of warrantspeted using the treasury stock method.
These potential common shares have been excludetdtire diluted net loss per share calculations alasvtheir effect would be anti-dilutive

for the years then ended (in thousands):

Year Ended
December 28 December 29
2013 2012
Common share equivaler 21¢ 622

The above common share equivalents would baen included in the calculation of diluted @zga per share had the Company reportec
net income for the years then ended.
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Note 3—Supplemental Financial Information (Continuel)
Cash Flow Information

The following table sets forth supplemeuliatlosures of cash flow information and non-dasesting and financing activities (in
thousands):

Year Ended
December 28 December 29
2013 2012
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow informati
Cash paid during the year fc
Interest $ 484 $ 33z
Income taxe: $ 7 % 4
Supplemental disclosure of non-cash investing ¢
financing activities
Purchase of equipment not paid for at the end
the perioc $ — $ 15C
Debt financed acquisition of fixed ass $ 24C $ 18C
Debt issuance costs associated with July debt
financing $ 328 $ —
Debt discount related to the relative fair value
detachable warrants issu $ 1,21t $ —
Paydown of SVB term loan directly with proce
from July debt financin $ 2,731 $ —
Reversal of unrealized loss charged to other
comprehensive incon $ — 9 56

Note 4—Fair Value Measurements

The following tables detail the fair valoeasurements within the fair value hierarchy ofGleenpany's investments in marketable
securities (in thousands):

Fair Value Measurements at December 28, 2013 Usil

Quoted Prices in Significant Other Significant
Fair Value at Active Markets for Observable Unobservable
December 28, Identical Assets Inputs Inputs
2013 (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
Money market mutual func $ 2,98t $ 2,98¢ $ — 3 —
Total $ 2,98t $ 2,98t $ — 3 —
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Note 4—Fair Value Measurements (Continued)

Fair Value Measurements at December 29, 2012 Usii

Quoted Prices in Significant Other Significant
Fair Value at Active Markets for Observable Unobservable
December 29, Identical Assets Inputs Inputs
2012 (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
Money market mutual func $ 2,33 $ 2,33¢ $ — 3 —
Auction and variable floating
rate note: 41t — — 41t
Total $ 2,75: $ 2,33t % — $ 41t

The following tables summarize the Compsuagsets measured at fair value on a recurring bagiresented in the Company's
consolidated balance sheets at December 28, 2@LBerember 29, 2012:

Fair Value Measurements at December 28, 2013 Usii
Quoted Prices in Significant Other Significant

December 28 Identical Assets Inputs Inputs
2013 (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
Cash equivalent $ 2,98t $ 2,98t $ — $ —
Total $ 2,98¢ $ 2,98t $ — $ —

Fair Value Measurements at December 29, 2012 Usil

Quoted Prices in Significant Other Significant

Fair Value at Active Markets for Observable Unobservable
December 29, Identical Assets Inputs Inputs

2012 (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
Cash equivalent $ 2,33 $ 2,33¢ $ — 3 —
Marketable securitie 41F — — 41F

Total assets measured at fa

value $ 2,75: $ 2,33t $ — $ 41F

Fair value measurements using Level 3 mputhe table above relate to the Company's invests in auction rate securities The
Company estimated the fair value of these investsnasing a discounted cash flow model which inatlidgsumptions about the credit quality
and expected duration of the investments, alonly digcount rates affected for the general lackguiidlity. These assumptions reflected the
Company's estimates about the reasonable assumptiariket participants would likely use in valuihg investments, including assumptions
about risk, developed based on the best informati@ilable in the circumstances.
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The following table provides a reconciliatiof the beginning and ending balances for the izoy's assets measured at fair value using
Level 3 inputs (in thousands):

Year Ended
December 28 December 29
2013 2012

Beginning balanc $ 41t % 444

Sales of availab-for-sale marketable securiti (41%) —

Realized loss included in other expense, — (85)
Unrealized loss transferred from other

comprehensive loss to earnir — 56

Ending balanc: $ — 9 41F

Note 5—Investments in Marketable Securities
Investments in marketable securities comdithe following at December 29, 2012 (in thoussin

December 29, 201;

Net
Amortized Unrealized
Cost Gain (Loss) Fair Value
Auction and variable floating rate nof $ 418§ $ 41F

At December 29, 2012, the Level 3 fair eatif the Company's auction rate securities cortsist¢he par value of $500,000 adjusted for a
realized loss of $85,000, recorded as other expersén the accompanying consolidated statemeapefations for the year ended
December 29, 2012.

Realized gains and losses on the saleveSiments in marketable securities are determisetjihe specific identification method. Other
than the sale of the Company's auction rate sgcdesscribed below, there were no sales of availédit-sale securities prior to maturity in
2013 or 2012.

The following table presents the amortizest and fair value of the Company's investmentaanketable securities classified as available
for-sale at December 29, 2012 by contractual migtdn thousands):

December 29, 201,

Amortized Fair
Cost Value
Maturity
Greater than two year: $ 41§ 41t
* Comprised of auction rate securities which gatigthave interest rate reset dates of 90 dayssw thut final

contractual maturity dates in excess of 15 ye
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Auction Rate Securities

As of December 29, 2012, the Company haklinvestment in a Baal rated auction rate debiriseof a municipality with a total
purchase cost of $0.5 million and recorded a peemgimpairment of this asset for a realized los$8%,000. During the first quarter of 2013,
the Company sold this auction rate security for35@Q0.

Note 6—Credit Agreements
Silicon Valley Credit Agreement

On October 31, 2009, the Company enteredarcredit agreement with Silicon Valley Bank ('"BY, which was most recently amended
on July 18, 2013 (as amended, the "SVB Credit Aged"). Currently, the SVB Credit Agreement prowddeat the Company can borrow up
to the lesser of (i) 80% of eligible accounts reable, or (i) $5.0 million.

Pursuant to the September 2010 amendméne t8VB Credit Agreement, SVB extended a $1.5ionilterm loan, bearing interest at a
of prime plus 2.00%. The Company was required tkemaonthly principal payments of $41,666 over ther®nth term of the loan, or
$0.5 million annually. In May 2011, SVB extendedaatditional $3.0 million term loan, bearing intdrasa rate of prime plus 2.75%. The
Company was required to make monthly principal payts of $125,000 over the 24 month term of the,loa$1.5 million annually. In May
2012, SVB consolidated both term loans and exteadeitional credit, resulting in a combined balant&3.5 million as of May 2012 (the
"Consolidated Term Loan"). The Consolidated TermarLavas payable in 36 installments of $97,222, begg\December 2012, with interes
a rate of prime plus 2.50%. Interest was payablathip from the date of funding through final payoffthe loan. On July 18, 2013, as part an
amendment to the SVB Credit Agreement enteredviitto SVB and following the Company's receipt of aidaal loan financing from DBD
Credit Funding, LLC, an affiliate of Fortress Intragnt Group, LLC ("DBD"), the Consolidated Term lno@nd outstanding interest was pai
full.

On July 18, 2013, the Company and SVB ewt@rto a loan amendment ("SVB Amendment") to tbenfany's loan and security
agreement with SVB. Pursuant to the SVB Amendn&WB allowed for the financing and security intesesbntemplated under the loan
agreement entered into with DBD and released cepatients and related assets relating to the NW¥¥aptoduct line from the collateral
subject to SVB's security interest under the SVBdrAgreement. Additionally, pursuant to the SVBi@ndment, advances under the
revolving line now accrue interest at a rate eq&VB's most recently announced "prime rate" plU$%. The SVB Amendment also relaxed
the Company's tangible net worth covenant unde&ifig Credit Agreement and waived certain eventdedéult in connection therewith.
Certain reporting requirements under the SVB CrAdieement were modified while certain reserve$wdispect to the borrowing base and
the availability of revolving loans were removedguant to the SVB Amendment. Under the terms ofS¥iB Credit Agreement, the Compe
may draw revolving advances in an aggregate outstgrprincipal amount of up to the lesser of $5lioml or the available borrowing base,
subject to reserve amounts. The Company's borrolbdisg under the SVB Credit Agreement is subjecettain adjustments and up to the
lesser of 80% of eligible accounts receivable.
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SVB Amendment requires letters of credibéosecured by cash, which is classified as réstricash in the accompanying condensed
consolidated balance sheet. At December 28, 2eft8rs of credit in the amount of $1.1 million wexgstanding.

The following table presents details oémeist expense related to borrowings on the lirerexdit with SVB, along with certain other
applicable information (in thousands):

Year Ended
December 28 December 29
2013 2012
Interest expens $ 13€ $ 112
December 28 December 29
2013 2012
Availability under the revolving line of crec $ 4,04: $ 1,48¢

All obligations under the SVB Credit Agreem are secured by a first priority lien on the @amy's tangible and intangible assets, other
than its intellectual property, which is subjecttéirst priority lien held by DBD. The SVB Credigreement subjects the Company to certain
affirmative and negative covenants, including ficiahcovenants with respect to the Company's ligyighd tangible net worth and restrictions
on the payment of dividends. As of December 2832@1e Company was in compliance with its debt cawes. As of December 29, 2012, the
Company was in violation of the tangible net wartivenant but remained in compliance with the quitlo covenant. In connection with the
SVB Amendment, the Company obtained a waiver ofi sian-compliance and amended the tangible net veotbnant which resulted in the
Company's compliance with all financial covenarg®July 18, 2013.

On January 23, 2013, the Company entetedaifrorbearance Agreement with SVB (the "Forbearagreement"”), pursuant to which
SVB agreed to forbear from filing any legal actmminstituting or enforcing any rights and remedieray have against the Company as a
result of its violation of the financial covenanistil February 28. 2013. On March 27, 2013, theaffeness of the Forbearance Agreement
was extended until April 30, 2013. As a resultref Company's non-compliance with a loan covenabeaember 29, 2012, and in accordance
with relevant accounting guidance, the Companyasified the long-term portion of the Consolidatedm Loan to current portion of debt in
the accompanying consolidated balance sheet asadrbber 29, 2012. In connection with the SVB Ameeuinto the SVB Credit Agreement
the Company obtained a waiver of such non-compdianc

Pursuant to the Forbearance Agreementhsatin effect prior to the SVB Amendment, any pipat amount outstanding under the
revolving line accrued interest at a per annumegteal to the following (i) at all times that a&tmline Period (as defined) is in effect, 1.75%
above the Prime Rate; and (ii) at all times th&traamline Period is not in effect, 2.75% aboveRhime Rate, which interest was payable
monthly. In addition, the reserve on the revoliing was increased to $2 million. The SVB Creditrégment requires payment of an unused
line fee, as well as anniversary and early ternondees, as applicable. On July 18, 2013, asqfahlte SVB Amendment, the Streamline
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Period interest was eliminated and any principabamh outstanding under the Revolving Line accraésrést at 2.75% above the Prime Rate.
The SVB Amendment eliminates the reserve on thelveg line of $2 million, thereby increasing thertowing availability.

DBD Credit Funding, LLC Loan and Security Agreemeand Related Agreemen

On July 18, 2013, the Company, enteredantman agreement ("Loan Agreement") with DBD, Hiti@e of Fortress Investment
Group LLC, providing for up to $10 million in ternans and up to $5 million in revolving loans. Tthem loans are available in an initial
$6 million tranche (the "Initial Term Loan") withsecond tranche in the amount of $4 million becg@nailable upon achievement of certain
performance milestones relating to intellectualpenty matters (the "IP Monetization Milestones" aagh second tranche loan, "IP Milestone
Term Loan"). The $5 million in revolving loans areailable at DBD's discretion and subject to custigntonditions precedent. The $6 million
Initial Term Loan was fully drawn at closing onyldi8, 2013. Proceeds from the Initial Term Loanewesed in part to repay the Company's
existing Consolidated Term Loan with SVB. The remdarr of such funds will be used to fund the Com{smaggoing working capital needs.

The loans bear interest at a stated fiatel of 11.0% per annum. During the first eightel8) (nonths following the closing date, the
payments on the term loans are interest-only ash cate of 7.0% per annum and a payment-in-kifehidel cash interest rate of 4.0%, which
payment-in-kind interest is capitalized semi-anlyy&leginning with December 31, 2013. Following #ighteen (18) month interest-only
period, the term loans are amortized with 65% efgtincipal amount due in equal monthly installnsemter the following eighteen
(18) months with a balloon payment equal to 35%hefremaining principal amount of the term loadss@accrued interest, being payable on
July 18, 2016.

The Company's obligations under the LoareAment are secured by a fipsterity security interest in the Company's intetleal property
assets (other than certain patents and relatetsastating to the NVvault™ product line) pursuaman intellectual property security
agreement with (the "IP Security Agreement") arsgeond-priority security interest in substantiallyof the Company's other assets.

In connection with the Loan Agreement, @@mpany paid certain facility, due diligence angblfees of DBD on the closing date and is
obligated to pay a conditional facility fee upotisfaction of the IP Monetization Milestones. IetiCompany repays or prepays all or a portior
of the term loans prior to maturity, the Companglidigated to pay DBD a prepayment fee based cgreeptage of the then outstanding
principal balance being prepaid, equal to 4.0%aéf prepayment occurs on or prior to July 18, 2@t4£ (0% if such prepayment is made in
connection with the early repayment option premdistussed in the preceding sentence), 2.0% if tbggyment occurs between July 18, 2
and July 18, 2015, or 0.0% if the prepayment ocaftes July 18, 2015.

The Loan Agreement contains customary sepritions, warranties and indemnification provisiorhe Loan Agreement also contains
affirmative and negative covenants that, amongrdttiegs restrict the ability of the Company to:

. incur additional indebtedness or guarantees;
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. incur liens;

. make investments, loans and acquisitions;

. consolidate or merge;

. sell or exclusively license assets, including aptock of subsidiaries;
. alter the business of the Company;

. engage in transactions with affiliates; and

. pay dividends or make distributions.

The Loan Agreement also includes eventiedult, including, among other things, paymentad#$, breaches of representations,
warranties or covenants, certain bankruptcy evéiméstailure to maintain its listing on a natioyaltcognized securities exchange or
alternatively for its shares to be qualified fading on the OTC Bulletin Board and certain materitverse changes, including an impairment
of the perfection or priority of the lender's lidspon the occurrence of an event of default anidfohg any applicable cure periods, a default
interest rate of an additional 5.0% per annum meagplied to the outstanding loan balances, and B declare all outstanding obligations
immediately due and payable and take such othemacas set forth in the Loan Agreement.

Concurrently with the execution of the Lodgreement, the Company and an affiliate of DBDeesdl into a Patent Monetization Side
Letter Agreement (the "Letter Agreement"). The eetigreement provides, among other things, that Dy be entitled to share in certain
monetization revenues that the Company may denitied future related to its patent portfolio (tiRatent Portfolio"). The Patent Portfolio di
not include certain patents relating to the NVv&ulroduct line. Monetization revenues subject te #irangement include revenues
recognized during the seven year term of the Léttgeement from amounts (whether characterize@tlesment payments, license fees,
royalties, damages, or otherwise) actually paithéoCompany or its subsidiaries in connection witly assertion of, agreement not to assert, ¢
license of, the Patent Portfolio (in whole or intpa&ither (A) in consideration of the grant ofigehse or covenant not sue, or other immunity
with respect to the Patent Portfolio, or (B) asaendges award with respect to such assertion d?abent Portfolio, less (i) actual legal fees anc
expenses (including fees payable on a contingeasigpand actual court costs paid or payable b tirapany or its subsidiaries in connectior
with any such assertion and/or grant of a licemsswenant not to sue, or other immunity with respe the Patent Portfolio, provided that
such legal fees and expenses shall be cappedyapfacent (40%) of such gross, aggregate amowidstp the Company, (ii) all reasonable
and actual legal fees, filing fees, maintenancs,fagnuities, and other reasonable and actual andtexpenses paid or required to be paid by
the Company or its subsidiaries after the effeatigge in connection with the prosecution, mainteraand defense of any patents or patent
applications within the Patent Portfolio, (iii) semable and actual legal fees and reasonable #unal ather costs and expenses paid or require
to be paid by the Company or its subsidiaries imeetion with the enforcement of any agreementertaéling, commitment or court order tl
would generate monetization revenues and the timliethereof, and (iv) reasonable and actual colséEquisition of patents and patent
applications included in the Patent Portfolio tha acquired by or licensed to the Company or its
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subsidiaries after the effective date. Monetizat@renues also include the value attributable édRthtent Portfolio in any sale of the Company
during the seven year term, subject to a maximumeatnpayable to DBD. The Letter Agreement also ireguthat the Company use
commercially reasonable efforts to pursue oppotiesmio monetize the Patent Portfolio during threntef the Letter Agreement, provided that
the Company is under no obligation to pursue aiy sypportunities that Company does not deem ta leei Company's best interest in the
Company's reasonable business judgment. Notwitthistgnhe foregoing, there can be no assurancdttbaEompany will be successful in
these efforts, and the Company may expend resouressuit of monetization revenues that may estit in any benefit to the Company.

Concurrently with the execution of the Lodgreement, the Company issued to an affiliate BDCa seven-year warrant (the "Warrant")
to purchase an aggregate of 1,648,351 shares @fdhmpany's common stock at an exercise price @ier share, of which 989,011 shares
are exercisable immediately on a cash or cashkss Im whole or in part. Pursuant to the stoclkcipase warrant agreement, (i) 329,670 share
will become exercisable upon the achievement ofRhiglonetization Milestones and (ii) the remainB2P,670 shares will become exercisable
upon the Company's receipt of an IP Milestone Tieoan. The Warrant was issued in a private placertnansaction that was exempt from
registration under Section 4(2) of the Securities @f 1933 (the "Securities Act"). The Company aoted for the warrants as a debt discount
and has valued them based on the relative faieval@pproximately $1,215,000, to be amortized tweterm of the debt instrument, or three
years, using the effective interest method. Foytder ended December 28, 2013, the Company amebdjzgroximately $203,000 as inter
expense in the consolidated statements of opegation

Also in connection with the Loan Agreeméhg Company agreed to pay to a consultant a camgtdée equal to (i) $300,000 to the
consultant in connection with the Company's receighe Initial Term Loan and (ii) 5% of any additial principal amount loaned to the
Company as an IP Milestone Term Loan. The initB0Gh000 has been recorded as debt issuance dusaimortized over the term of the debt
instrument, or three years, using the effectivergdt method. During the year ended December 28,20e Company amortized
approximately $135,000 as interest expense indhsdalidated statements of comprehensive loss.

Note 7—Debt

Debt consists of the following (in thousand

December 28 December 29
2013 2012

Obligations under capital leas $ — 9 11€
Consolidated Term Loan, net of issuance cost o — 3,37¢
Term Loan, DBD, net of debt discount of $1,( 5,09¢ —
5,09¢ 3,49¢

Less current portio — (3,497%)
$ 5,09¢ $ —
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As of December 28, 2013, maturities of khagn debt were as follows (in thousands):

Fiscal Yeat

2014 $ —
2015 4,074
2016 2,03i
Total payments on loi-term debt 6,111
Debt discoun (1,019
Long-term debi $ 5,09¢

Interest expense related to the Compaagig-term debt is presented in the following taletfjousands):

Year Ended
December 28 December 29
2013 2012

Interest expens $ 79€ $ 234

Note 8—Income Taxes

Deferred income taxes reflect the net féects of temporary differences between the cagymounts of assets and liabilities for finan
reporting purposes and the amounts used for in¢ame
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purposes. Significant components of the Compareferced tax assets and liabilities are as follawshHousands):

December 28 December 29
2013 2012
Deferred tax asset
Reserves and allowanc $ 1,46C $ 1,67(
State taxes, net of federal income tax bet 2 2
Depreciation and amortizatic 50& 591
Other accrual 447 41°
Compensatory stock options and rig 2,02¢ 1,98¢
Other 15 45
Tax credit carryforward 3,04¢ 2,66¢
Operating loss carryforwal 19,157 17,23¢
Foreign operating loss carryforwe 1,86¢ 1,19:
Total deferred tax asse 28,52¢ 25,81(
Deferred tax liabilities
Prepaid expenst (379 (20%)
Basis difference in warrant vali (90)

Total deferred tax liabilitie (469) (20£)
Subtotal 28,05¢ 25,60¢
Valuation allowanct (28,05%) (25,605

$ — $ —

The Company evaluates whether a valuatiowance should be established against its defaeedssets based on the consideration
available evidence using a "more likely than nedthdard. In making such judgments, significant \weig given to evidence that can be
objectively verified. As of December 28, 2013 anecBmber 29, 2012, a valuation allowance of $28Illomiand $25.6 million, respectively,
has been provided based on the Company's assedhiaeinis more likely than not, that sufficieaixable income will not be generated to
realize the tax benefits of the temporary diffeencThe valuation allowance increased by approxty&2.5 million and $5.3 million during
the years ended December 28, 2013 and Decemb2029, respectively, primarily related to the inaeén the net operating loss
carryforward.

At December 28, 2013, the Company has aqpadely $53.6 million of federal net operatingdg8NOL") carryforwards which begin to
expire in year 2029, and approximately $34.9 millad state net operating loss carryforwards whiebiib to expire in year 2017, and Federal
and state tax credit carryforwards of approximagdlys million and $1.6 million, respectively at @eaber 28, 2013. Federal tax credit
carryforwards begin to expire in 2026 and statectaxlits carry forward indefinitely. In additiome Company has approximately $7.5 million
of operating loss carryforwards in the PRC and Baiwand had $2.7 million of net operating lossesrexgt the end of the current year.
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The deferred tax asset at December 28, d6&8 not include approximately $1.6 million and8®hillion of excess tax benefits from
employee stock option exercises that are a comparfi¢he federal and state net operating loss oaaw; respectively. The Company's
stockholders' equity balance will be increasedd when such excess tax benefits are ultimatelizezh

For financial reporting purposes, loss befeenefit of income taxes includes the followitgnponents (in thousands):

Year Ended
December 28 December 29
2013 2012
United State: $ (9,229 $ (12,640
Foreign (1,52§) (1,357

$_ (10,75) $__ (13,99)

The Company's income tax benefit consikthefollowing (in thousands):

Year Ended
December 28 December 29
2013 2012
Current:
Federal $ — 9 (22
State 9 10
Total curren 9 (12)
Deferred:
Federal (2,849 (4,339
State 1,071 (764)
Foreign (672) (160
Change in valuation allowan: 2,45( 5,25¢
Total deferrec — —
Income tax benef $ 9 % (12
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A reconciliation of income taxes computgdapplying the statutory U.S. income tax rate ® @ompany's loss before income taxes to th
income tax benefit is as follows:

Year Ended
December 28 December 29
2013 2012
U.S. federal statutory te 35% 35%
Valuation allowanct 27 (32
Loss from foreign subsidial (5) 3
Other (3) —
Effective income tax benefit ra 0% 0%

Unrecognized Tax Benefits
The following table summarizes the activityated to the Company's unrecognized tax ben@iithousands):

Balance at December 31, 2C $ 22
Reversal of liability for expiration of statute ldhitations
Accrual of potential interest related to unrecogdizax benefit:

Balance at December 29, 2C
Reversal of liability for expiration of statute lhitations
Accrual of potential interest related to unrecogdizax benefit

Balance at December 28, 2C

| |’\
IR

©®
|

Unrecognized tax benefits of tax positiagheecognized, would affect the Company's annffglotive tax rate.

The Company recognizes accrued interespandlties related to unrecognized tax benefits @amponent of tax expense. Interest and
penalty accruals were insignificant at December2B32. No interest and penalties are recorded e¢mber 28, 2013.

The Company files tax returns with fedestdte and foreign jurisdictions. The Company idamger subject to IRS or state examinations
for periods prior to 2008 although certain carryfard attributes that were generated prior to 20@8 still be adjusted by the IRS.

Tax Holidays

In 2008, the Company began operating utadeholidays in the PRC, which are effective fraamuary 2008 through December 2012.
Since the Company operated at a loss in the PRO18 and 2012, it did not realize any benefit sacitnsolidated results of operations
attributable to the tax holidays.
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Leases

The Company leases certain of its fac#is@d equipment under non-cancelable operatingddhsat expire at various dates through 2017
Rental expense, net of amortization of deferred gad sublease income, is presented in the follgtdble (in thousands):

Year Ended

December 28 December 29
2013 2012

Rental expens $ 774 3 95¢

A summary of future minimum payments unolgerating lease commitments as of December 28, Bdfollows (in thousands):

Operating
Fiscal Year Leases
2014 364
2015 33¢
2016 30¢
2017 34
Total minimum lease paymer $ 1,04f

Litigation and Patent Reexaminations

The Company owns numerous patents andre@yito enlarge and strengthen its patent porsfolinich cover different aspects of the
Company's technology innovations with various clatopes. The Company plans to generate revenualmgor licensing its technology,
and intends to vigorously enforce its patent rigtgainst infringers of such rights. The Companyicds substantial resources in protectin
intellectual property, including its efforts to @efl its patents against challenges made by wagesfamination proceedings at the United Si
Patent and Trademark Office ("USPTQ"). These datiwiare likely to continue for the foreseeableifef without any guarantee that any
ongoing or future patent protection and litigatamtivities will be successful. The Company is alabject to litigation claims that it has
infringed on the intellectual property of othergaast which the Company intends to defend vigdyous

Litigation, whether or not eventually demildin the Company's favor or settled, is costly timé-consuming and could divert
management's attention and resources. Because phthre and inherent uncertainties of litigatelmuld the outcome of any of such actions
be unfavorable, the Company's business, finanoiadition, results of operations or cash flows cdwddmaterially and adversely affected.
Additionally, the outcome of pending litigation,dathe related patent reexaminations, as well agatay in their resolution, could affect the
Company's ability to license its intellectual pragen the future or to protect against competitiothe current and expected markets for its
products.
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Google Litigation

In May 2008, the Company initiated discaesiwith Google, Inc. ("Google") based on inforraatand belief that Google had infringed
a U.S. patent owned by the Company, U.S. Paten?]289,386 ("the '386 patent"), which relates galheto technologies to implement rank
multiplication in memory modules. Preemptively, @tofiled a declaratory judgment lawsuit against @ompany in the U.S. District Court
for the Northern District of California (the "Noe District Court"), seeking a declaration thab@le did not infringe the '386 patent and that
the '386 patent was invalid. The Company filed @nterclaim for infringement of the '386 patent byagle. Claim construction proceedings
were held in November 2009, and the Company predaih every disputed claim construction issueuheX2010, the Company filed motions
for summary judgment of patent infringement ananiésal of Google's affirmative defenses. In May@0&oogle requested and was later
granted annter PartesReexamination of the '386 patent by the USPTO.r€bgamination proceedings are described below Nidréhern
District Court granted Google's request to stalitlgation pending result of the reexaminationgdaherefore has not ruled on the Company's
motions for summary judgment.

In December 2009, the Company filed a gatdringement lawsuit against Google in the NorthBistrict Court, seeking damages and
injunctive relief based on Google's infringementlo$. Patent No. 7,619,912 ("the '912 patent") clis related to the '386 patent and relates
generally to technologies to implement rank muiltgion. In February 2010, Google answered the Gomis complaint and asserted
counterclaims against the Company seeking a déiclarthat the patent is invalid and not infringadd claiming that the Company committed
fraud, negligent misrepresentation and breach ofraot based on the Company's activities in theBXEBtandard-setting organization. The
counterclaim seeks unspecified compensatory damagesuals have not been recorded for loss contioigs related to Google's counterclain
because it is not probable that a loss has be@nr@tcand the amount of any such loss cannot l®nehly estimated. In October 2010, Gor
requested and was later grantedraar PartesReexamination of the '912 patent by the USPTO.rébgamination proceedings are described
below. In connection with the reexamination requist Northern District Court granted the Compang &oogle's joint request to stay the
'912 patent infringement lawsuit against Googlel tiné completion of the reexamination proceedings.

Inphi Litigation

In September 2009, the Company filed argatdringement lawsuit against Inphi Corporatidmphi") in the U.S. District Court for the
Central District of California (the "Central DigttiCourt"). The complaint, as amended, allegesltigti is contributorily infringing and
actively inducing the infringement of U.S. pateotsned by the Company, including the '912 paters. Patent No. 7,532,537 ("the '537
patent"), which relates generally to memory moduléh load isolation and memory domain translatapabilities, and U.S. Patent
No. 7,636,274 ("the '274 patent"), which is relaiethe '537 patent and relates generally to leathiion and memory domain translat
technologies. The Company is seeking damages @ntttive relief based on Inphi's use of the Com{mpsgitented technology. Inphi denied
infringement and claimed that the three patentsraaid. In April 2010, Inphi requested but wageladeniednter PartesReexaminations of
the '912, '537 and '274 patents by the USPTO. e 2010, Inphi submitted new requests and was daserted
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Inter PartesReexaminations of the '912, '537 and '274 patentedUSPTO. The reexamination proceedings areritbescbelow. In
connection with the reexamination requests, Injid fa motion to stay the patent infringement laivaith the Central District Court, which
was granted. The Central District Court has reauesiat the Company notify it within one week oy action taken by the USPTO in
connection with the reexamination proceedings,latkwtime the Central District Court may decidentaintain or lift the stay.

Smart Modular, Smart Storage, Smart Worldwide, Brablo Litigations

In September 2012, Smart Modular, Inc. (@8Modular”) filed a patent infringement lawsuitanst the Company in the U.S. District
Court for the Eastern District of California (thédstern District Court”). The complaint alleges tie Company willfully infringes and
actively induces the infringement of six claimsadf).S. patent newly issued to Smart Modular, Ugieift No. 8,250,295 ("the '295 patent"),
and seeks damages and injunctive relief. Smart Modlso filed a motion for preliminary injuncti@amnd a memorandum in support of the
motion on the same day of the complaint. The Compaomptly filed a request for reexamination of 1285 patent with the USPTO setting
forth six different combinations of prior art thabuld render the six asserted claims of the '298mainpatentable. The Company also filed ar
answer to Smart Modular's complaint with the Easistrict Court in October 2012 to deny infringerhef the '295 patent, assert that the
patent is invalid and unenforceable, and bringt@teounterclaims against Smart. Smart Moduladfivarious motions on the pleadings on
November 1, 2012, which were opposed by the Compaity briefs filed in late November 201

In December 2012, the USPTO granted the2amyls request for the reexamination of the '298miaand issued an Office Action
rejecting all of the six asserted claims over tledgferent combinations of prior art set forth the Company in its request. The Company
promptly moved to stay litigation pending resulreéxamination. On February 19, 2013, a few datgs &mart Modular filed replies in
support of its motions, the Eastern District Casstied a Minute Order, in which the court on itsxanotion took the preliminary injunction;
the motion to dismiss and the motion to stay usdémission without oral argument and vacated tlagihg dates.

On February 7, 2013, Smart Modular filegsponse to the Office Action in the reexaminatibthe '295 patent. Thereafter, the Compan
and Smart Modular made various filings to addrestam apparent defects contained in Smart Modutasponse. On March 13, 2013, the
USPTO issued a Notice of Defective Paper, in withehUSPTO found Smart Modular's responses, botmitia filing and a supplemental
filing, to be improper, and both responses weraiagpd from the record. The USPTO gave Smart Modilatays to submit another respor
which Smart Modular submitted on March 26, 2013 Tompany timely filed its comments on Smart Modsleorrected response on
April 25, 2013. The USPTO ultimately accepted Snvatlular's corrected response on July 17, 2013.

On May 30, 2013, the Eastern District Cagstied an order granting Netlist's motion to gteyding results of the reexamination of the
'295 patent and denied Smart Modular's motion feliminary injunction.

On July 1, 2013, Netlist filed a complad@gfainst Smart Modular in the Santa Ana Divisiothef U.S. District Court for the Central
District of California, seeking, among other thingdief under
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federal antitrust laws for Smart Modular's violatiof Section 2 of the Sherman Act, and damagestrat equitable relief under California
statutory and common law for Smart Modular's unéaimpetition, deceptive trade practices and fraud.

On August 23, 2013, Netlist filed an amahdemplaint for patent infringement, antitrust @bbns and trade secret misappropriation
against Smart Modular, Smart Storage Systems (Sttarage), Smart Worldwide Holdings (Smart Worldsyidnd Diablo Technologies
(Diablo) in the Santa Ana Division of the U.S. Dist Court for the Central District of Californidletlist's amended complaint alleges
infringement of five Netlist patents by the defentdabased on the manufacture and sale of the UDL#& memory module. Netlist's
complaint also alleges antitrust violations by Snhwdular and Smart Worldwide, contending that Sriviwdular procured a patent (U.S.
Patent No. 8,250,295) with blatant inequitable esmict the USPTO, withheld the patent applicateading to the patent from relevant JEDEC
committees for more than eight years, sought toaperly enforce that patent against Netlist's JERB@®pliant HyperCloud® product by
seeking a preliminary injunction against Netliss&éa on the patent, which was denied by the Condtngade deceptive statements to the pi
about its lawsuit against Netlist. Netlist's conmpialso alleges trade secret misappropriationteagemark infringement against Diablo,
claiming that Diablo misused Netlist trade sectetsreate the ULLtraDIMM product for Smart Storagjestems, and that Diablo used Netlist's
HyperCloud® technology to create competing products

On the same day Netilist filed its amendaulaint, Smart Modular and Diablo each filed a ptaimt in the San Francisco Division of 1
U.S. District Court Northern District of Californiaeeking declaratory judgment of niofiringement and invalidity of the patents asseitethe
Netlist's amended complaint. On September 9, 2R&8ist filed a Motion to Dismiss or Transfer Corajpit to the Central District ¢
California. This motion was denied on October 1@, 2

In the Central District Court, Smart Moduéand Smart Worldwide filed motions on September2l® 3, to dismiss or sever various col
related to the '295 patent. On September 26, 2DiER]o filed a motion to dismiss Netlist's claints trade secret misappropriation, breach of
contract, and unfair competition. On October 29,28mart Modular and Diablo filed motions to dissnis transfer the patent claims relate
the ULLtraDIMM memory module. On November 26, 208 Central District Court: (i) severed and transfd the claims related to the '295
patent to the Eastern District of California, whighre stayed by the Court on March 7, 2014, aloitly the other '295 related claims pending
results of the '295 reexamination; (ii) severed wmadsferred to the Northern District of Califoritiee patent claims related to the ULLtraDIN
memory module; (iii) issued an order to show caubkg the remaining claims should not also be transéeto the Northern District; and
(iv) held in abeyance Diablo's pending motion tentiss and motion for judgment on the pleadings. @drées filed briefs in response to the
order to show cause, and then on December 23, 804 &entral District Court ordered the remainifajnas to be transferred to the Northern
District. All of the claims from the amended comiptdiled on August 23, 2013, in the Central DistiCourt have now been transferred to
either the Northern District or Eastern District@dlifornia.

As reported in its Form 8-K filed on Deceanii3, 2013, Netlist received a whistleblower leftestmarked from Canada (where Diablo is
based) on November 13, 2013, and obviously writtea current or former Diablo employee. The leltiegins by bluntly stating that Diablo
stole Netlist's
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architecture and design, and goes on to explairDtablo used Netlist's HyperClodd product "as-is" in creating the ULLtraDIMM product,
which it then used in demonstrations to major augtis including IBM and Hewlett-Packard. The leftether states that Diablo's managemen
conspired to hide this theft by instructing its éoyees not to speak to customers about the fattNégist's product was incorporated into
ULLtraDIMM. The letter includes diagrams showingpisely how Diablo implemented the theft of Ne$istade secrets, as well as the name:
of former Diablo employees, customers and supplidrs can verify the theft. The Form 8-K includedassexhibit a partially redacted copy of
the whistleblower letter. On December 13, 2013 plidiled an ex parte application in the Northernstict Court requesting that the Court
issue an order to show cause by Netlist shouldaaanctioned for filing the Form 8-K. The North@®istrict Court heard the parties'
arguments on December 16, 2013, and on Januaf13, ssued an order denying Diablo's applicatmrsénctions, finding that Diablo had
not established a basis for finding the informatiiothe Form 8-K and its attachments "confidenteid therefore had not shown why it should
be granted the relief it sought.

On January 21, 2014, Netlist filed a mofionleave to file a second amended answer andtemlaims in the Northern District Court to
assert two additional patents against, bringingdked to seven patents asserted against the UDLM#. Diablo did not oppose Netlist's
motion, and the parties filed a joint stipulatiordgroposed order on February 3, 2014, requestiraglditional two months be added to the
case schedule to account for the additional pat@rtd-ebruary 5, 2014, the Northern District Caretnted Netlist's motion to add the two
patents and entered a new case schedule.

'386 Patent Reexamination

As noted above, in May 2010, Google reqeebaind was later granted kter PartesReexamination of the '386 patent by the USPTO. In
October 2010, Smart Modular requested and wasdadeted afnter PartesReexamination of the '386 patent. The reexaminatiequested
by Google and Smart Modular were merged by the WBRTo a single proceeding. In April 2011, a NomdtiAction was issued by the
USPTO, rejecting all claims in the patent. In J2041, the Company responded by amending or cagcgtime of the claims, adding new
claims, and making arguments as to the validitthefrejected claims in view of cited referenceshBBoogle and Smart Modular filed their
comments to the Company's response in October 20Tctober 2012, the USPTO issued an Action Clp§irosecution ("ACP") rejecting all
60 claims. The Company filed a response to the A&Pecember 3, 2012. On June 21, 2013, the USPI@dsa Right of Appeal Notice
(RAN) in which the Examiner maintained his rejentif the claims. Netlist filed a notice of appealduly 19, 2013. Google filed a notice of
cross-appeal on August 2, 2013, and a cross-appeébn October 1, 2013. The Company filed an appgef and an amendment canceling
some of the remaining claims on October 2, 201f8rier focus the issues on appeal. On Februarg@¥4, the Examiner entered the
amendment canceling claims, withdrew the rejectreteted to those claims, but otherwise maintathedoositions previously set forth in the
RAN. Thus, the reexamination of the '386 patentai@sipending and will continue in accordance witaklished procedures for merged
reexamination proceedings.
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'912 Patent Reexamination

As noted above, in April 2010, Inphi requeelsbut was later denied &mter PartesReexamination of the '912 patent by the USPTO. In
June 2010, Inphi submitted a new request and viaisdeanted ainter PartesReexamination of the '912 patent by the USPTO ejpt&nber
2010, the USPTO confirmed the patentability ofiftlf-one claims of the '912 patent. In October @0Google and Smart Modular each filed
and were later granted requests for reexaminafitimed912 patent. In February 2011, the USPTO egtthe Inphi, Google and Smart Modt
'912 reexaminations into a single proceeding. Id\pnl 2011 Non-Final Action in the merged reexaation proceeding, the USPTO rejected
claims 1-20 and 22-51 and confirmed the patentghofi claim 21 of the '912 patent. In July 201% ompany responded by amending or
canceling some of the claims, adding new claimd,raaking arguments as to the validity of the rejdatlaims. Inphi, Google, and Smart
Modular filed their comments on the Company's respdn August 2011. In October 2011, the USPTOedadl second Non-Final Action
confirming the patentability of twenty claims oktl®12 patent, including claims that were addethiénreexamination process. In January 201:
the Company responded by amending or canceling sbtine claims, adding new claims, and making arguisias to the validity of the
rejected claims. Google, Inphi and Smart Moduliedfitheir comments to the Company's response irugep2012. The USPTO determined
that Smart Modular's comments were defective, asalid a notice to Smart Modular to rectify andlvestiits comments. Smart Modular filed
corrected comments and a petition for the USPTWitiadraw the notice in March 2012. The USPTO issaeubn-final Office Action on
November 13, 2012 maintaining the patentabilitynainy key claims while rejecting some claims thatengreviously determined to |
patentable. The Company filed a response to thie€®#ction on January 14, 2013. The requesterd fheir comments on February 13, 2013.
The reexamination of the '912 patent remains penaind will continue in accordance with establispeatedures for merged reexamination
proceedings.

'627 Patent Reexamination

In September 2011, Smart Modular filedguesst for reexamination of U.S. Patent No. 7,864 Bthe '627 patent”) issued to the
Company on January 4, 2011. The '627 patent iteckta the '912 patent. In November 2011, the USBiE@ted Smart Modular's request for
reexamination of the '627 patent and concurrestiyeéd a Non-Final Action confirming the patentypilif three claims. In February 2012, the
Company responded by amending or canceling sortieeaflaims, adding new claims, and making argumaste the validity of the rejected
claims. Smart Modular filed its comments to the @amy's response in March 2012. The USPTO deterntire@dSmart Modular's comments
were defective and issued a notice in April 2013noart Modular to rectify and resubmit its commeBimart Modular filed corrected
comments and a petition for the USPTO to withdragvriotice in April 2012. The USPTO posted an Offimtion on December 19, 2012,
confirming one claim and rejecting the rest of ¢k@ms in the '627 patent. The Company filed aoasp to the Office Action on March 19,
2013. Smart Modular filed its comments on the @fffiection on April 24, 2013. The USPTO issued anothen-Final Office Action on
September 26, 2013, withdrawing certain rejectish#ge adopting new rejections for certain of thegieg claims. The Company responded tc
the Non-Final Office Action on November 26, 2018,amending some of the claims and making argunente the validity of the rejected
claims. The reexamination of the '627 patent resmapanding and will continue in accordance with ld&hedinter PartesReexamination
procedures.
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'5637 Patent Reexamination

As noted above, in April 2010, Inphi reqieglsand was later denied bter PartesReexamination of the '537 patent by the USPTO. In
June 2010, Inphi submitted a new request and viaisdeanted ainter PartesReexamination of the '537 patent by the USPTO ejpt&nber
2010, the USPTO issued a Non-Final Action configriime patentability of four claims. In October 20flte Company responded by amending
or canceling some of the claims, adding new claamg, making arguments as to the validity of theatgjd claims. Inphi filed its comments on
the Company's response in January 2011. In Junk B USPTO issued an ACP, which reconfirmed #itergability of the four claims. In
August 2010, the Company responded by amending sbthe claims and making arguments as to the ialid the rejected claims. Inphi
filed its comments to the Company's response ineBeper 2011. The USPTO issued a Right of AppeaicdtRAN") in February 2012, in
which the claim rejections were withdrawn, thusfaoming the patentability of all sixty (60) clainis view of all the previously submitted
comments by both Inphi and the Company. Inphi fdawbtice of appeal in March 2012 followed by apesd brief in May 2012. In response,
the USPTO issued a Notice of Defective Appeal Biigbhi filed a corrective appeal brief in late M2§12, and the Company filed its reply
brief to the corrected Inphi appeal brief in eahlyy 2012. The examiner responded to Inphi's cteceappeal brief as well as the Company's
reply brief by Examiner's Answer on April 16, 2048which he maintained his position confirming giltty (60) claims. Inphi filed a rebuttal
brief on May 16, 2013. Netlist filed a request éoal hearing on June 14, 2013. The Company andxaminer jointly defended the '537 patent
in a hearing on November 20, 2013 before the Pawaltand Appeal Board (PTAB) at the USPTO. Onutay 16, 2014, the PTAB issued a
decision upholding the validity of all 60 claimssmhissing every single validity challenge raisedyyhi and affirming the examiner's decision
to allow the claims. The reexamination of the 'Bafent remains pending and will continue in accocdavith established procedures fiater
PartesReexamination.

'274 Patent Reexamination

As noted above, in April 2010, Inphi requieglsand was later denied bter PartesReexamination of the '274 patent by the USPTO. In
June 2010, Inphi submitted a new request and viaisdeanted ainter PartesReexamination of the '274 patent by the USPTO ejpt&nber
2011, the USPTO issued a Non-Final Action, confirgrihe patentability of six claims. The Company tesponded by amending or canceling
some of the claims, adding new claims, and makiggraents as to the validity of the rejected claimphi filed its comments on the
Company's response in November 2011. The USPT@dssn ACP in March 2012, which confirmed the patiifity of one hundred and four
(104) claims in view of all the previously submitteomments by both Inphi and the Company. The USBli3equently issued a RAN in June
2012. This RAN triggered Inphi's right as the |Igsparty to file a notice of appeal and correspogdippeal brief, which Inphi filed when due.
The Company responded to Inphi's appeal brieflmgfa reply brief in October 2012. The examinesp@nded to Inphi's appeal brief and the
reply brief by Examiner's Answer on April 16, 2018which he maintained his position confirming thee hundred and four (104) claims.
Inphi filed a rebuttal brief on May 16, 2013. Nstlfiled a request for oral hearing on June 14 320he Company and the USPTO examiner
jointly defended the '274 patent in a hearing onédober 20, 2013 before the PTAB, in accordance @stablished procedures iInter Partes
Reexamination. On January 16, 2014, the PTAB issugetision affirming the Examiner in part, butersing the Examiner on new grounds
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and rejecting the one hundred and four (104) claBesause the claims were rejected on new grothes;ompany may file a response
requesting reopening of prosecution before the ExamThe Company was granted an extension of tinfide this response, and will do so
prior to the new due date which will be on or abdlairch 17, 2014. The reexamination of the '274 tatemains pending and will continue in
accordance with established proceduredrtar PartesReexamination.

Other Contingent Obligations

During its normal course of business, tlhenPany has made certain indemnities, commitmerdggaarantees pursuant to which it may
required to make payments in relation to certaingactions. These include (i) intellectual propertemnities to the Company's customers
licensees in connection with the use, sales atidénse of Company products; (ii) indemnities tmders and service providers pertaining to
claims based on the Company's negligence or witffisconduct; (iii) indemnities involving the accoyeof representations and warranties in
certain contracts; (iv) indemnities to directorsl afficers of the Company to the maximum extenhpted under the laws of the State of
Delaware; and (v) certain real estate leases, umdieh the Company may be required to indemnifyppréy owners for environmental and
other liabilities, and other claims arising frone tGompany's use of the applicable premises. Thatidarof these indemnities, commitments
and guarantees varies and, in certain cases, miagl&nite. The majority of these indemnities, aoitments and guarantees do not provide
any limitation of the maximum potential for futypayments the Company could be obligated to malkstoki¢ally, the Company has not been
obligated to make significant payments for thedégabons, and no liabilities have been recordadliese indemnities, commitments and
guarantees in the accompanying condensed consdlidatance sheets.

Note 10—Stockholders' Equity
Serial Preferred Stock

The Company's authorized capital includ&800,000 shares of Serial Preferred Stock, wijthravalue of $0.001 per share. No shares
were outstanding at December 28, 2013 or Decenthe2(@ 2.

Common Stock

In November 2011, the Company enteredantales agreement with Ascendiant Capital Marke@ (C(Ascendiant”), whereby shares
with a total value of up to $10.0 million may béeased for sale to the public at the discretiomahagement at a price equal to the current
market price in an "at-the-market" offering as defl in Rule 415 under the Securities Act of 193%iy 2013 and 2012, the Company
received net proceeds of approximately $0.2 mildod $3.9 million, respectively, raised through shée of 240,373 and 1,312,669 shares of
common stock, respectively. The sales agreemehtAgitendiant expired on November 21, 2013.

On December 20, 2012, the Company raisessgoroceeds of $1.5 million in a registered putstiering ("Offering") of its securities. The
Offering closed on December 26, 2012, and the Compeceived net proceeds of $1.3 million after dmithg commissions and offering costs.
The Offering resulted in the issuance of 1,685 &%res of common stock and warrants to purchase ap
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aggregate of 2,275,282 shares of the Company's constock, which represents 135% of the number afeshissued and sold in the Offering.
Each warrant grants the holder the right to pureltase share of the Company's common stock at anissgrice of $0.89 per share and
expires in June 2018. These warrants became eaklei$81 days following the December 26, 2012 isseaate. In February 2014, 750,000
of these warrants were exercised.

On July 17, 2013, the Company enteredandefinitive securities purchase agreement fosttle of common stock and warrants in a
registered public offering ("2013 Offering") of gecurities for gross proceeds of $1.0 million. 26&3 Offering closed on July 19, 2013, and
the Company received net proceeds of $960,000 @étucting commissions and offering costs. The 20ff8ring resulted in the issuance
1,098,902 shares of the Company's common stocla avetrant to purchase up to an aggregate of 1,02&Bares of the Company's common
stock. The warrant is exercisable as of the datts adsuance, has a term of seven years, andeanisx price of $1.00 per share. The exercise
price and the number of warrant shares issuable apercise of warrant is subject to adjustmenhédvent of, among other things, certain
transactions affecting the Company's common stioghuding without limitation stock splits and stodk/idends), and certain fundamental
transactions (including without limitation a mergerother sale-of-company transaction).

In addition, on July 18, 2013, concurreithwhe execution of the Loan Agreement, the Comgpasued to an affiliate of DBD, a seven-
year warrant (the "Warrant") to purchase an agdeegfl,648,351 shares of the Company's commotk stiog per share price of $1.00,
which 989,011 shares are exercisable immediately @ash or cashless basis in whole or in part.udatgo the terms of the stock purchase
warrant agreement, (i) 329,670 shares will becoxeeotsable upon the achievement of the IP Monetindtlilestones and (ii) the remaining
329,670 shares will become exercisable upon thepaasis receipt of an IP Milestone Term Loan. Thehafg was issued in a private
placement transaction that was exempt from registrainder Section 4(2) of the Securities Act 083%the "Securities Act"). See Note 6 for
treatment of the warrant.

During the years ended December 28, 20ti@tember 29, 2012, the Company cancelled 19,6d8%23,631 shares of common stock,
respectively, valued at approximately $14,000 af4l @00, respectively, in connection with its obliga to holders of restricted stock to
withhold the number of shares required to satisé/Holders' tax liabilities in connection with thesting of such shares.

The Company is incorporated in the statBelware, and as such, is subject to various Eatewhich may restrict the payment of
dividends or purchase of treasury shares.

Stock-Based Compensation

The Company has stock-based compensatiandawutstanding pursuant to the Amended and Res2®00 Equity Incentive Plan (the
"2000 Plan") and the Amended and Restated 2006¥Ebgentive Plan (the "2006 Plan™), under whickasiety of option and direct stock-
based awards may be granted to employees and namerap of the Company. Further grants under th@ Z0a&n were suspended upon the
adoption of the 2006 Plan. In addition to awardslenpursuant to the 2006 Plan, the Company periliglisaues inducement grants outside
2006 Plan to certain new hires.

Subject to certain adjustments, as of Ddmard8, 2013, the Company was authorized to issnaxamum of 6,605,566 shares of commor
stock pursuant to awards under the 2006 Plan. That

F-38




Table of Contents

NETLIST, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continu ed)
December 28, 2013
Note 10—Stockholders' Equity (Continued)

maximum number will automatically increase on tingt fday of each subsequent calendar year by fiseidef (i) 5.0% of the number of shares
of common stock that are issued and outstanding the first day of the calendar year, and (ii)dD 00 shares of common stock, subject to
adjustment for certain corporate actions. At Decema8, 2013, the Company had 753,010 shares alaftabgrant under the 2006 Plan.
Options granted under the 2000 Plan and the 2086 étjuity incentive plans primarily vest at a i@ftat least 25% per year over four years
expire 10 years from the date of grant. Restristedk awards vest in eight equal increments atvate of approximately six months from the
date of grant.

A summary of the Company's common stocloopctivity is presented below (shares in thousgnd

Options Outstanding

Weighted-
Average
Weighted- Remaining Aggregate
Number of Average Contractual Intrinsic
Shares Exercise Life Value
(in thousands) Price (in years) (in thousands)
Options outstandi—December 31, 201 5,36¢ 2.62
Options grante: 1,667 3.4C
Options exercise (1,037 0.67
Options cancelle (1,259 2.8¢
Options outstandir—December 29, 201 475. $  3.2Z
Options grante: 2,08( 0.77
Options exercise (119 0.34
Options cancelle (879¢) 2.0t
Options outstandi—December 28, 201 5837 $ 2.5¢ 6.5 $ 162
Options exercisab—December 28, 201 3,46t $  3.2¢ 51 § 141
Options exercisable and expected to
ves—December 28, 201 549t § 2.6€ 6.4 $ 15¢
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The following table summarizes informateimout stock options outstanding and exercisaldieaember 28, 2013:

Options Outstanding Options Exercisable
Weighted Weighted
Average Average
Remaining Weighted Remaining Weighted
Number of Contractual Average Number of Contractual Average
shares Life Exercise shares Life Exercise
Exercise Price Range (in thousands) (in years) Price (in thousands) (in years) Price
$0.20- $1.00 2,19: 8€ $ 0.7 665 6. $ 0.5¢
$1.01- $3.00 1,85¢ 53 & 217 1,48 5C $ 2.1¢
$3.01- $5.00 884 79 $ 35t 41¢ 77 $ 358
$5.01- $8.45 90% 27 $ 71.01 90¢ 27 $ 7.01
5,83 6.5 $ 2.5¢ 3,46¢ 51 $ 3.2¢

A summary of the Company's restricted stmekrds is presented below (shares in thousands):

Restricted Stock Outstanding

Weighted-

Average

Grant-Date

Number of Fair Value

Shares per Share
Balance outstanding at December 31, 2 31¢ $ 3.32
Restricted stock grante — —
Restricted stock veste (113 3.37
Restricted stock forfeite (48) 3.22
Balance outstanding at December 29, 2 15¢€ $ 3.32
Restricted stock grante — —
Restricted stock veste (95) 3.3¢
Restricted stock forfeite (9) 3.4¢
Balance outstanding at December 28, 2 54 $ 3.17
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The following table presents details of éissumptions used to calculate the weighted-aveyage date fair value of common stock
options granted by the Company:

Year Ended
December 28 December 29
2013 2012

Expected term (in year 6.4 6.4
Expected volatility 11<% 127%
Risk-free interest rat 1.38% 1.16%
Expected dividend — —
Weighte-average grant date fair value per st $ 0.6¢ $ 3.0¢
Grant date fair value of options ves $ 1,358 $ 1,482
Intrinsic value of options exercised (in thousar $ 16 $ 2,61(

The weighted-average fair value per shatherestricted stock granted in 2012 was caledldiased on the fair market value of the
Company's common stock on the respective gransdabe grant date fair value of restricted stockte® was $0.07 million and $0.3 million
2013 and 2012, respectively.

At December 28, 2013, the amount of unehseteck-based compensation currently estimatee &xpensed from 2014 through 2016
related to unvested common stock options and céstiristock awards is approximately $2.7 milliont, sfeestimated forfeitures. The weighted-
average period over which the unearned stock-bamegensation is expected to be recognized is appataly 2.2 years. If there are any
modifications or cancellations of the underlyingrested awards, the Company may be required toexate] increase or cancel any remaining
unearned stock-based compensation expense orateleuld record additional expense. Future shaged compensation expense and une:
stock-based compensation will increase to the éxiert the Company grants additional common stqitlons or other stock-based awards.

Warrants

On December 26, 2012 the Company, in aagoniwith raising capital through a registered ljpubffering, issued warrants to purchase
to an aggregate of 2,275,282 shares of the Congpaogimon stock, see above.

Concurrently with the execution of the Lo®greement (see Note 6), the Company issued tdfidiata of DBD a seven-year warrant (the
"Warrant") to purchase an aggregate of 1,648,3ateshof the Company's common stock at an exerdise @f $1.00 per share, of which
989,011 shares are exercisable immediately onfaarasashless basis in whole or in part. Pursuatite stock purchase warrant agreement,
(i) 329,670 shares will become exercisable uporatiievement of the IP Monetization Milestones @idhe remaining 329,670 shares will
become exercisable upon the Company's receipt b? dfilestone Term Loan. The Warrant was issued fmivate placement transaction that
was exempt from registration under Section 4(2hefSecurities Act of 1933 (the "Securities AcThe Company accounted for the warrants
as a debt discount and has valued them

F-41




Table of Contents

NETLIST, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continu ed)
December 28, 2013
Note 10—Stockholders' Equity (Continued)

based on the relative fair value at approximatély $5,000, to be amortized over the term of the ohedtrument, or three years, using the
effective interest method. For the year ended Dées28, 2013, the Company amortized approximate8¥00 as interest expense in the
consolidated statements of comprehensive loss.

A summary of the warrant activity is pretsehbelow:

Weighted-

Number of Average

Shares Exercise

(in thousands) Price

Warrants outstandi—December 31, 201 — 3 —
Warrant grante: 2,27¢ 0.8¢
Warrants exercise — —
Warrants outstandi—December 29, 201 2,27 % 0.8¢
Warrant grante: 2,74¢ 1.0C
Warrants exercise — —
Warrants outstandi—December 28, 201 502: $ 0.9t

There were no warrants exercised or caedétl the year ended December 28, 2013 or DeceR$h@012.
Note 11—401(k) Plan

The Company sponsors a 401(k) defined imrtion plan. Employees are eligible to participiat¢his plan provided they are employed
full-time and have reached 21 years of age. Ppédits may make pre-tax contributions to the pldojest to a statutorily prescribed annual
limit. Each participant is fully vested in his ogrhcontributions and investment earnings. The Campaay make matching contributions on
contributions of a participant on a discretionaagils. In fiscal 2012, the Company adopted a limitedching contribution policy and made
approximately $0.07 and $0.1 million in contribuisoto participants in this plan in the year endedédnber 28, 2013 and December 29, 2012
respectively.

Note 12—Major Customers and Suppliers

The Company's product sales have histdyibalen concentrated in a small number of custondérs following table sets forth sales to
customers comprising 10% or more of the Comparstsales as follows:

Year Ended
December 28 December 29
2013 2012
Customer A 45% 60%
Customer E 15% 18%
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Sales of the Company's NVvault™ productsesented 39% and 51% of net sales in 2013 and 2012

The Company's accounts receivable are cdrated with one customer at December 28, 2012 senting approximately 73% of
aggregate gross receivables. At December 29, 2@dX;ustomers represented approximately 41% and &f48ggregate gross receivables. A
significant reduction in sales to, or the inabilitycollect receivables from, a significant custom@uld have a material adverse impact on the
Company. The Company mitigates risk with foreigeereables by purchasing comprehensive foreign tieslirance.

The Company's purchases have historicalnizoncentrated in a small number of suppliers.fdlowing table sets forth purchases fr
suppliers comprising 10% or more of the Comparotal purchases as follows:

Year Ended
December 28 December 29
2013 2012
Supplier A 12% 19%
Supplier B 13% 17%

While the Company believes alternative $ieppcould be utilized, any inability to obtainmmponents or products in the amounts needed
on a timely basis or at commercially reasonablegsricould result in delays in product introductjdnterruption in product shipments or
increases in product costs, which could have anahtverse effect on the Company.

Note 13—Segment and Geographic Information

The Company operates in one reportable sagrthe design and manufacture of high-performanemory subsystems for the server,
high-performance computing and communications ntarkéghe Company evaluates financial performance company-wide basis.

To date, a majority of the Company's indéional sales relate to shipments of productsstt)it. customers' international manufacturing
sites or third- party hubs. Net sales derived fetripments to international destinations, primaigifHong Kong (including foreign subsidiaries
of customers that are headquartered in the U&hjesented approximately 58% and 70% of the Compaey sales in 2013 and 2012,
respectively. All of the Company's net sales tedeatve been denominated in U.S. dollars.

As of December 28, 2013 and December 292 28pproximately $0.6 million and $1.5 millionspectively, of the Company's long-lived
assets, net of depreciation and amortization, Yeg@ed outside the U.S., primarily in the PRC. Sabtially all other long-lived assets were
located in the U.S.

Note 14—Subsequent Events

The Company has evaluated subsequent eteatgyh the filing date of the Annual Report onRd.0-K and determined that no
subsequent events have occurred that would recpgéognition in

F-43




Table of Contents

NETLIST, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continu ed)
December 28, 2013
Note 14—Subsequent Events (Continued)
the consolidated financial statements or disclasurehe notes thereto other than as discussdutiadcompanying notes.
Sale of Common Stock Pursuant to Securities Purchasgreement

On February 11, 2014, the Company complatexfjistered firm commitment underwritten publfiteong (the "Offering") of shares of the
Company's common stock. In the Offering, the Comgpasued and sold to Craig-Hallum Capital Group L{ti& "Underwriter") 8,680,775
shares of common stock pursuant to an underwritgrgement (the "Underwriting Agreement"), datedfdsebruary 6, 2014, by and between
the Company and the Underwriter, at a price of $152per share, including 1,132,275 shares resuitorg the Underwriter's exercise in full
its option to purchase additional shares of Com@imtk to cover over-allotments. The price per shatbe public in the offering was $1.30
per share. The net proceeds from the Offering w@ppgoximately $10.2 million, after deducting undeting discounts and commissions and
estimated offering expenses.

Exercise of Warrant

On February 3, 2014, the holder of a wdrigsued in December 2012 purchased 750,000 sbif&@mmon Stock upon exercise of the
warrant at a purchase price of $0.89 per sharaltirgg in proceeds to the Company of $667,500.

F-44




Table of Contents

NETLIST, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continu ed)

December 28, 2013

Note 15—Quarterly Summary (Unaudited, in thousand&xcept share and per share data)

Net sales
Cost of sale:
Gross profi
Operating expense
Research and developm
Selling, general and administrati
Total operating expens:
Operating los!
Other income (expense
Interest expense, n
Other (income) expense, r
Total other expense, n
Loss before provision for income tax
Provision for income taxe
Net loss

Net loss per common shal
Basic and dilute
Weighted-average common shares
outstanding
Basic and dilutes

Three Months Ended

December 28

September 28 June 29, March 30,

2013 2013 2013 2013
$ 773C $ 428¢ $ 506t $ 5,96:
5,831 3,89¢ 4,81¢ 5,397
1,89¢ 39z 247 56€
1,742 1,641 1,457 1,842
1,387 1,55¢ 1,571 1,75¢
3,12¢ 3,19t 3,02¢ 3,59¢
(1,230 (2,802  (2,78)) (3,032
(390) (324) (88) (130)
28 (8) 7 (6)
(362) (332) (81) (136)
(1,592) (3,139 (2,869 (3,16¢)
— 7 1 2
$ (1,597 $ (3,14) $ (2,869 $ (3,170
$ (0.05) $ (010 $ (0.09 $ (0.10
31,75: 31,26¢  30,32( 30,20"
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Three Months Ended
December 29 September 29 June 30, March 31,

2012 2012 2012 2012
Net sales $ 5,96: $ 6,391 $ 10,55 $ 13,967
Cost of sale: 5,12¢ 6,00: 7,81¢ 8,531
Gross profit 837 38¢ 2,73¢ 5,43¢
Operating expense

Research and developm 2,61¢ 2,61°¢ 3,77( 3,84:

Selling, general and administrati 2,09¢ 2,491 2,871 2,60¢

Total operating expens 4,71¢ 5,117 6,641 6,451

Operating los! (3,879 (4,729 (3,909 (1,015
Other income (expense

Interest expense, n (90) (98 (79 (71)

Other (income) expense, r (14€) 4 3 5

Total other income (expense), | (23€) (94) (76) (66)

Loss before provision (benefit) for income

taxes (4,115 (4,81¢) (3,979 (2,087
Provision (benefit) for income tax (17) 4 1 —
Net loss $ (4,09¢) $ (4,822 $ (3,980 $ (1,08
Net loss per common shal

Basic and dilutet $ (0.149 $ (019 $ (019 $ (0.09
Weighted-average common shares

outstanding

Basic and dilutet 28,27¢ 28,19¢ 28,11: 26,72¢

Each of the Company's quarters in fiscdl@nd 2012 is comprised of 13 weeks.

Quarterly and year-to-date computationgesfshare amounts are made independently. Theyéi@reum of per share amounts for the
guarters may not agree with the per share amoantké year.
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EXHIBIT 23
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We consent to the incorporation by refeecincRegistration Statements Nos. 333-139435, 3#3-41, 333-151644, 333-161832, 333-
161834, 333-164261, 333-165916, 333-168330, 33844,3333-179776, and 333-193862 on Form S-8 anel83290 and 333-177118 on
Form S-3 of our report dated March 18, 2014, netato the consolidated financial statements ofibtetinc. and subsidiaries, appearing in this
Annual Report on Form 10-K of Netlist, Inc. for thear ended December 28, 2013.

/s/ KMJ CORBIN & COMPANY LLP

Costa Mesa, California
March 18, 2014
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EXHIBIT 31.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO RULE 13A-14 OF THE SECURI TIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANESOXLEY ACT OF 2002

[, Chun K. Hong, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Annual Repartrarm 10K for the fiscal year ended December 28, 2013 dfidtelnc., a Delaware corporati
(the "Registrant™);

2. Based on my knowledge, this repodsdnot contain any untrue statement of a mat@galor omit to state a material fact necessary
to make the statements made, in light of the cistances under which such statements were madmisieading with respect to the period
covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the finansatements, and other financial information ineliéh this report, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the Registrant as of, andlie periods presented in this report;

4. The Registrant's other certifyin§jagr and | are responsible for establishing anthtaaing disclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&)}%(nd internal control over financial reportirag defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15
(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the Registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controlspandedures, or caused such disclosure controlp@ugdures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the Registrant, including its consolidhseibsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly duriig teriod in which this report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control owearficial reporting, or caused such internal cordxar financial reporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assareegarding the reliability of financial repodiand the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitlerally accepted accounting principles;

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of tiegiRrant's disclosure controls and proceduregpagskented in this report our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure conints procedures, as of the end of the period coveyehis report based on such
evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any changéhe Registrant's internal control over financggorting that occurred during the
Registrant's most recent quarter (the Registrémitth quarter in the case of an annual report) lha materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the Regasit's internal control over financial reporting.

5. The Registrant's other certifyinfjaer and | have disclosed, based on our most temetuation of internal control over financial
reporting, to the Registrant's auditors and thétaathmittee of the Registrant's board of direc{@rspersons performing the equivalent
functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and ni@aéweaknesses in the design or operation of matecontrol over financial reporting whi
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the Regid's ability to record, process, summarize apebrt financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not materikt involves management or other employees who aaignificant role in the
Registrant's internal control over financial repugt

March 18, 2014 /s/ CHUN K. HONG

Chun K. Hong
President, Chief Executive Officer and Chairma
the Board (Principal Executive Office
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EXHIBIT 31.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO RULE 13A-14 OF THE SECURI TIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANESOXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Gail Sasaki, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Annual Repartrarm 10K for the fiscal year ended December 28, 2013 dfidtelnc., a Delaware corporati
(the "Registrant™);

2. Based on my knowledge, this repodsdnot contain any untrue statement of a mat@galor omit to state a material fact necessary
to make the statements made, in light of the cistances under which such statements were madmisieading with respect to the period
covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the finansatements, and other financial information ineliéh this report, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the Registrant as of, andlie periods presented in this report;

4. The Registrant's other certifyin§jagr and | are responsible for establishing anthtaaing disclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&)}%(nd internal control over financial reportirag defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15
(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the Registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controlspandedures, or caused such disclosure controlp@ugdures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the Registrant, including its consolidhseibsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly duriig teriod in which this report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control owearficial reporting, or caused such internal cordxar financial reporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assareegarding the reliability of financial repodiand the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitlerally accepted accounting principles;

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of tiegiRrant's disclosure controls and proceduregpagskented in this report our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure conints procedures, as of the end of the period coveyehis report based on such
evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any changéhe Registrant's internal control over financggorting that occurred during the
Registrant's most recent quarter (the Registrémitth quarter in the case of an annual report) lha materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the Regasit's internal control over financial reporting.

5. The Registrant's other certifyinfjaer and | have disclosed, based on our most temetuation of internal control over financial
reporting, to the Registrant's auditors and thétaathmittee of the Registrant's board of direc{@rspersons performing the equivalent
functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and ni@aéweaknesses in the design or operation of matecontrol over financial reporting whi
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the Regid's ability to record, process, summarize apebrt financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not materikt involves management or other employees who aaignificant role in the
Registrant's internal control over financial repugt

March 18, 2014 I/s/ GAIL SASAKI

Gail Sasaki
Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)
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Exhibit 32

CERTIFICATIONS PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANESOXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report onfdr0-K of Netlist, Inc., a Delaware corporation éthist") for the fiscal year ended
December 28, 2013, as filed with the Securitiesxcthange Commission on March 18, 2014 (the "Ré&p&hun K. Hong, president, chief
executive officer and chairman of the board of Ngthnd Gail Sasaki, vice president and chiefrfaial officer of Netlist, each hereby certifi
pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adoptedipnt$o Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act @22@hat, to his or her knowledge:

(1) the Report fully complies with theyuegrements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the SemsiExchange Act of 1934; and

(2) the information contained in the Retpairly presents, in all material respects, timaficial condition and results of operations

of Netlist.
March 18, 2014 /s/ CHUN K. HONG
Chun K. Hong
President, Chief Executive Officer and Chairma
the Board (Principal Executive Office
March 18, 2014 /s/ GAIL SASAKI

Gail Sasaki
Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)
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